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Thursday, June 29, 2017
--- On commencing at 9:02 a.m.

MS. DUFF:  Good morning, please be seated.

My name is Allison Duff, and presiding with me -- and presiding today and with me today is Mr. Paul Pastirik, another OEB Board member.

We are sitting today to  hear an application by Thunder Bay seeking approval to change its rates for electricity distribution effective May 1st, 2017.  This is the second day of an oral hearing which commenced on April the 20th.

So subsequent to the April 20th hearing the OEB issued Procedural Order No. 5, and it approved a revised settlement proposal among the parties, which settled a number of the issues in the hearing, and we also established a schedule for filing an expert report and subsequent interrogatories on that expert report.  That report was filed on May 11th.

So the hearing is now reconvened to hear the unsettled issues, which are Thunder Bay's proposed capital expenditures on rate base, OM&A, and cost of capital. There is a formal hearing plan which Board Staff has put together for the next two days.  It's a full agenda.  We are starting every day at 9:00 and ending at 5:00.  My first notice was that there was no time allotted for Board Panel questions, so we will have to see about that.  But I will use it as a guide, and I hope to keep to it so that -- because I would hate to risk that we wouldn't be finished after two days.  The Board has no intentions of sitting after Friday.

So with that in mind I take it all parties have a copy of the plan.  May I have appearances, please.
Appearances:


MR. VELLONE:  Good morning, Madam Chair, Panel.  My name is John Vellone, and with me is my associate, Jessica-Ann Buchta, on for the applicant, Thunder Bay Hydro.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Mr. Vellone.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Jay Shepherd, counsel for School Energy Coalition.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.

MS. LAU:  Good morning.  Alysia Lau, counsel for the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition, or VECC.

MS. DUFF:  Welcome, Ms. Lau.

MS. GRICE:  Good morning.  Shelly Grice, consultant for the Association of Major Power Consumers in Ontario.

MS. DUFF:  Good morning, Ms. Grice.

MS. LEA:  Good morning.  Jennifer Lea for OEB Staff, and with me is Martin Davies.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.  Are there any preliminary matters to deal with today, Mr. Vellone?

MR. VELLONE:  The applicant has none.

MS. DUFF:  Anybody else?  Thank you very much.  Perhaps, Mr. Vellone, you can introduce your witnesses.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Thunder Bay Hydro is putting forth a single witness panel to speak to all unsettled issues.  Perhaps before they introduce themselves could I ask that they be affirmed?
THUNDER BAY HYDRO ELECTRICITY DISTRIBUTION INC. - PANEL 1

Yury Tsimberg,
Karla Bailey,
Robert Mace,
Cindy Speziale,
Tim Wilson; Affirmed.
Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Vellone:


MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.  I'd ask each of the witnesses just to please state and spell your name for the record.

MR. TSIMBERG:  My name is Yury Tsimberg.  The first name is spelled Y-U-R-Y and my last name is spelled T-S-I-M-B-E-R-G.

MS. BAILEY:  Karla Bailey.  That's spelled K-A-R-L-A B-A-I-L-E-Y.

MR. MACE:  Robert Mace, R-O-B-E-R-T M-A-C-E.

MS. SPEZIALE:  Cindy Speziale, C-I-N-D-Y S-P-E-Z-I-A-L-E.

MR. WILSON:  Tim Wilson, T-I-M W-I-L-S-O-N.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you, Mr. Wilson.  CVs have been distributed in advance of the hearing and are on the record in this proceeding.

MS. DUFF:  Yes, we have those.

MR. VELLONE:  Mr. Mace, perhaps starting with you, could you please introduce yourself to the Panel.

MR. MACE:  Sure.  My name is Robert Mace.  I said before I am president -- sorry.  My name is Robert Mace.  I'm president and CEO of Thunder Bay Hydro Electricity Distribution Incorporated.  I have been in that position since 2003, so roughly 14 years.  Been with the utility just over 26 years.  Previously I occupied positions of customer-service supervisor and vice-president of customer and information services.

In terms of formal education, I have a business degree in accounting from Lakehead University with additional specialization in management information systems.

In addition to my role with Thunder Bay Hydro, I sit on the Board of the Electric Safety Authority.  I am director and past chair of the MEARIE group -- or, sorry, of the EDA, Electricity Distributors Association.  I am a director and current chair of the MEARIE group.  I sit on the OEB's chair advisory panel.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you, Mr. Mace.  And what was your responsibility for the application?

MR. MACE:  As president and CEO I am ultimately responsible for the entire application.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.  Mr. Wilson, would you like to go next.

MR. WILSON:  Yes, my name is Tim Wilson.  I am the vice-president of...  My name is Tim Wilson.  I'm the vice-president of customer and information services at Thunder Bay Hydro.  I have held the position for approximately four years.  Prior to that I was the vice-president of customer service and conservation for approximately seven years.

In terms of education, I have an executive MBA in energy from Athabasca University, an Honours Bachelor of Commerce degree from Lakehead University, and a certificate in biblical studies from Emmaus Bible College.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you, Mr. Wilson.  And what was your responsibility for the application?

MR. WILSON:  I oversaw the preparation of the customer engagement portion of the application, along with sections pertaining to customer billing, the load forecast, conservation portion of the load forecast and sections related to efficiencies.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you, Mr. Wilson.  Ms. Speziale, would you like to go next.

MS. SPEZIALE:  My name is Cindy Speziale, and I am vice-president, finance at Thunder Bay Hydro.  I have been in that position for ten years.  Prior to my promotion to the VP I was controller for nine years.  I worked for 17 years in public accounting with Grant Thornton prior to moving to Thunder Bay Hydro.

As far as education, I have a Bachelor of Administration and Accounting from Lakehead University, and professional accreditations, I have the Chartered Professional Accountant, CA designation.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.  And what was your responsibility for the application?

MS. SPEZIALE:  I was responsible for the preparation and the overall -- responsible to the president and CEO for the entire application.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.  Ms. Bailey, can you go next.

MS. BAILEY:  Certainly.  My name is Karla Bailey.  I am the asset management and engineering manager for Thunder Bay Hydro.  I have been in this position for four years.  Prior to that I was the project manager with Thunder Bay Hydro for three years, and previous to that I worked in consulting engineering in Thunder Bay and Collingwood.

In terms of education I have an electrical engineering degree from Lakehead University, as well as a Master's of business administration from Lakehead University.

In terms of professional accreditations I am a registered and licensed professional engineer in the province of Ontario.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.  And what was your responsibility for the application?

MS. BAILEY:  I oversaw the gathering of information and research efforts related to the distribution system plan in addition to incorporating those efforts and overseeing the asset condition assessment by Kinectrics.  I ensured that all of these aspects were incorporated into a distribution system plan that would meet the system needs of Thunder Bay Hydro.

Ultimately I was responsible for ensuring that the distribution system plan met chapter 5 filing requirements as set out by the Ontario Energy Board.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.  Now, Ms. Bailey, Mr. Mace, Ms. Speziale, Mr. Wilson, was the entire application, including all interrogatory responses, prepared by you or under your supervision?

MR. WILSON:  Yes, they were.

MS. BAILEY:  Yes, they were.

MR. VELLONE:  And you adopt this evidence as your own in this proceeding?

MR. WILSON:  We do.

MR. MACE:  Yes.

MS. BAILEY:  Yes.

MR. VELLONE:  The applicant did file three corrections to the evidence a week in advance of the oral hearing.  Those were to 4-AMPCO-23, 2-VECC-13, as well as two corrections to Chapter 2 appendices.  The corrections were noted in boxes right on the side, so we are not going to go through them this morning, but if anyone has any questions about them the witnesses are available to speak to them.  Are there any other corrections you would like to make to the evidence at this time?

MS. BAILEY:  Yes, there are.  So I'd like to refer everyone to the capital project summaries, as included with our distribution system plan.  There are six voltage conversion projects that Thunder Bay Hydro submitted as part of our test year, 2017.  And in this capital project summaries, the first two refer to the removal of Grenville substation in the summaries.  That is accurate in Dewe-Rita and Black Bay-Dewe.

However, if you turn to Cumming-Brodie voltage conversion in the project summary, it refers to the removal of Hardisty substation.  But unfortunately, there was a copy and paste error that occurred in the project alternative section, subsection C, defer replacement until a later date.  It refers, instead of to the correct substation which is Hardisty to Grenville, and that copy and paste error occurred in four of the projects.

So I can go through each of those, if you'd like.

MS. DUFF:  The only question I have -- so was a correction to the distribution supply plan.  But you also listed the projects in the evidence, in Exhibit 2 in the rate base, so are those correct, then?

MS. BAILEY:  Yes, the projects are correct.  It's just inside the project summary where it lists project alternatives, the substation that would be removed is incorrectly named.  So it is removing a substation, but instead of Grenville, it's Hardisty or Mountdale.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you for clarifying that.

MS. BAILEY:  Thank you.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.  In advance of the oral hearing, Mr. Yury Tsimberg of Kinectrics prepared a report and was filled with the Board, and there was subsequently interrogatories done on that.  Mr. Tsimberg, can I ask you to introduce yourself to the Panel?

MR. TSIMBERG:  Certainly.  My name is Yury Tsimberg, and I am presently director of asset management with a consulting firm in Toronto, Kinectrics Inc.  Prior to joining Kinectrics, where I have been working for about nine years, I spent 30 years with Ontario Hydro and their successor company, Hydro One, in various capacities involving all aspects of transmission distribution Business, including line maintenance, mergers and acquisitions, regulatory defers and asset management. And right now I am leading a line of business in Kinectrics that has to do with asset management.

In terms of my education, I have a Bachelor and a Master's degree in electrical engineering from the University of Toronto, and I am a registered professional engineer in the Province of Ontario.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you, Mr. Tsimberg.  Could you please explain your role in respect of this application?

MR. TSIMBERG:  Kinectrics was retained by Thunder Bay Hydro to perform an asset condition assessment, which was completed in 2016.  And subsequent to that, I was hired by Thunder Bay Hydro to review the distribution system plan, with particular focus on to what extent and how results from the asset condition assessment were reflected in this system renewal component of their capital needs.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.  And are there any corrections you'd like to make to your evidence at this time?

MR. TSIMBERG:  No, I think a summary of my opinion is basically in the report that was submitted on June 11th.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you, Mr. Tsimberg.  Have you reviewed rule 13(a) of the OEB's Rules of Practice and Procedure as they relate to expert evidence?

MR. TSIMBERG:  Yes, I have.

MR. VELLONE:  And you understand that this rule requires that you assist the Board by impartially giving evidence that is both fair and objective?

MR. TSIMBERG:  Yes, I do.

MR. VELLONE:  And you have signed a copy of the OEB's form A, acknowledgement of expert's duty; is that correct?

MR. TSIMBERG:  That is correct.

MR. VELLONE:  And it's included in an appendix to your Report?

MR. TSIMBERG:  Yes, it is.

MR. VELLONE:  Panel, I would like to qualify Mr. Tsimberg as an expert in asset management.  I am wondering if there are objections.

MS. DUFF:  And as it relates to Thunder Bay's distribution supply plan?

MR. VELLONE:  I would seek to qualify Mr. Tsimberg as an expert in asset management and distribution system planning in general.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.  Are there any intervenors that have any questions or submissions regarding that qualification?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, when my friend said asset management, I thought okay, that's fine, because we asked a question about the extent of the opinion as it relates to whether the distribution system plan is a qualifying plan under the Board's rules.  And we were told that Mr. Tsimberg is not being led as an expert in that area.

So I wonder if Mr. Vellone could clarify whether it's intended that his opinion on whether it's a qualifying and meets all the Board's requirements is intended to be part of the expertise, because that's not what the interrogatory response said.

MR. VELLONE:  That is certainly not what the applicant is seeking to do.  We did respond to an interrogatory from School Energy Coalition, that sought to the clarify the nature of the expertise that Mr. Tsimberg would speak to.  He is not a regulatory expert; he is not going to be opining on chapter 5 filing requirements, OEB filing requirements.  That is not in the scope of his expertise and we are not seeking to qualify him for that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  Madam Chair, on that basis, we have no objection to him being lead as an expert witness.

MS. DUFF:  Ms. Lau?

MS. LAU:  We have no objections.

MS. DUFF:  Ms. Grice?

MS. GRICE:  We have no objections.

MS. DUFF:  Ms. Lea?

MS. LEA:  No objection, thank you.

MS. DUFF:  So just to restate, you would like him to be qualified as an expert in asset management, but the title of his expert report is the assessment of the system renewal capital projects of Thunder Bay.

MR. VELLONE:  That's correct.

MS. DUFF:  Okay, thank you.  On that basis, the Board is prepared to accept Mr. Tsimberg as an expert in asset management and --


MR. VELLONE:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  The witnesses have prepared brief opening statements.

Mr. Wilson, why don't you get started?
Opening Statement by Mr. Wilson:


MR. WILSON:  Thank you, Mr. Vellone, Madam Chair, Board Panel.

I would like to begin by saying that Thunder Bay Hydro has a long-standing history of listening to its customers, seeking feedback from them and incorporating that feedback. Before we started the process on drafting this application, we would typically determine customer needs and preferences almost exclusively through periodic surveys.

But for this application, in addition to those surveys that we have conducted in the past, we did additional customer engagement.  This took place over a series of three engagements.  In the first, we consulted with targeted residential small business, some large commercial and industrial customers through one-on-one interactive phone interviews.  There was a key take away from those interviews, and that was that reliability was a concern for consumers.

Thunder Bay Hydro listened and specifically implemented a program to address comments from this engagement activity.  Specifically, the grid modernization plan in appendix D of the distribution system plan was developed with regard to positively impacting the reliability and general performance of the grid in targeted areas in the city.

Thunder Bay Hydro then took what it learned from this first engagement and developed an online survey for its residential customers, and this was the second engagement that we did.  Residential customers responded that the overall distribution system plan investments were appropriate.  However, they did have two areas of priority for us, and those were reliability and cost.

I just briefly spoke about reliability.  But on cost, I want to highlight a few things for the Panel.  We do have a long-standing commitment to efficiencies and cost improvements at the utility.  Cost control at our utility comes from the top.  Our CEO, Mr. Mace, and our CFO, Ms. Speziale, have made it abundantly clear for at least the last ten years that all decisions made with respect to the utility operations really need to consider the customer in the sense of how can we do things better, how can we do things for less cost, can we defer certain items in the present or in the future and in doing so, you know, avoid some cost impact for our customers.

Exhibit 1 of the application talks about our strategy, and I would point the Panel to the sections that speak about effective work execution and resource efficiency.  Thunder Bay Hydro's board of directors is committed to this, and we have and continue to follow through on these items for our customers.

So I think it's incumbent on me to share with the Panel some of our efficiencies that we have quantified within this application in both the exhibits and our interrogatory responses.  I would direct the Panel to where we discuss collective bargaining settlements below our cohort average from 2013 to 2017, also reduced wage schedules for new non-trades and technical positions, the elimination of post-retirement employer-paid life insurance and eligible employee sick-leave payouts, this all done without resorting to other non-wage improvements that we see in the industry.

Labour costs are the single biggest component of OM&A costs for us.  And over the past several collective bargaining cycles we have achieved very favourable agreements.  To put us in context, it has resulted in a test-year OM&A budget that is approximately $570,000 less than it would have been had management settled for industry average wage increases.

We also quantify about $200,000 in permanent labour savings reductions as a result of switching to smart meters.  We also discuss bill print cost savings, phone system replacements, those totalling about $180,000.  And we additionally talk about process design improvements for standardized plans, better use of the GIS system to avoid field-to-office or office-to-field visits, more use of the SCADA system within system control for gathering information about outages.  These efficiencies add up to about 70,000 in themselves.

We also quantify efficiencies regarding station conversions, inventory reductions, voltage conversions, and distribution automation at approximately another $60,000.  And we further detail the implementation of website enhancements for customers at efficiency gains of about 55- to $60,000 as well.

Our conservative estimates of the items in this sample list of efficiencies and cost savings for our customers reaches about $1.2 million.

Beyond these quantifications Thunder Bay Hydro's application speaks to many other examples.  We see that costs have dropped for pole installations from 11.5-thousand dollars in 2013 to approximately 10,000 in 2015.  This translates to significant efficiency gains for our customers.

We discuss how using automated metering system has led to other efficiencies and benefits.  Engineering uses the data to study system and transformer voltages.  System control uses the system to check power and voltages remotely, eliminating the need for potentially as much as 1,000 truck rolls a year in 2016 alone.

We also make mention of website improvements for self-service opportunities for customers, which has decreased counter activity and allowing for account sign-ups and cancellations.

Additionally, we make mention of transformer life extension programs, crew size reductions for more work flexibility for us with our workforce, and pole sets via cranes for back lane access.

In addition over the past 15 years Thunder Bay Hydro has shared and provided administrative and back-office resources to other northwestern Ontario utilities, and this helps us achieve economies of scale, efficiencies related to customer billing, smart metering, conservation programming, and other activities.

So Thunder Bay Hydro does consider its customers' concern about costs, and we are very serious about service delivery with that in mind.  In fact, Thunder Bay Hydro went out for a third customer engagement, and this engagement was focused on cost, and it was here that we presented the bill impacts of this application to our customers.  We had approximately 1,100 residential customers respond to this survey.

And what we found was that, although customers do not want rate increases, they do realize the necessity of increasing costs in order to properly operate, maintain, build a robust distribution system within the city.

So it was at this stage that we concluded that the application represented, we believe, a good balance for customers.  We are confident that we have met the RRFE requirements on our Chapter 2 filing requirements and our DSP Chapter 5 filing requirements on the customer engagement portion.

And yet Thunder Bay Hydro's moving beyond these minimum requirements, if I can call it that, and is expanding engagement with our customers into an ongoing dialogue.  In Exhibit 1 we speak to the implementation of a local advisory committee.  This committee will be able to learn about and weigh in on current and future utility plans on a regular basis.

So our customers' preferences are important, and I trust that the Panel recognizes that Thunder Bay Hydro's efforts to include these preferences and our customers' preferences is contained within this application.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you, Mr. Wilson.  Mr. Mace.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I am sorry, can I interrupt for just a second?  Normally direct evidence is limited, and particularly where we have a very tight time frame for today and tomorrow, I am not sure whether a lengthy sales pitch at the beginning is helpful to anybody.

These -- nothing that's being said is not already in the application, but I thought today and tomorrow were to test the evidence, not to have a sales pitch.

MS. DUFF:  No, I found the summary helpful.  Mr. Vellone --


MR. VELLONE:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Mr. Mace.
Opening Statement by Mr. Mace:


MR. MACE:  Thank you, Mr. Vellone.  Thank you, Panel.

As Mr. Wilson said, we do engage with our customers on a regular basis.  We know our customers well, I believe.  We are a small town.  We both formally engage and people know who I -- our customers don't hesitate to engage with me -- I'm sorry, our customers don't hesitate to engage with me directly, and we do understand that they have little appetite for rate increases.  However, we know that it's our responsibility to balance service with customer cost, and we think this application is a good example of that.

I would like to touch on something that makes us rather unique, and that's the rate minimization philosophy that our shareholder has established.  When we were incorporated in 2000 as part of the shareholder declaration our shareholder effectively declined and continues to decline to take dividends out of the corporation or to take debt service on the note that they hold.  So no interest payments, no principal payments.

So our shareholder has forgone those increases with the intent of keeping rates relatively lower for economic development, and the effect has been just on the debt service alone literally tens of millions of dollars remaining in the pockets of our customers rather than flowing through the corporation and paying for debt service on the city note payable.

In that way our shareholders' interests are very much aligned with our customers' interest.  They are looking for low rates; customers are looking for low rates.

We are in Thunder Bay in an area of what I would call flat growth for decades, and as such cost control is ingrained in our culture.  We do not have the luxury of a fairly good level of growth to achieve economies of scale, but nonetheless we have experienced significant cost pressures since 2013, and our application is going to discuss those.

We are requesting $15,729,872 in OM&A expenses, which is a 9.9 percent increase over the 2013 approved.  It equates to about a 2.41 percent annual compound rate which, given the cost pressures and the new costs that we are looking at, we believe is prudent.

The Panel will be familiar with a number of these cost pressures.  However, we do have some costs that I would like to draw the Panel's attention to.

The bridge year includes a group of one-time non-recurring costs totalling around $258,000, which include legal costs related to land transfer, 50,000; 168,000 for badly needed renovations to our operations centre; 40,000 is part of training for a SCADA upgrade that we undertook in 2016.

But I would point out that these do not form a part of the expense base going forward.  They were 2016 one-time costs.

MS. DUFF:  That number is 268?  258,000?

MR. MACE:  258,000.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.

MR. MACE:  In contrast, there are also in 2016 $441,000 in what I would call new unavoidable costs, which are primarily but not exclusively regulatory and policy initiative-related, so we have $168,000 for cost of service and customer engagement activities; $65,000 for the start of our monthly billing process that started in the bridge year; $60,000 for the start of smart meter sampling, which is a relatively new cost since smart meters were installed; $116,000 for fire retardant clothing for our staff that does not occur every year so was not in the previous year compared to bridge year; $20,000 for ESA public safety survey; and $20,000 for collective bargaining.

Most of these unavoidable costs especially the regulatory, the monthly billing and those type, flow forward to the test year and are joined by $118,000 in increased OEB fee assessments, totalling fully $501,000 in the test year of new and unavoidable cost that our application represents.

Now, we undertake significant business planning and risk review throughout the year and this happens at the board, the executive team and the management level, and it informs our strategic plan and identifies risks that we believe have the -- might impact our customers and our company.  And in addition to the previous costs that I have mentioned, I'd like to identify four specific risks related to OM&A that our application addresses.

First is succession planning and we have been very successful in the pasted a addressing succession planning issues, and we have a very specific succession planning risks now.  We are going to see the requirement of two of our seven system controlled journeyman operators in or control system department during the next two years and, as the Panel is likely aware, it is very difficult to hire qualified system control operators, perhaps even more so given our location in Thunder Bay.

As such, we have staffed over complement by one apprentice and our OM&A application reflects that $80,000 for that apprentice cost.  It will be three to four years before that apprentice is able to undertake their responsibilities as an operator.  So we will be over complement for that period of time.

As well, I'd like to address the workload in our finance department.  The regulatory and accounting workload has increased substantially since our last cost of service application.  And to put kind of a human face on it, the workload in our finance department had been, frankly, unsustainable.  I had staff, management staff working very long hours beyond reasonable expectations -- weekends, evenings -- to meet the requirements.

Over the past years since 2013, we have experienced fully 114 percent turn over in our management staff, and we have gone through period where is we are short-staffed because of our inability the attract and retain because of the workload in that department.  We believe we are at significant risk of losing existing qualified staff, and if we do that, we will be, frankly, unable to meet reporting and accounting requirements.

So we have hired a new corporate financial analyst.  The cost is $106,000 a year, and that's reflected in the test year OM&A budget and, in my opinion, is absolutely critical to reducing our risk in that department.

MS. DUFF:  Sorry, what was the 114 percent turnover?

MR. MACE:  Since 2013, if you take all of our management positions in that department and calculate the turnover, so we have fully turned over 114 percent of the staff.

MS. DUFF:  It was the time period I was missing.

MR. MACE:  Sure.  I would like to the talk about two reliability related programs we are proposing.  First is a porcelain insulator change-out program.

So starting into the '70s and into the '80s, utilities in Ontario installed a certain style of porcelain stand-up insulator which were later known to have manufacturing defects.  They fail with significant impacts on reliability in general, and sometimes specific customers.  And while we do change them out as part of our regular system renewal and we do change them out on emergency basis, we recognize that it's much more efficient to change them out as part of a targeted program.

We have a $100,000 program proposed in our application, which we'll spend five years to change out these insulators that are not going to be changed out through part of our capital construction programs in the near future.

MS. DUFF:  And how does this relate to your asset condition assessment, these porcelain insulators?

MR. MACE:  To be clear, this is part of OM&A, not capital.

MS. DUFF:  Sorry, I misunderstood.  Fine, thank you.

MR. MACE:  We are also proposing an increase in $150,000 annually to our tree-trimming budget.

To characterize Thunder Bay's service territory, we have an urban area surrounded by a very large rural area which is very densely forested and very low-density in terms of number of customers.

We know that fully 25 percent of our outages are tree related.  We have a significant urban and rural forest, and while we are working towards a seven-year cycle of tree trimming and vegetation management, our existing activity is frankly insufficient.  We are proposing this increase in order to maintain and improve our reliability for customers going forward.

On the OM&A side, other than what I have just discussed, we have no substantive changes to the way we operate over in OM&A over the next five years.  We will continue to strive to be efficient, deal with cost pressures as they arise, and meet our customer expectations.

MS. DUFF:  I didn't see the 25 percent in tree-                   related outages.  Maybe we can get to that when we get to the outage section.  But I saw 25 percent for unknown and other, so -- but, I mean, I'm just alerting to that. I am sure we will get to the -- we have a wheel with ten --


MR. MACE:  We have a number of wheels, yes.

MS. DUFF:  -- OEB-defined outages, so I don't want to stop your examination-in-chief, but that just stuck out in my mind.  I don't remember seeing 25 percent for tree-related.

MR. MACE:  We can get to it later.

MS. DUFF:  Yes, it was on page 44 of the DSP.

MR. MACE:  We will make sure we make note of it. If I might turn to capital, so we have filed a distribution system plan, and I would like to briefly touch on the four major components of that plan, the first being system service.

We have filed a grid modernization plan and it is a relatively, in my opinion, modest grid modernization plan. We are looking for $230,000 in the test year, and this is aimed primarily at installing smart reclosers on the system.  And as Mr. Wilson indicated earlier, we specifically modified this plan.  Listening to customer feedback, we recognize that larger industrial and commercial customers are more sensitive to reliability as opposed to small business and residential customers.  So we are proposing to target, or we are targeting this program to impact these larger commercial industrial customers.

In terms of the system access component of capital, the budget for the test year is $2.662 million, which is very comparable to previous years.  As I have indicated, we have relatively flat growth in Thunder Bay in terms of customer numbers; we grow at something like two-tenths of a percent of a year on average.  We do, however, have a fairly constant turn over of housing and commercial stock and we also have fairly constant demands for infrastructure relocation.

So we believe that's a conservative number, based on what developers have told us they are planning.  We always dial that down, and it's very consistent with previous years.

In terms of our general plant, our budget is $1,253,170, which is lower than 2016.  It's lower because it reflects that we undertook a badly needed SCADA and system control upgrade in 2016 and that's been completed.  It also reflects that the 2016 budget contains some office leasehold improvements that do not flow forward to 2017, so we have a lower number.

This general plant consists primarily of fleet replacements, IT equipment and software, and then the required small tools and miscellaneous items that we require to run our utility.

I'd like to then talk most importantly about our system renewal budget. So our system renewal component of the capital plan is $8,380,000, which is a $1.2 million increase over 2016.

So if I could take the Panel back to 2008, at that point in the utility, we had been historically under-investing in capital.  To put it, you know, in summary, our infrastructure was getting older and it was getting in -- the condition was worsening every year.  We were simply not putting enough assets back into the ground.

At that point, our board committed to increasing our annual investment in capital and with the shareholder's support, we have been incrementally increasing that amount, the amount we invest in capital, with the goal of achieving a responsible investment level.

We are aware -- I am aware that the rate impact -- there is a rate impact associated with this.  But it is our responsibility to balance system health with customer costs, and I take that responsibility very seriously.

As part of the application, we retained Kinectrics to undertake a -- to review our system assessment and to make recommendations for an appropriate level of system renewal. Mr. Tsimberg is here today, as we know, and he can speak to the methodology and his recommendations in that regard.

I can tell you that we did learn from the Kinectrics report.  What we learned is that in spite of our increased investment over the years we still have a backlog of high-priority replacements flagged for action items.

We also learned that we should alter our investment mix.  We should invest in relatively less of our older 4 kV infrastructure and relatively more of our older 25 kV infrastructure.  So we have changed our plan.  Our distribution system plan has been changed to reflect the input from Kinectrics.

Even with the proposed increase, we are still below the activity level being proposed by Kinectrics.  So why are we not aligned?  Well, I am aware that higher spending equals higher customer bills, and I don't want to spend any more than necessary.  I don't want bills to rise any more than necessary.  But I recognize we need to make investments, so we are taking a conservative approach to this.

For example, Kinectrics, in the test year, is recommending seven kilometres of cable replacement, which is very expensive, at about $200,000 a kilometre.  I want to increase the confidence that we need to make this investment and that there aren't other ways to approach this problem.

We are proposing only 2.4 kilometres this year, which reduces the investment just in underground cable by a million dollars, which is passed on to customers through lower rates.

So what we are doing overall, if you looked at the Kinectrics flagged for action items throughout the cost-of-service period, we are flattening out those items and we are overall reducing the flagged for action items that we have in our distribution system plan.

The total reduction, so our estimate of our capital expenditure compared to what it would be if we expended at the Kinectrics flagged for action level, is about $3 million a year.

So I recognize that 1.2 million is still a significant increase.  We propose, however, that it's a good compromise between prudent investment and customer cost.

Over the upcoming years we are committed to continuing to refine our condition assessment and our distribution system plan and continuing to improve our efficiency with which we undertake capital investments.  Thank you.

MR. VELLONE:  Mr. Tsimberg, before we move to you, perhaps we should deal with the Panel's question on -- we do have the information in front that I think the Panel was looking at regarding tree contacts outage information.  Did you want to ask the question and get your clarification?

MS. DUFF:  If the panel can answer it now, please.

MS. BAILEY:  Sure.  So that chart there is outage causes by duration, and it's an average of 2012 through to 2015.  So if I could refer the Panel to, in our interrogatories to AMPCO 6, it shows each year, 2012, '13, '14, '15, and '16, and it does show how the tree contacts increase from 2 percent to 17, 48, 48, and then in '16 we were at 35 percent outages caused by tree contacts, so that's Mr. Mace's reference.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you for answering that, great.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

Mr. Tsimberg, would you like to provide some remarks on your evidence?
Opening Statement by Mr. Tsimberg:


MR. TSIMBERG:  Yes, I would, please.  I would like to spend a little bit on Kinectrics' perspective related to asset management.  To us it's not just a theoretical kind of approach.  We actually performed similar tasks as we did for Thunder Bay Hydro for many local distribution companies in Ontario and indeed in the United States as well.  So it gives us a pretty wide perspective, so it's not really just focused on Thunder Bay.  We have kind of an industry-wide perspective of what's involved in performing asset condition assessment, what are the issues, and how it's used, not necessarily only in rate applications, but also in improving business practices within utilities themselves.

Secondly, I am Canadian representative on CIGRE Committee SC1, which is associations of all the large utilities from across the world and then actual asset...  From across the world, so in addition to North American perspective actually gives me perspective of what happens in other jurisdiction across the world, in South America, in Europe, in Australia, in the Middle East, in Asia, and so I am kind of familiar with asset management approach, state of the art, if you will.

And actually, one thing I want to say, I am very pleased.  I am a ratepayer.  I live in Ontario.  I live in Thornhill.  I am very pleased with the rigour with which OEB actually examines rate applications, because I see across other jurisdictions it's not as rigorous as it is in Ontario, so I am really happy to participate in these proceedings and help OEB in determining what the right amount is.

I also want to say that it's very important to me as a consultant to be viewed as an independent third party, so opinions I state are not biased and are based on my experience working with other utilities.

Now, the reason I am big fan of asset condition assessment and asset management in general, it gives to the extent possible objective assessment of state of assets, and it's replicatable and you can go back to it, and presumably next time Thunder Bay will appear in front of OEB you will have some reference point to go back and say, well, this is what was done three, four, five years ago, and this is where we are at today.

Thank you very much.  I look forward to participating.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  The witnesses are available for questioning.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you very much, Mr. Vellone.

Ms. Lea, you are first on the hearing plan in terms of cross-examination.

MS. LEA:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I wonder if I can begin by asking the Board to accept as an exhibit the OEB Staff compendium which is on the dais.  The only thing that is in this staff compendium that is not directly pulled from the evidence is page 3.  This was a simple chart that we created and was provided to the applicant's counsel yesterday.

I understand the applicant and its counsel have no objections to this being filed as part of this compendium; is that so?

MR. VELLONE:  That's correct, no objection.

MS. LEA:  So I would like to assign an exhibit number to this.  Now, I had forgotten, of course, that this was the second day of the hearing, so please scratch out the 1 after the K at the top and we will make this exhibit K2.1, please.

MS. DUFF:  Good catch.

MS. LEA:  Well, it would have been better had I not printed that.
EXHIBIT NO. K2.1:  CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM OF OEB STAFF.

Cross-Examination by Ms. Lea:

MS. LEA:  Thank you very much to the witness panel for your assistance in this -- in understanding your capital plan.

I wonder if we could begin by going to the DSP.  It's also reproduced as page 1 of the compendium, but it's taken from the DSP Exhibit 2, Appendix B, page 143.  And can I ask the person who is working the machine, do you prefer to see the DSP page or the PDF page?  PDF page 155 in the DSP exhibits, also C1 or page 1 of the compendium, so however you like to look at it.

This is Table 545-5, material capital projects and programs.  Just to clarify, these are your 2017 numbers; is that right?  These are 2017 projects?


MS. BAILEY:  That's right, the test year, 2017.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Can you describe how you set the priorities in this chart, please.

MS. BAILEY:  Certainly.  So I'd refer the Board Panel to, in the distribution system plan, page 113, section 5.4.2.3, project prioritization tools and methods.  So through that section it describes the prioritization that we used in order to come up with a ranking.  Now, I can go into detail, or what would you --


MS. LEA:  Well, perhaps -- we have read the evidence, and I appreciate your reference to it.  One of the things just that I first -- when I first looked at this chart, why are there no P1s?  Are there no P1s in the -- no first level priorities for you?

MS. BAILEY:  So if you look at our listing here, so there are some that are P1s.  Now, the line safety reports, which is considered a P2, has a varying amount of urgency based on the concern that is submitted.  So there may be a safety report that is considered a P1, which is an emergency and needs to be dealt with immediately, but it can also be a safety report that is submitted that can be dealt with later on that week.

So our determination was that we would average that out and give it a priority level P2, but based on specifically the concern that was submitted, we would prioritize it based on how it was submitted.

MS. LEA:  And how do you move from the column labelled "priority level" to the column labelled "overall priority"?  I see that the line safety reports is number 1 there.  Can you describe that particular assignment of levels?

MS. BAILEY:  Yes.  So what we did when we were developing this, we developed it for our distribution system plan.  And so we determined the projects priority level as a bucket first, so line safety reports, small pole replacements.  Those would have projects or poles -- and as well transformer switch replacements, that needed to be near-term replacements; so either immediately if something had failed or if a concern had come in that were at risk.

So those were all placed within the first P2 bucket and then within that bucket, they were given a ranking into the overall priority. We then moved on to the P3, all the projects that were either mandated by utility customer connections which are mandated industry-wide, and placed those all in a P3.  So you can see in the DSP where it lists P3 as a high priority, worker projects that are non-discretionary in nature and are essential to meet project deadlines or legislative regulatory compliance.  So they are completed in order of receipt or paced to meet compliance deadlines.

So within that bucket, again within the P3 bucket, we then gave each one a priority and that was behind any of the ones that were a P2.

So I can move on to P4 and P5, but I think you get an understanding of what we were doing there.

MS. LEA:  Yes, thank you for that illustration. If you could not complete all your planned projects in a year, would the lower priority ones be cut first?  Or is that not how this chart works?

MS. BAILEY:  Well, I would not recommend cutting any projects.

MS. LEA:  Of course, I understand that.  But if that is what happened --


MS. BAILEY:  If that is what would happen, we would go from the overall priority, the final column there.  So from 21, which is our grid modernization, from the bottom up.

MS. LEA:  Okay, thank you.  I wonder if we could look a little bit at the history and forecast spending levels, and for that I'd ask you to look at the third page of our compendium, which was taken largely from the DSP, page 121, and also 2-VECC-8 as it was filed on March 19th, and we added a simple graph to it.

To begin with, just to clarify, for the 2016 numbers that appear here which were taken from 2-VECC-8, those were still forecasts at the time that that interrogatory was filed; is that correct?  They were updated forecasts as of January 2017?

MS. SPEZIALE:  That is correct.

MS. LEA:  Do you have the actual numbers yet for your bridge year in these categories?

MS. SPEZIALE:  We do have the actual numbers.  I didn't bring the actual numbers, but the variance is 212,000 less.

MS. LEA:  And is that on total capital expenditure?

MS. SPEZIALE:  Actual capital expenditure, yes.

MS. LEA:  I wonder if you could provide, by way of undertaking, the actual numbers for each of these categories, please.

MR. VELLONE:  How much work -- is there a lot of work involved in doing that?

MS. LEA:  Yeah, it's a very small variance, so if it is a lot of work, then --


MS. SPEZIALE:  We could provide it.

MS. LEA:  Tell you what; we will mark it as an undertaking.  If it turns out that it's onerous, let us know.

MS. SPEZIALE:  Okay.

MS. LEA:  J2.1,  please.  And the undertaking is to provide actual figures for the 2016 bridge year in the categories listed at page 3 of the compendium.

But thank you for telling us now -- I am sorry, I wrote down -- it's 212,000 and how much less?

MS. SPEZIALE:  212,000 less.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.1:  TO PROVIDE ACTUAL FIGURES FOR THE 2016 BRIDGE YEAR IN THE CATEGORIES LISTED AT PAGE 3 OF THE OEB STAFF COMPENDIUM (EXHIBIT K2.1).

MS. LEA:  Okay, thank you.  So I wonder if you could indicate -- so that's a pretty small variance.  Is there any particular factor that is driving that variance between your predicted bridge year and your actual bridge year amounts?  Or is it general overall categories?

MS. SPEZIALE:  Could you repeat the question, please?

MS. LEA:  Yes.  I am trying to understand which of the four categories listed in this chart create this is under spend of 212,000.  It may be spread across all categories, or it may be contained within one.  Are you able to indicate that?

MS. SPEZIALE:  I am not at this time, no.

MS. LEA:  All right, thank you, we will wait for the numbers. And looking forward for '17, '18, '19, '20, '21, are there any significant changes in your spending plan since these forecasts were originally filed?

MS. BAILEY:  There is not.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.  So let's look at a couple of the categories, please.  System service projects; what are system service projects?

MS. BAILEY:  For Thunder Bay Hydro, system service projects is the submitted grid modernization plan.   So it's the installation of smart reclosers and automated switching to target areas of large users and small commercial customers.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  So the numbers we see in that category going through the five-year period are all for grid modernization, including the smart reclosers?

MS. BAILEY:  Yes.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Now, in system renewal, there appears to have been an increase in 2015 over 2014.  Can you explain to me briefly what drove this increase?

MS. BAILEY:  Yes.  So to be clear, you are asking about the increase in system renewal from 2015 actuals to 2014 actuals?

MS. LEA:  2014 actual to 2015 actual.  It's a bump on the graph, so I am interested in any increases at that rate.

MS. BAILEY:  Yes.  As per our explanation on page 126 in our distribution system plan, where we discuss any variances, large variances in our plans.  We experienced an increase in system renewal, one of the main drivers was poles identified for replacement as part of our small pole replacement projects, and that was primarily for us 25 -- so poles that are on our 25 kV system.  There were concerns reported by either workers or customers and those were posing an immediate risk.  And so those were undertaken as part of that year.

In addition, there was a large number of transformers that were defective and replaced immediately, which included a significant amount of remediation work, so soil remediation in the area of that transformer.  So when I say remediation, that was due to oil leaking from the transformers and so that required us to clean the area.

MS. LEA:  Were these the sorts of expenses that you could not have anticipated earlier?

MS. BAILEY:  They were not anticipated, they were not planned.  Those two small pole line safety and transformer switch, those are projects that we find within the year that pose an immediate risk to our distribution system.

MS. LEA:  Do you think that the asset -- using more asset condition data will help you in the future in not experiencing unexpected or within-year changes like that?

MR. MACE:  So if I could, I can talk to the transformer issue, which was a significant issue for us. What we determined in 2015 -- and you always have some leaking transformers.  We started to see more leaking transformers than normal, and a couple of them that had some fairly significant remediation costs associated with them.

What we did at that point was proactively started -- I am going to call it not quite an emergency, but a very short-term inspection.  We dedicated resource to going out and checking more of these pad-mount transformers and as we checked more, we found out there were more leaking than we had anticipated.  So it was far above what we had experienced historically.  We are not really sure what the reason for that is.  It was primarily pad-mount transformers which were rusting away and leaking oil into the soil.

So that activity actually continued into 2016.  We believe it's tapering off in 2017.  But it was significant issue for us for two years at least.

MS. LEA:  Yes, because I don't see that after that rise of things which occurred in the year, that there has been any decrease.  One might expect that if it was an in-year problem, that you would see a decrease then in 2016.

MR. MACE:  Sorry, it did continue in 2016 --


MS. LEA:  And does it continue into --


MR. MACE:  -- in both 2015 and  --


MS. LEA:  -- 2017?

MS. BAILEY:  So what I would like to speak about is that, yes, we saw the increases in this unplanned work in the poles and as well as the transformers, and the way that we tried to manage those unexpected increases was by deferring our planned projects or trying to lower expenses in those project-reducing scope.

So you see a bump.  Potentially there would have been a larger bump if we had continued doing the planned 4 kV conversion work.  So when we go -- continue on into 2016 or '17, we are back on to our planned 4 kV conversions and other work, and so that's why you don't see a decrease there.

MS. LEA:  And what is -- can you summarize -- I know it's in the DSP to some extent, but it helps to hear it today as well.  What is driving the increase between 2016 and 2017?

MS. BAILEY:  So the expenditures in 2017 and what's driving that increase there is our enhanced knowledge from our asset condition assessment that we received.  So we are aware that we are -- we need to address specifically our 25 kV voltage system and the pole replacements on that.

Historically we focused on our 4 kV, and so our asset condition assessment did uncover that we need to focus on those 25 kV areas, switch our focus, as well as start doing more underground cable replacements.  So there is an increase in both those and a -- we are completing our 4 kV projects that are a work in progress.

So our 4 kV is a rolling process.  So we complete pole sets in one year, and then typically we frame and string and complete the services for that area in the next year.  They are larger projects, and so because there were projects that were poles set in '16, we need to finish that work.  We can't just leave the poles without any services transferred in '17, so we need to finish those work, take out that substation, as well as shift our focus to the 25 kV and the underground.

MS. LEA:  Mr. Mace gave us an example of a type of project where Thunder Bay has chosen not to follow the Kinectrics recommendation.  Underground cable I think was the example that Mr. Mace used.

My question was if you look at actually pages 5 and 6 of the compendium, which is from the DSP, you're describing a shift in infrastructure investments as a result of using asset condition rather than merely age as a driver for investment.

Can you give me any examples of where your spending has reduced as a result of the asset condition assessment, not a choice that you have made not to follow the ACA, but there is a reduction in spending as a result of what you learned about your asset condition?

MS. BAILEY:  So an example of where we will see reductions is in our 4 kV conversions.  So our knowledge to date had been that our substation transformers have a typical useful life as per the OEB asset depreciation study of 45 years.  All of our transformers are beyond those years, and so we had assumed that those would be replaced in the next ten.  After our asset condition assessment, those were determined to be in better condition than we had originally thought, and so we are reducing that 4 kV conversion over the next three years.

MS. LEA:  I wonder if we could begin to look at the voltage conversion projects, and I wanted to start by looking back for a moment at the chart which is on compendium page 1.  The voltage conversion projects are a very significant amount of spending in 2017, are they not, over $5 million in 2017?

MR. MACE:  So if I could, just maybe it would help to provide some clarity on what "voltage conversion" means.

MS. LEA:  Please.

MR. MACE:  We kind of use that as an internal -- so we are not undertaking capital work for the purpose of converting voltage.  When we talk about voltage conversion we are talking primarily about our older 4 kV system that operates at 4 kV as opposed to 25.  When that hits end of life and it needs to be replaced we rebuild it at the newer standard at 25 kV.

So it's voltage converse insofar as it's being replaced because of its condition and it's being built to the new -- or higher voltage.  That also allows us at the same time to avoid having to rebuild those 4 kV stations.

So if an area that's serviced by 4 kV needs replacement, both the poles, the wires, and the distribution system, by building to 25 kV we avoid, you know, say, 3-, $4 million of rebuild for a distribution station.

So it's all system renewal.  Voltage conversion is the term we use internally for rebuilding 4 kV at end of life and converting it to 25 kV.

MS. LEA:  Okay, that's helpful, thank you.

Why, if -- why is -- this may be a very silly question, but it would assist me in any event.  Why it is better to have 25 kV than 4 kV?

MR. MACE:  It's not necessarily better.  There are trade-offs in how a 4 kV system operates.  But in general, building to 25 allows us to eliminate distribution stations.  So it avoids the end-of-life replacement of those stations.

In the long-term, it avoids station operating costs that we --


MS. LEA:  Just to interrupt you, sir, then, you need fewer stations with the 25 kV station?

MR. MACE:  Yes.  So we take our supply from three Hydro One transmission stations, which we do not own.  We take the supply at 25 kV.  Historically when systems were built in the '40s, '50s, '60s a lot of older systems took a higher level, sometimes 25 kV, sometimes something else, into neighbourhood distribution stations and converted them down to something like 4 kV, and then these 4 kV stations serviced, you know, neighbourhoods.

So at one point I think we had 23, 24 distribution stations.  To date we have eliminated -- five?  Or more?  We have 13 left now.

So as we have rebuilt old -- you know, we have -- some of this 4 kV infrastructure was built in the late '50s, early '60s.  Some of these stations were built in the '50s.  So as we rebuild the poles and wires we eliminate the need for those stations.  We could choose to rebuild them at 4 kV and do a refurbish/replace on the station.  That would cost more money.  This is the more economical capital investment.

MS. LEA:  These are on page 1 of the compendium.  These are your 2017 projects.  Do you anticipate a similar level of what you have here termed voltage conversion expenditures in each of the five years of this DSP?

MS. BAILEY:  No, we expect that our voltage conversions will decrease over the next five years.

MS. LEA:  Any idea by what rate or by how much?

MS. BAILEY:  We do have a detailed plan for the next five years.  However, I don't have the split between 4 kV and 25 in front of me here.

MS. LEA:  All right.  And where do we find that detailed plan?  If you can give me the evidence reference.

MS. BAILEY:  It's not filed as part of the evidence.

MS. LEA:  All right, thank you.  I will think about that at this time.  I am not going to ask for it to be produced, but I will think about it with my advisor.

If these projects are important, why are their priority rankings relatively low in this chart?

MS. BAILEY:  Well, the project rankings are based on, as I've mentioned, our prioritization ranking.  So outside of the buckets, of course we identified several criteria that we as a utility felt were important, required service, strategic alignment, customer impact, importance to risk mitigation, financial and operational impact.  Those had different weights and they were assigned values.

And so each of the projects were assigned those objective values and produced a ranking list.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  Perhaps I can ask it this way: If we look at pages 7 and 8 of the compendium, it reproduces pages 70 and 71 of the DSP in which you explain you have reduced the rate of voltage conversions and station decommissioning as a result of learning that the condition of many of the 4 kV assets was better than expected.

So would you agree that the pressure to replace these assets has diminished as a result of learning their condition?

MS. BAILEY:  As Rob said earlier, the project areas that we select -- one of the criteria is the substation transforms.  But in addition, it's the condition of the poles and transformers in that area.  So it's not just solely based on removing the substation, but also the condition of the poles that need to be replaced and the transformers, the pad-mount transformers.

MS. LEA:  Can you provide me any examples of what you decided not to do as a result of the condition assessment with respect to voltage conversion?

MS. BAILEY:  So in terms of when you say what we decided not to do, I believe you are referring to what we deferred versus --


MS. LEA:  Yes, yes.  I should have said in 2017, or deferred to later years.

MS. BAILEY:  So prior to the asset condition assessment, we had developed a plan to remove all of our substations in the next ten years.  Upon receiving that and the condition of the substation transformers, that has been extended out to 20 years or beyond.

MS. LEA:  Could one or more of the 2017 voltage conversion projects that are listed on this page and the following page, could they be deferred into later years as well, without significantly impacting system performance?

MS. BAILEY:  The areas -- as I said earlier, the areas that have been selected are not just based on the transformers, but also based on the assets which are in the poorest condition to replace.

MS. LEA:  Right.

MS. BAILEY:  So deferring those would pose a risk to Thunder Bay Hydro's operating distribution system.

MS. LEA:  So it's not the condition of the transformer or the assets necessarily within the station; it has to do with the assets outside the station as well?

MS. BAILEY:  It's combination of the two.

MS. LEA:  So what would the effects be on your system of deferring one or two of the projects where the health index category that we see here is listed as very good?  I just need to understand how it's going to affect your customers in a very practical way.  We are speaking in generalities so far.  Could you give me some specifics of what would happen?

MS. BAILEY:  Sure.  I can refer you probably to, for specifics, you know, number 19 on our overall priorities. So if we were to defer that project, which is McDougal court, if we were to delay that by a year, of course there is a risk of failure increases --


MS. LEA:  Sorry, I didn't quite hear that.

MS. BAILEY:  Sorry, risk of higher incidence of outages.  But in that area we have a high school, a district jail, a senior's centre and 41 commercial services.  So when we choose these areas of high risk of failure, if we were to delay that, again those -- the high school, district jail, senior centre, 41 commercial Services -- are at a higher risk of outage and failure outside of regular hours.  And so a delay again increases that risk.

MS. LEA:  And yet this project is listed as quite a low priority; it's 19 out of 21.  The projects that are higher in the list, do they have more serious risks or more customers to be affected?

MS. BAILEY:  They have similar risk.  I was just providing you with a detailed risk for that project.

MS. LEA:  So would it be your view that the risks of projects with higher priority numbers are actually greater than what you have just described specifically?

MS. BAILEY:  I would.  In addition, I'd just like to say that our -- we are working on improving our priority ratings.  This is a process that we are continuing to improve.  But in general, I would say the higher priority projects have a higher risk than the lower ones.

MS. LEA:  In looking at this list, are there any of these projects -- and again I am talking mostly about the voltage conversion -- are there any of these projects that could be deferred without causing significant system impact?  Any of them?

MR. MACE:  I think the question might be what is significant impact.

MS. LEA:  Yes.

MR. MACE:  And it's hard to put a handle on.

MS. LEA:  Yeah.

MR. MACE:  So, you know, to be clear, if you took the lowest system project and deferred it by a year, life would not end.  You know, the poles would not necessarily fall down.  There may be increased outages on those poles.  They are being replaced because they are passed end of life and they need to be replaced.

So they are prone to failure.  They would continue to be prone to failure.  And then presumably, if you push them out a year, that would push projects out a year.

So in the long-term -- my view is in the long-term, you may run into issues now of a backlog that you have created because you are not addressing those flagged for action items quickly; you are deferring them.  You defer flagged for action items and eventually the risk of reliability issues and failure becomes higher.

But I don't -- I don't know how to quantify a significant risk for you.

MS. LEA:  That's fine, we can always deal with this in our submission.

Now, as I understand your evidence, pole condition is a fairly significant driver, maybe the primary driver for some of these projects.  Which projects in this list, or whichever list you chose to use, which projects are primarily driven by pole condition as opposed to the condition of the other assets?

MS. BAILEY:  Well, on the list of course -- are you talking specifically about voltage conversion?

MS. LEA:  Yes, I am at present, thank you.

MR. VELLONE:  And I am wondering if an undertaking might be necessary, if they don't know it off the top of their head.

MS. LEA:  That's fine.  However you wish to provide it is useful.

MS. BAILEY:  So pole condition is a criteria that is input into our decision-making process for all of those voltage conversions.  I wouldn't say that one is a primary pole condition and another is not.

MS. LEA:  So they are all equally driven then by pole Condition?

MR. MACE:  So maybe it would be helpful, and it would have to be an undertaking.  We could provide an example of the inputs into determining the condition and the need for that project and the prioritization far a project, if you follow?

MS. LEA:  Yes, I understand.  I was about to get into asking you in detail about a couple of these projects.  Why don't we see if, at the end of that questioning, whether we have gotten a little more information that will help us.

Just before I get to the specifics, though, are you achieving some synergy between your voltage conversion projects and your pole replacement projects?

MS. BAILEY:  Certainly, we are selecting areas where the poles are in poor condition, and at the same time decommissioning stations which are at end of life.  So there is a synergy there at replacing end of life assets that are both substation, circuit breakers in the station so removing those, as well as poles and transformers that are in those areas.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Madam Chair, I am about to move into a more detailed discussion of some of the voltage conversions, and I wasn't sure when you wanted the morning break to be called.

MS. DUFF:  This is fine.  Before we did that, though, I just want to say to you, Mr. Vellone, I know you are offering up these undertakings, but with a hearing of this short nature, I mean, it is my preference not to have them unless it's -- like, if you are giving me two-16 actuals, great.  I don't think there is any dispute about that.  But to have extra work being brought on by the company to get the answer two weeks later when the oral hearing is over with is of limited value, so that is just my preference.  I'll always kind of look at those questions through that lens of what will that get us and how will that assist the Panel, just so that you know.

MR. VELLONE:  That's helpful, thank you.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  So we will take the 15-minute break and we will be back at twenty to.  All right.  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 10:24 a.m.
--- On resuming at 10:43 a.m.

MS. DUFF:  Ms. Lea, please continue.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.  I wonder if we could look at some specifics with respect to some of the voltage conversion projects.  I was looking at appendix J of the DSP where we originally referred to various of the project summaries.

At page 9 of the compendium, I have included appendix J13, which is the Black Bay-Dewe voltage conversion.  So if we look at the first page under project summary, which is about two-thirds of the way down the page, we see it is stated:
"The project has been prioritized due to the removal of Grenville substation, which is 47 years of age and has been identified as having a low interconnectivity and no back-up transformation should the substation transformer fail."


And then in section B -- so if we go to page 11 of the compendium, and this is actually a good sample of what these projects look like, underneath the picture in section B, evaluation criteria and information requirements for each project, there is a sentence that reads:
"The Black Bay-Dewe and Dewe-Rita are the projects that contribute directly to Thunder Bay Hydro's ability to retire the Grenville substation by the end of 2017."


So can you please describe for me the need to retire the Grenville substation?

MS. BAILEY:  Certainly.  As is listed in the project summary, Grenville substation transformer, the substation only has a singular transformer --


MS. LEA:  Sorry, I'm losing you.

MS. BAILEY:  Am I on?  Sorry, I will just start again there.

So many of our substations have two transformers in them, and this is to provide redundancy.  If one of them was to fail, it could fail over to the other one in the station.  Grenville is one of our few stations that only has one transformer, and in addition to that it has a low interconnectivity, which means it's at the edges of our distribution system.  So there are many radial feeds.  It's not connected; it doesn't provide backup to other substations.

So when we created our --


MS. LEA:  Sorry, before you go on, it does not provide backup to other substations, or other substations also do not provide backup to it?

MS. BAILEY:  Sorry, let me reword that.  It doesn't provide -- it has a low interconnectivity.  So rather than providing backup to several stations, I think it could provide backup to one or two, but not several.  So it has a low interconnectivity rating versus something these in the centre of the city like Camelot substation, where it could backup several substations in the area.

So it has a low interconnectivity rating, no backup transformation in that area should it fail.  And as well, it's 47 years of age.

MS. LEA:  So it's effectively at its actuarial end of life then, that transformer? 

MS. BAILEY:  Yes.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.  I just want to turn back to the last page of this exhibit, which is page 9 of the compendium, and with all of these projects, these J appendices, can we see the number of customers affected by a failure by looking at customer attachments and load, that section?  A total of 342 customers in this circumstance for this voltage conversion.

MS. BAILEY:  That's right, yes.  So the section that says customer attachments and load, that's specifically the customers related to this project.

MS. LEA:  Yes, Black Bay-Dewe?



MS. BAILEY:  Um-hmm.

MS. LEA:  Okay, thank you.  Can we go, please, to page 17 of the compendium, which is taken from page 70 of the DSP, and it shows the asset condition assessment results for power transformers; is that how I understand this evidence?

MS. BAILEY:  Yes.

MS. LEA:  If we look at the Grenville station which is on this page we are looking at, about two-thirds of the way down the chart, it's condition -- although its age is 47, its condition is listed as very good and it appears to have 20 or more years of life.  Is that what the ACA shows?

MS. BAILEY:  So that is what the ACA shows.  But I would like to add to that by stating again that our substation removal and voltage conversion plans again were built upon removing substations at the -- the poorest substations that were radially fed at the edges of our system --


MS. LEA:  What do you mean by poorest of the substations?

MS. BAILEY:  So if they had no redundancy, so no backup transformation, they were radially fed, they had low interconnectivity.

MS. LEA:  Okay, but the -- one of the reasons why you chose those, I would imagine, is because you are worried about them failing.  I mean, the concern here is that they will fail?

MS. BAILEY:  Correct.

MS. LEA:  And would this chart not indicate that at least with respect to the transformer, the condition of that asset is good and therefore less likely to fail?

MS. BAILEY:  Yes.  So this asset condition assessment we received in 2016.  Black Bay-Dewe and Dewe-Rita were projects that were started in 2015 as pole sets, and in 2017 we are completing those projects, like I said earlier a rolling volume tan conversion where we do the pole sets and replace all the wires and transformers and services the years after.

So we had already begun these projects and determined that what we thought was that that substation was at end of life, when we received Kinectrics' asset condition assessment stating that that transformer was in fact in better condition than we believed.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  So you might have made a different decision had you had this the asset condition data before you at the time that you originally prioritized these projects?

MS. BAILEY:  We still need to consider the condition of the poles in the area, so we are talking right now exclusively about that substation and its connectivity and its place in the ACA.  But that project was also selected based on the poles in that area, the age of those assets,  the condition of those assets, the transformers in the area.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  So just before we get to the poles --and I don't want the lose that piece of evidence, but I just wanted to confirm that also we see that the circuit breakers in the Grenville station are also in fair condition with action not recommended for 20 years.  We see this at page 19 of the compendium.  Is that correct?

MS. BAILEY:  On page 19, I believe the Grenville substations are in fair condition.

MS. LEA:  Right.  But the action -- the flagged for action year is 20-plus years?

MS. BAILEY:  That's correct.

MS. LEA:  Okay, thank you. I guess what I am trying to find is -- in your project summary, it does not talk about the condition of the poles, as far as I understand J13.  Maybe it does and I missed it.  It certainly fully, fully included in the compendium, so if there is something there.

But our understanding from the evidence was that this was based on the age and condition of the station assets, or rather that the Black Bay-Dewe and Dewe-Rita projects were prioritized by the need to require Grenville.

MS. BAILEY:  I would refer the Board Panel to the project summary section on page 9.

MS. LEA:  Page 9 of the compendium, yes.

MS. BAILEY:  The compendium, where it does say "includes the replacement of end of life 4 kV distribution assets and substations."  So the 4 kV distribution assets would be the poles and transformers -- distribution transformers and services in that area.

MS. LEA:  So that's part of what the project includes?

MS. BAILEY:  Yes.  And it states there that it's end-of-life 4 kV distribution assets.

MS. LEA:  Um-hmm, okay.  So I guess we need to read the project summary in its entirety to understand the full effect of this project?

MS. BAILEY:  Yes.

MS. LEA:  So tell me about the poles in the area.  Are these poles that are targeted in your pole replacement program as well or are they specific -- are they part of this Black Bay-Dewe voltage conversion?  So you have a pole replacement program with separate list -- that is separately listed, and then you have your voltage conversion projects and programs.  I am trying to understand the intersection between those two things if poles are a major driver of the Black Bay-Dewe and Dewe-Rita conversions.

MS. BAILEY:  So it is a combination of those two.  It's a combination of the poles and the substation and distribution assets.  So they are at-end-of-life poles, as well as the substation is at -- is needing retirement.

So to clarify, you are looking for somewhere that says that the poles need replacement?

MS. LEA:  No, I am just trying to find out if there is some synchronicity in your voltage conversion projects and your pole projects, whether there is any double-counting that these poles that have to be replaced for Black Bay-Dewe and Dewe-Rita are listed in the pole replacement project section of your DSP, or are they all contained as part of the voltage conversion costs?  I am just trying to understand where the costs of the poles that apparently drive this project -- are they located in voltage conversion or in the pole replacement program?

MS. BAILEY:  So the poles associated with this project area, those costs are included in the voltage conversion project.  So that cost to replace the pole is included in the total cost for the project.  In terms of strictly pole replacement projects, which we have listed a couple outside of our voltage conversions, those are 25 -- typically poles that are on our 25 kV voltage system.

So our 4 kV system is the older of the two.  We built the 4 kV earlier.  It is typically where our old and poor-condition poles are, but we also see those on the 25.

So there is a mix of pole replacements on 4 and on 25.  But when you are talking about synergies -- and this is what we are seeing within our voltage conversion plan -- is that we are not only replacing the end-of-life assets that are poles and transformers, but we are also removing a substation that we would need to maintain and service beyond that.

So it's a synergy, and particularly when you are talking about Grenville substation, Dewe-Rita and Black Bay-Dewe are the final two projects before we are able to remove Grenville substation, so at the end of 2017 when we convert those two areas, replace those end-of-life assets of poles, we will be able to decommission that substation.

MS. LEA:  Based on the condition of the substation assets themselves, though, that removal or retirement could be delayed; is that not the case?

MS. BAILEY:  So we still require removing those end-of-life distribution assets in the area.

MS. LEA:  I'm sorry, when you say "end-of-life", I don't understand that because, according to the asset condition assessment, these substation assets, not the poles, but the substation assets, the transformer and the breaker, still have 20 years left to go.  I am not understanding that part of your evidence.

MR. MACE:  So Ms. Bailey's specifically referring to the poles, the poles in the distribution --

MS. LEA:  Right.  So my question --

MR. MACE:  -- assets.  So they need -- they require replacement --

MS. LEA:  Okay.  But what --

MR. MACE:  -- if they are going to be replaced --

MS. LEA:  Yes?

MR. MACE:  -- you wouldn't replace them at 4 kV, you would replace them at 25.  If you replace them at 4 kV then it means eventually, maybe ten, maybe 20 years down the road now, you'd have to rebuild that Grenville station at added cost, so if you have to replace the poles now based on condition assessment, you replace them at 25 kV, and now you can eliminate that station.

The breakers may have lasted another ten years or 20 years, maybe, but the poles -- the condition of the poles require attention.

MS. LEA:  And can you direct me to the place in the evidence where we see that the condition of the poles related to these two projects, Black Bay-Dewe and Dewe-Rita, are in poor condition?  Is that ever specified anywhere?

MS. BAILEY:  Other than in that project summary that I referred you to, it's not specifically -- so that summary, again, states that -- end-of-life distribution assets.  It is part of our internal process when we are selecting areas in terms of scopes of projects and where to determine where to replace poles, distribution transformers, and remove substations.

MS. LEA:  Okay, thank you.  I think I have a better understanding now of that.

I just wanted to contrast these two projects or -- yeah, these two projects with two other projects that are in the J series.  If we could look at the compendium, page 21, which is the Cumming-Brodie project.

Now, this relates to the Hardisty substation, and my understanding from the transformer asset condition and the breaker asset condition for the Hardisty substation is that the transformers are both old and in poor condition in contrast to, say, the condition of the transformers in -- or transformer singular in Grenville; is that correct?

MS. BAILEY:  Yes.

MS. LEA:  And that -- and Finlayson-Brodie is also related to that same Hardisty substation?

MS. BAILEY:  Yes.

MS. LEA:  And when I look at the number of customers that are on those -- that are related to them, they're not significantly different, and in fact in one case a higher number of customers than the Black Bay-Dewe number of customers that would be affected by a failure.  Am I right?

MS. BAILEY:  If you look at the customers you are right.  Now, one of the things that is not listed in here again is our operational practices with these transformers.  And I spoke about it earlier when I discussed interconnectivity.

So Hardisty substation has, again, two transformers, so if one of those transformers was to unexpectedly fail the other transformer in that station could pick up those customers and fail over.

In addition, it's in the, what I would call in the central part of the city, and so it is interconnected with several other stations.  Again, should it fail it would have backup from different sources.

So versus -- versus, so its condition may be poorer, but in those criteria of interconnectivity and having a second transformer to fail over to, it's not as high of a risk as, say, another substation.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.  That's very helpful, because my next question was going to be, why is it a lower priority if it's in worse -- a higher priority if its -- lower priority if it's in worse condition.  You have explained that, thank you.

Changing topics entirely, I wonder if we could talk a little bit about the conditions under which your system operates and the resilience of your system.  At page 25 of this compendium we pulled up your OEB scorecard, the latest version.  Yeah, it's page 25.  Thank you.

In 2015 you missed the OEB target for SAIDI.  And for the reporter that's S-A-I-D-I.  Is that correct?

MS. BAILEY:  Yes, our target was 1.92.  Our 2015 reported number was 2.02.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  But in general over the last five or six years your SAIDI and SAIFI results are improving over time.  I am looking at page 27 of the compendium, which excerpts page 303 of the DSP.  That's page 4 of your good modernization plan.  And it shows a general trend of improvement from 2010 to 2015; is that correct?

MS. BAILEY:  Yes.

MS. LEA:  Do you yet have your actuals for your SAIDI and SAIFI numbers for 2016?

MS. BAILEY:  Yes, we have them calculated.

MS. LEA:  Can you please provide those?

MS. BAILEY:  As an undertaking?

MS. LEA:  If that's the best way to do it, yes.

MS. BAILEY:  I don't have them on me, so --


MS. LEA:  Okay I think that will be J2.2, and that's the actual SAIDI and SAIFI numbers for 2016. 
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.2:  TO PROVIDE THE ACTUAL SAIDI AND SAIFI NUMBERS FOR 2016


MS. LEA:  And what is your own opinion about your SAIDI and SAIFI results?  Are they reasonable, given the characteristics of your system, particularly if you exclude Hydro One loss of supply events?

MR. MACE:  So the question is are they reasonable?

MS. LEA:  Well, in your own opinion, are you satisfied if your SAIDI and SAIFI results in general.

MR. MACE:  I would say I am satisfied with the trend.  I want to see the trend come down.  I want the numbers to improve.

I think when you compare us particularly to some of our cohort utilities -- Sudbury, PUC and North Bay -- on average, we tend to be higher.  I mean, everyone has good years and bad years.  But I think the higher is reflective of our service territory, of our large kind of rural area with the heavily forested --


MS. LEA:  And is that different than the cohort utilities that you just mentioned?

MR. MACE:  I would say so.  I mean, I am not sure if  -- you know, you kind of have to be in Thunder Bay and drive around some of the rural --


MS. LEA:  I have been, thank you.  It's very pretty.

MR. MACE:  It is.  And be in Sudbury and drive around the rural, and the first thing you will notice is there are way more trees in Thunder Bay.  So our challenge is weather and trees and asset condition.

So I believe that our emphasis on forestry management over the last several years and our continued investment in infrastructure replacement is driving that general downward trend.  So I am satisfied with the trend.  I am not necessarily satisfied with where reliability is right now.  I think there is room to improve, but it's going to require investment.

MS. LEA:  At page 7, okay, page 29 of the compendium  -- at page 7 of your explanation of your scorecard results for SAIDI, you attributed the increase in hours of interruption in 2015 to significant outage events primarily in the month of December.  What happened in December?

MR. MACE:  Well, we had a significant blizzard.  I am not sure -- we had some ice.  But what we had in that month was very heavy snow mixed with some ice pellets, and perhaps ice bringing a lot of trees down on lines; so it was a blizzard event.

MS. LEA:  So your reliability is very significantly heavily affected by weather.

MR. MACE:  It's -- I would say -- I mean weather -- one of the challenges we have, and if you look at our reliability stats, they kind of -- they kind of morph year to year.  One of the problems we have had and one of the challenges we continue to work on is we have system operators who will record the cause of an outage.  And it's very difficult; after the fact, you can't always determine what the outage is.  You sort of know.  If you're having a bad blizzard or heavy winds, a lot of these outages that may have been caused were probably caused by trees.

But if you get a crew there, a branch may be burnt off or the tree has fallen to the ground and there is no evidence, sometimes they get recorded as "other".  Sometimes they get recorded as foreign influence, and sometimes they get recorded as trees.  But we generally know if we are having a bad reliability day, it's generally high winds that are affecting trees, lightening, but to a lesser extent, and snow, heavy snow, especially --you know, in the late fall when there are some leaves on the trees or in the late string, when you tend to get heavier, heavier snow -- did we have one this year?  We just had one.  So yes, I would characterize our reliability challenges as primarily weather-related.

The other thing we find of course is that if you have trees or contact on lines from trees, newer infrastructure is more resilient.  We don't build old cross arm and pin insulators any more.  If you have a tree contact that burns off on a newer stand-off insulator type construction, it's more robust.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.  And that's consistent, I think, with the Staff interrogatory number 34, which is at compendium page 31.  Your SAIDI performance there, the variations in it are explained by the presence or absence of significant weather events there.

I wonder if we could look, though, at 2-AMPCO-6, interrogatory 2-AMPCO-6, which I have reproduced at compendium 33 to 37, and this is the question that Ms. Duff asked you earlier.

We see variation in outage duration causes over this period and in normal weather years, which you have described in the earlier interrogatory as 2014 and 2015, so we need to look at pages 35 and 36, tree contacts is a very significant part of the causes for your outages, is that right, or of your outage durations?

MR. MACE:  I am sorry, you are referring to 2016 and 2015?

MS. LEA:  Well, yeah, 2014 and '15 actually because those were the years you described as more normal weather years than '12 and '13 in the previous IR.  So I was looking at page 35 and 36 of the compendium, which are '14 and '15.

MR. MACE:  Yes.  So tree contacts are fairly high.  I guess an illustration of what I was just talking about with the difficulty in identifying outage cause.  If you look at page 33, 2 percent were tree contacts.  Well, I have no doubt that far more than 2 percent were caused by trees, but they probably got recorded as foreign interference or unknown.  Sometimes defective equipment, if a tree comes down and breaks off insulator or cross arm, they will call it defective equipment.

So it's -- I doubt that in 2012 there were only 2 percent tree, but --


MS. LEA:  And when you record adverse weather in each of these pie charts, it's a very small thing.  But having heard what you said, it's adverse weather that causes many of these other outage causes.  Am I right?

MR. MACE:  Yes, you are right, you have identified.  And that is exactly the problem with recording these stats and it's something we probably need to be more consistent on.  But for the most part, a tree won't cause you any damage unless there is adverse weather.  On occasion, they fall.  But for the most part, 90 percent of the time I am speculating it's wind or snow or something that caused that tree to contact.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.  You have indicated in your evidence in chief today and also your O&M evidence -- so pardon me for straying there for a moment -- that you are undertaking a more aggressive tree-cutting program, and you have been doing that for some years now, and that you were aiming for a sustainable seven-year cycle for tree trimming.

I gather you have not yet reached that goal; is that right?

MR. MACE:  No, we have not.

MS. LEA:  Do you know when you will?

MR. MACE:  Well, we anticipate that if we have the expenditure applied for, if we receive that expenditure, that we will achieve the seven-year goal in 2017.

MS. LEA:  I see.  And in your view, in your opinion -- and Mr. Tsimberg can help us, too, of course at any time -- is tree trimming in Thunder Bay's situation the most effective approach to take to system resilience, the most important thing?

MR. TSIMBERG:  Well, I can comment in general terms. In many utilities I work with, one of the major contributors to O&M program is actually vegetation management.  It's very important to, as accurately as possible, identify what the appropriate cycle is.

It's not only impact on reliability.  It's also impact on the financial situation, because if you have one-off clearings, it's more expensive than when you have a specific program.  So you don't want to come back for just one situation.

But at the same time, vegetation management and outages due to vegetation management is also linked with condition of assets.  A simple example would be if you have a storm and a tree falls on your conductor, and if the conductor is in reasonably good condition, it will be permanent outage.  You send the crew, they cut the tree off, and you restore the service.  Whereas if a conductor is not in a good condition a tree will break the conductor, so it's not just a matter of removing the tree.  It's also, you also have to repair the conductor itself, and if conductor falls it's possible that adjacent structures will fall as well.

So I think when it comes to reliability it's more art than science, and there are many different components, so the best one can hope for, identify those components, qualitatively assess the impact on reliability, and one of the things to do is probably have some measures in place that track impact on your investments, on reliability attributable to those assets that investments were made into.

MS. LEA:  And what data will Thunder Bay Hydro need in order to track that type of measure, Mr. Tsimberg?

MR. TSIMBERG:  Well, I think one of the things Rob mentioned was better and accurate kind of records regarding outage causes.  Again, it's not easy to do, but it's something that needs to be done.

The other thing is to estimate proper vegetation cycle, would be helpful to know how many annual off-cycle clearings -- or dealing with vegetation management, of course, outages have to be dealt with, so --


MS. LEA:  So that's vegetation management that had to be dealt with other than what was planned?

MR. TSIMBERG:  Correct, yeah.  So if it's planned properly the number should go down.  The number of unplanned vegetation management trouble calls, if you will, should be going down.

And also the other thing you can track is what was contribution from equipment failures, actually, because the mix that they -- Thunder Bay Hydro is showing is pretty typical.  Large chunk of unreliability is not caused by equipment itself, it's caused by external factors.  That is not the only external factors.  The drivers, the animals, the other things as well.

So equipment is one of the things, and it makes it sometimes difficult to determine exactly what the cause is, because an example is if you have a wind storm, if it's a major storm, most of your poles will be collapsing.  If it's a medium storm, the good poles will still stay.  The poles in poor or very poor condition actually fall, and one of the premises of asset management is just because asset's in a poor condition doesn't mean it's going to fail.  What will make it fail is a combination of asset condition and stress imposed on assets, so the worse condition gets the less stress it takes to have asset fail.

MS. LEA:  Mr. Mace, the type of data that Mr. Tsimberg is just describing, do you plan to collect that over the coming years?

MR. MACE:  Well, so specifically we have taken steps to try to make the outage data that we are collecting more consistent, but we recognize that there will still be challenges.  There will still be cause and effect challenges:  Was it weather, was it trees, was it animals, was it unknown?  But we do have -- we do have very good data on, in aggregate, the outages.

Getting back to your earlier question, though, what makes a system more resilient, well, vegetation management, certainly, but refurbishing your assets so that they are more robust, installing protection and controls, like our SCADA equipment allows you to recover quicker, smart reclosers allows you to protect quicker, making decisions about which stations are at risk, such as Grenville, with limited backup, adds to resiliency, so it's a collection of programs and expenditures and operating methodologies that enhance system resiliency.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.  One moment, please.

Thank you very much.  Now, a few questions, please, on the pole replacement program.  And I wondered if we could begin by clarifying the actual number of poles that Thunder Bay Hydro is intending to replace, because initially in the DSP you talked about replacing 700 poles per year.  And then there was a couple of interrogatories that reduced that number.  And then we had an update.

And I believe the most current one is, yes, exactly what the screen is showing, and that's 2-VECC-13, which is page 39 of the compendium.

Is 2-VECC-13 as refiled on April the 20th, 2017, that's the pole replacement program there, the number of poles?

MS. BAILEY:  Yes, it is, and I would just like to speak to --


MS. LEA:  You're going to have to turn on your mic.  These tandem mics are difficult.  It's worse than riding a tandem bicycle.

MS. BAILEY:  Yes, it is, but I would also like to speak to that 700 pole number, so that was a target, and it was talked about in our DSP that that was our historical target that we had looked at to reach.  However, when we obtained our asset condition assessment, it provided us with a better number to target, and specifically not just poles generally, so again, that 700 number historically had been generally poles.  It didn't break it up into 25 or 4 kV.

After our asset condition assessment, we broke it up into the two different categories.  So this --


MS. LEA:  And -- sorry, go ahead.

MS. BAILEY:  So this 2-VECC-13 is the most accurate.

MS. LEA:  And were you -- are you doing fewer 4 kV poles or fewer 25 kV poles as a result of receiving the asset condition assessment?

MS. BAILEY:  So in the five-year plan, we are in three years slowly phasing out doing as many 4 kV poles as we had been historically.  You can see on the response to 2-VECC-13, '16 to '17 our 4 kV poles drop from 461 to 385, and then further down 187, 183, versus on the chart above, 25 kV poles, historically you can see 2012 through to 2016 we hover around the 70 to 130 mark, whereas we are planning in '18 through to '21 to target 330 to 395 poles.

MS. LEA:  I guess something that confuses me a little bit about this evidence, and what I have heard today about the voltage conversion program, is that here in this interrogatory you are indicating you are ramping down or reducing the planned amount of 4 kV pole replacements, and yet in some of the projects that are listed as voltage conversion, 4 kV poles seem to be a major driver.

MS. BAILEY:  Of course there are still very poor condition 4 kV poles.

MS. LEA:  And are they all located around these voltage conversion project areas?

MS. BAILEY:  They are typically in the same areas as the older stations, yes.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  I wonder if we could look at the 41st page of the compendium, which is excerpting 2-Staff-39.  Thank you.  And you indicate here that reliability is not the primary driver for the accelerated pole replacement program, or rather the pole replacement program that you have.  If it isn't reliability, then what customer benefit are you aiming to achieve?

MR. TSIMBERG:  I think one of the premises of sustaining existing asset base, in particular when it comes to leaning assets like wood poles, reliability is not the only driver.  There is also other considerations.  Even if reliability is not improved and your asset is at the end of life, you need to replace it.  It might not necessarily improve reliability, but the reality is you can't just not have a feeder.  It's there, so you have to replace the assets that you already have.

In addition to reliability there are other areas associated with assets in poor condition.  Safety risks, environmental risks, a whole bunch of other risks, system performance risks.  So reliability is one of the factors, but it's quite feasible or possible that you will have replacement and your reliability will not improve.

MS. LEA:  And for poles, for wood poles, what environmental risk is there that's increased when an asset is older?

MR. TSIMBERG:  Environmentally depending on a pole treatment used, some of the treatment might go into the ground.  There is also safety issues, is flying and maintaining the pole.  If public -- general public is exposed to some locations with substandard pole there is a danger, there is physical danger of something --


MS. LEA:  Yes, so you listed safety, environmental, and what was the third one, sir?

MR. TSIMBERG:  Reliability, safety, and environment I would say are the major ones.

And if I may add, wood poles are kind of a strange asset category.  Typically there is very clear line between asset to replace proactively, before the fail, and asset that replace reactively, so basically are apt to fail.  Poles are kind of in between.  Some poles are replaced like Thunder Bay is doing proactively, so they have a program of pole replacements.

No matter how good the program is, they would still have some occasional failures of poles, so in reality the number of poles you replace in existing infrastructure will be total of the two, some replaced proactively and some replaced reactively.

MS. LEA:  I wonder if we could look at that particular factor a little bit.  If we turn to page 63 of the compendium -- pardon me, page 45 of the compendium, which is an excerpt from page 63 of the DSP. Here it's indicated that wood poles as an asset class are managed through reactive maintenance.  But I guess that you are doing some pre-emptive or proactive pole replacements.

Does this mean that you are abandoning some of the assets' useful life when you are not replacing only reactively?

MR. TSIMBERG:  To some extent, yes.  And also when it comes to pole replacement, some of the poles are replaced for reasons totally unrelated to condition.  So when you look at asset condition assessment, it deals with need for replacement due to condition.  And a condition-based replacement could be defined as asset fails or asset deemed to be close enough to the end of life that it makes sense to replace it.

When it comes to wood poles, it's all of those things.  So poles, some are replaced proactively, some are replaced reactively.  Additionally, some of the new poles replaced when you have, for example, municipal initiatives.

MS. LEA:  When you have what, sir?

MR. TSIMBERG:  Municipal initiatives; you build or expand roads, or there is need to supply somewhere else and as a result, some of the poles in fairly good condition get replaced as well.

MS. BAILEY:  If I could just add to what Yury is stating here, this excerpt from our DSP, page 45 of your compendium, specifically lists Thunder Bay Hydro's operating strategy; so our operating strategy either proactive maintenance or reactive maintenance.  And so if I could further define that for the group, that might be helpful.

Again, for Thunder Bay Hydro, what we consider doing for proactive maintenance is on those assets that are of high value and maintenance that could conceivably help the asset reach the end of its service life.  So power transformers that could be replacing oil, greasing parts and same with circuit breakers.  So those are our high-value assets where there is a mode of maintenance that can assist in reaching an end of life.

In contrast, something like a wood pole, there are not a lot of forms of maintenance that are cost effective at this time that help the pole reach what is considered end of life.  It's more cost effective to replace it.

So there is a contrast here between this chart, operating strategy maintenance, versus a replacement strategy.  Does that clarify things for you?

MS. LEA:  Yes, it does.  I understand what you say.  I just have to think about it, because you -- I myself coming at this evidence, it's in the as simple as it might be to someone who has been working in it for many, many years and sometimes I have to contemplate a little bit, thank you.

I wonder if we could look at the response to an interrogatory 2-AMPCO-15, which is reproduced at page 43 of the compendium.

Well, unfortunately, it's pretty much illegible here. But if we look at the first table -- thank you, that's good.  If you add up the number of wood poles in poor or very poor condition, you get just over 2,000, 2,084.  And if you're replacing about 560 poles per year, which I believe was the amount before the latest update, that totals more than 2200 over four years.

So I guess what I am trying to get at is does this mean that in year 4 of your pole replacement, you will be replacing poles that are in fair or good condition?

MR. TSIMBERG:  I think because of the nature of wood poles as an asset where -- I am sorry; I had the wrong glasses on.

MS. LEA:  I feel your pain, sir.

MR. TSIMBERG:  It's usually a combination.  It's a probabilistic assessment.  What it means is included in replacement would be some poles in fairly good condition.  The only thing is the probability of failure of those pole wills be definitely lower than probability of failure of a pole being in poor condition.  But they both will contribute to total number of poles to be replaced.

MS. LEA:  But why would you replace the poles in fair or good condition?

MR. TSIMBERG:  There is still a possibility they will fail, because if enough of a wind is applied, enough of a stress is applied -- a good example would be when Toronto has a marathon, a couple of guys usually get critically ill or die, and they are in very good condition.  That would be analogous to a pole being in very good condition, but the stress applied to them exceeded their condition.

And that is an analogy for when you deal with poles.  You can have a fairly good pole, but if you apply enough stress, it may fail.  It will take less stress to make a substandard pole fail.  So it's combination; that's where of probability of failure comes in.

MS. LEA:  Does this mean that some of the pole replacement targeted by Thunder Bay Hydro is targeting areas where the poles are under particular stress?

MR. TSIMBERG:  That I can't tell you.  One of the things of asset condition assessment did for poles we identified a number of poles in flagged for action plan based on two factors.  One factor was demographics, the total population of poles both at 25 and 4 kV.  The second factor was probability of failure based on historical performance of wood poles.

So not the specific poles were identified, but the number of poles that would have to be replaced each year.

MS. LEA:  I am asking, I guess, the Thunder Bay witnesses where you have poles that are you are planning to replace that are in fair or good or even very good condition, are you targeting areas where they are subject to particular stress?  Why would you replace those poles?

MR. MACE:  So to be clear -- and this is my more lay view of condition assessment, but the very poor, poor poles that are identified represent the condition when they were assessed.  The system doesn't get in better shape organically or younger; it gets older.

MS. LEA:  That's right.  I was going to ask you what the rate of degradation is really, how many poles.

MR. MACE:  That I would probably let Mr. Tsimberg speak to.  But in five years, if you are replacing all of the very poor and poor poles over the course of five years, more fair pole wills have replaced those poles in poor and very poor.  So, you know, it's up to us and we have committed to doing it, to continue to revise our asset condition and understand the condition of our poles.  But it's not a static -- you know, a pole that's fair right now in five or eight or ten years probably won't be fair.

MS. LEA:  I understand that.  In general, though, when you aim to do your pole replacement program, are you aiming for the poles in the worst condition?  Is that how you try to target your pole replacement program?

MS. BAILEY:  Yes.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.  And how do you make sure that that's -- that you identify them properly?

MS. BAILEY:  So we have an inspection program that follows the Distribution System Code requirements, where we have to visually inspect a third of our system each year.  And we do that on all of our overhead assets.  So each pole is inspected every three years and we have now -- we have moved to tablet format, and we continue to improve our risk assessments, adding criteria that we have seen or learned that may cause a pole to fail.

So we have a subject matter expert, one of our lines group, go out and visually inspect these assets.  And then we will be updating our asset condition assessment with the revised results we obtain from these.

MS. LEA:  Okay, thank you.  Now, just so I understand, the voltage conversion projects that we have already spoken about, the poles replaced as part of those projects are in addition to the number being replaced under the pole replacement program?

MS. BAILEY:  Yes, yes.  I mean, they are all poles that are being replaced, but there is an additional benefit to replacing the poles and increasing that -- changing that voltage at the same time.

MS. LEA:  I wasn't asking for benefit.  When I look at the number of poles you are replacing or plan to replace per year in that VECC interrogatory, those -- the ones that are voltage conversion based pole replacements are not included in 2-VECC-13?

MS. BAILEY:  They are included, but they are included under what is classified as number of 4 kV poles.

MS. LEA:  Can we have --


MS. BAILEY:  2-VECC-13?

MS. LEA:  Yeah, page 39, please, back on the screen.  So the number of 4 kV poles planned for replacement includes the work done as part of the voltage conversion projects that are listed as voltage conversion projects?

MS. BAILEY:  That's correct.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.  One moment?

I wonder if we could look at page 47 of the compendium, which is an interrogatory to Mr. Tsimberg, ER (sic) VECC-6.  I am looking at page 59 of that particular interrogatory, which is -- yeah, page 40, sorry.  Too many page numbers here.  Yeah, at the compendium page 47 the interrogatory begins, and at compendium page 49 we look at that chart there and we see that you are doing more work on the 4 kV equipment and less work on the 25 kV equipment that Kinectrics recommended.  Particularly we see this in the 4 kV wood poles, the 4 kV inline overhead switches, and the 4 kV manual air brake overhead switches.

Why is that?  Why are you doing more than what Kinectrics recommended here?

MS. BAILEY:  I can speak to that.

MS. LEA:  Please.

MS. BAILEY:  So this is, as I earlier spoke about, because some of these projects are already work in progress, so have already begun, we are completing those poles, and the shift from -- away from 4 kV conversion projects over to 25 is going to take approximately three years until we can meet the sort of ratio that was suggested by Kinectrics.

So in wood poles you are saying the quantity over ten years is 1,815.  We are coming in for ten years 1,849, so 30 poles higher.  We are trying to make that shift as seamless as possible, but it will take a couple years to shift away from those 4 kV projects.

MS. LEA:  Why?  Why is it important to keep doing work in progress?

MS. BAILEY:  Well, as I stated earlier, the poles are already in the ground, so we have placed the poles --


MS. LEA:  I think, Mr. Tsimberg, you turned off the microphone there.  Your microphone is twinned with that of Ms. Bailey.

MR. TSIMBERG:  Oh, sorry.

MS. LEA:  So you are going to have to --


MS. DUFF:  We need to get an engineer in the room to solve that, I think, is what we really need.

MS. LEA:  I think we have got several engineers in the room and we've tried for years to solve this problem and it hasn't helped yet.  Please go ahead.

MS. BAILEY:  Sorry, I lost my train of thought there.


MS. LEA:  Yes.

MS. BAILEY:  Can you please --


MS. LEA:  Yes.

MS. BAILEY:  -- ask the question again?

MS. LEA:  Yes, I can.  So why is it important to continue this work in progress?  If it's work in progress that is driving work that would otherwise not be undertaken based on asset condition, why are you continuing with it?

MS. BAILEY:  So as I stated with the two projects, Black Bay-Dewe, Dewe-Rita, the poles were set in the ground already last year, and so it is important for us to transfer those wires over, transfer the customers over, and complete that project, rather than leave new poles in the ground without those existing assets being transferred and the project completed.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  And one more question on this chart.  The pad-mounted transformers, we see that you are doing more than the levellized flagged for action total would suggest.  What is that about?  Are they 4 kV assets, or what are they and why are you doing so many more than what you would do under the levellized flagged for action plan?

MS. BAILEY:  They are 4 kV assets.  In particular one of the projects I spoke about, MacDougall-Court, where there is 41 commercial services, most of our commercial services are pad-mount transformers, and so in order to complete projects in those 4 kV areas we are required to change the pad-mount transformer to the service, the upgraded service, the 25 kV, so that does drive an increase in those pad-mount transformers.

MS. LEA:  One moment, please.  Mr. Tsimberg, I was looking at your answer to the interrogatory that I was just discussing with the Thunder Bay Hydro witnesses.  At page 52 of the compendium we see your answer to question (c).

So Thunder Bay indicates that it's a result -- the continuing attention to the 4 kV assets is a result of continuation of work in progress.  Your answer is that it strikes a balance between dealing with a backlog of assets while mitigating impact on rates.

I don't understand why there is a difference in those answers.  Were you not aware of the work-in-progress situation?

MR. TSIMBERG:  No, I think asset condition assessment is basically looking at condition of assets the way they are, which is a snapshot in time, and that was in 2015.  And the results are really based on input information, which is specific inputs that go into asset condition assessment formally.

If any plans by the utility of some work that has been initiated, it's not reflected in any way in asset condition assessment.  In other words, the results of asset condition assessment really deal with condition-based needs, and that's about it.

MS. LEA:  Um-hmm.  One moment, please.  I am coming -- I am moving down towards the end of my cross-examination and attempting to determine what's left, if I could just have a moment, thank you.

Does Thunder Bay Hydro have a planned replacement rate for the years after those covered by this DSP?  So the pole replacement work, will it ramp down at some point?  Or drop to what might be considered normal levels?

MS. BAILEY:  So in terms of what Thunder Bay Hydro has planned outside of this cost-of-service application, five years, our plan is to be aligned with the quantities suggested by the Kinectrics asset condition assessment.  There is an interrogatory where it requests the next five years, and then beyond that we will be aligned.

So if you looked at the distribution system plan at Appendix J, where the asset condition assessment -- if you looked at the flagged for action plan where it's beyond 2021 we plan to be aligned with that, so the quantities there we can -- I believe the poles --


MS. LEA:  Can we pull that up on the screen, if you can give us a reference, please, thank you.

MS. BAILEY:  So it's Appendix 2(i) in the DSP, and it's Appendix C, Kinectrics asset condition assessment, page 18, ten-year flagged for action plan.

MS. LEA:  Give us a moment, please.  And where do we see the number of poles?

MS. BAILEY:  So if you look on the left-hand side there, it's the replacement year.

MS. LEA:  Yes.

MS. BAILEY:  And then there is a blue levellized plan versus an unlevellized plan.  So beyond our cost of service would be -- so '17 we are considering year zero.

MS. LEA:  Yup.

MS. BAILEY:  So beyond our cost of service '22, if you look at replacement year 5, levellized plan, it would be aligned with the 176, 4 kV wood poles, 400, 25 kV poles.  I believe in year 8 it drops down to 116, and 395, and continues like that until the end of the period.

MS. LEA:  Okay, maybe Mr. Tsimberg can help me then.  I am wondering, the average total useful life of wood poles that you indicate in your report is 50 years, I believe.  And as I understand it, that would mean that about 2 percent of Thunder Bay Hydro's wood poles should be expected to require replacement each year, just going with a 50-year useful life.

MR. TSIMBERG:  Sorry, I am just looking at contents of the asset condition assessment report.

MS. LEA:  Please, go ahead. 

MR. TSIMBERG:  The typical useful life, I am not sure exactly how the reference.  But in the asset condition assessment report, it's in page 50 when it comes to wood poles and there are two points that we use to generate failure curves.  One was a typical useful life of 60 years, six-zero.  And the second, which we call extreme useful life, was 75 years. 

So that's the basis for the failure curves that you see, and painted poles had somewhat different lives.  Painted poles had shorter lives; they had 45 years and 60 years respectively for those two points.

So you have a curve which what it means is -- the way it's defined, the sixth year in this particular example means if you install 100 poles, you would expect 80 of them to still be in service and 20 would fail over the course of 60 years. And then between 60 years and, in this case, 75 years, the majority of poles still in service would fail, basically be at the end of life.  So that at the 75 year point, maybe 5 percent of poles would still be in service. 

So it's an exponential, really, relationship between health index and the corresponding probability of failure.

MS. LEA:  About how many poles does Thunder Bay Hydro have?  I think our consultant suggested that it was about 20,000.

MS. BAILEY:  Yes.  In our asset condition assessment, it says 19,813, approximately.

MR. TSIMBERG:  In total, yes.

MS. LEA:  Okay, because when I look at the piece of evidence we were just looking at before this, which is the rate of replacement after the five-year period, it looked like there were a lot more poles than one might expect given the average life that Mr. Tsimberg just spoke of.

MR. TSIMBERG:  Well, one of the things in establishing An annual number of -- I think I want to make probably two points.  One is the average number of poles.  If you can assume you have a population of 20,000 poles, and all poles in very good condition, then your replacement rates will be lower.  If you have all in very poor condition, then the replacement rates will be higher.

But what is important is for them to estimate what would be the rate based on existing demographics and, more importantly, what the existing health in the distribution is.

So in order to estimate flagged for action numbers going forward, those two things are used together in the algorithm.  So we looked at what is the condition distribution, which is health index distribution, and what is the probability of failure based on the degradation curve.

When the two are married, this is what give you the estimate of flagged for action plan.  That is the first point.

I think second point I want to add, and it probably relates to the earlier question that Karla answered to, this is what we know today based on information from 2015.  I would assume that Thunder Bay Hydro intends to review, you know, overall asset condition distribution of assets going forward because some of the old asset will be replaced by new assets; the asset mix will change.  Also, you know, you might not necessarily assume the stresses in the past are the same as stresses going forward.  So the projections will change from year to year.  It's really a snapshot in time, what you see here in the asset condition assessment report.  And depending when assessment is made in the future, the projections may be different.

MS. LEA:  And of course some of your work relies on the accuracy or reliability of the data that you are given.  And at present, would it be true to say that Thunder Bay is not -- does not have all the data that would be truly desirable in coming up with these curves?

MR. TSIMBERG:  I wouldn't say -- it's fairly typical because I have wide perspective, not only in Canada but in the US as well.  Very few utilities actually track removal records in a way that could be used in generating those curves.  I think we indicated what needs to be done in order to do that and if you have sufficient removal records, your linkage between condition and probability of failure will be more credible.

MS. LEA:  As I recall the evidence, there was no removal, quantitative removal data.  But you did reply upon the expertise of the utility for the removal.

MR. TSIMBERG:  That is correct, yes.

MS. LEA:  And is Thunder Bay intending to collect removal data, quantitative removal data going forward?

MS. BAILEY:  That is our intent to begin collecting removal data.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.  I wonder if we could look at page 57 of the compendium, please?  Again we are switching topics a little bit.  I just have a couple more things to ask you about, a few more things to ask you about.

MR. MACE:  I am sorry.  Before we move on, it might be helpful getting back to the --


MS. LEA:  Please, go ahead.

MR. MACE:  If you have 20,000 poles and they last 50 years, you should be able to do the math.

MS. LEA:  Yeah, 400 a year.

MR. MACE:   Sure.  But then you need to also bring in the fact there a bah backlog, because for years we weren't doing the minimum amount.  So you need to adjust your assumption by the backlog.

You would also need to adjust that assumption by when those poles were installed.  So that kind of math -- and we have done that internally.  That kind of math assumes the poles were installed at an even pace over those 50 years.  So it's a nice guideline, but it's not as accurate as asset condition assessments.

MS. LEA:  I guess if you have got a bit of a lump now which you are going to correct, you will see a lump further down the road again when this next set of assets comes up for replacement.

MR. MACE:  A couple of generations of utility managers away I guess, yes.

MR. TSIMBERG:  And if I may add, one of the other things is that typically across many utilities, assets are not replaced at a constant rate.  So the premise of, you know, if we have so many poles and if you replace so many a year, that leaves you a 20-year replacement, a 40-year replacement, I guess would probably have some substance if replacement rates were constant over time.  But they are not.  Usually, you install asset when they are needed, and that results -- and if you look at asset demographics of peaks and valleys, that should be kind of reflected in calculating condition and the resultant need for replacements.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Oh, yes, it's before us now, page 57 of the compendium.  Mr. Tsimberg, there was one piece of your evidence I didn't understand the basis for and that occurs at page 3 of your report which is before us, in paragraph 5.

And here you say that -- you give the opinion that the ACA findings were properly incorporated in the development of the system renewal capital investment, and then I am quoting here, 
"...While striking a balance between addressing the backlog of assets identified in the ACA report as being in poor or very poor condition, and avoiding an undesired significant increase in system renewal investment level."

So when I read this sentence, is your opinion restricted to Thunder Bay Hydro's approach to assets in poor or very poor condition, as opposed to giving an opinion on the general level of spending overall? 

MR. TSIMBERG:  No, my opinion is strictly limited and addresses the relationship between system renewal requirements and the extent that we incorporate it, and the  extent my asset condition assessment report results are incorporated or reflected in system renewal requirements, not the overall envelope. 

MS. LEA:  Okay, that's helpful.  But you talk about an undesired significant increase.  How did you determine what that would be, what an undesired significant increase would be?

MR. TSIMBERG:  I would assume, as a ratepayer myself, any increase is undesirable.  So you want to kind of mitigate it to the extent possible.  So when I read the distribution system plan, my opinion and my understanding was that they -- Thunder Bay Hydro have not really went to the level of addressing backlogs as recommended in the flagged for action plan.  It actually had a three-year kind of a bridge period to get to the level of replacements recommended in the asset condition assessment report. 

So I cannot quantify what it is.  But qualitatively, obviously if they went and addressed numbers the same way they presented in the flagged for action plan, there would be significantly higher impacts on rates.

MS. LEA:  But you are not suggesting that you have any data yourself, or actually profess any expertise in understanding what Thunder Bay Hydro's customers would find an undesired significant increase.

MR. TSIMBERG:  I agree with that.

MS. LEA:  So turning to Mr. Wilson, then, who I haven't picked on yet -- and Ms. Speziale, I am not sure I have anything for you.  Maybe later in O&M.

Now, there was a piece of evidence that I looked at that I did not reproduce in the compendium that showed that the residential customers expressed a strong preference for reducing or stabilizing cost over ensuring reliability.  There was a bar chart that showed this.  Have I correctly understood the evidence? 

MR. WILSON:  Well, not having the evidence in front of me, I can neither confirm or deny that.  I would have to --


MS. LEA:  Well, can someone find it?  I have seen it. It's a bar chart, it's the report of your customer's preferences. 

I am sorry; I should have looked it up in advance.

MR. WILSON:  It's okay.  I understand it can exist in a few spots because there are several engagements, right.

MS. LEA:  It might have been IRR.

MS. BAILEY:  There is one reference to it in the 
distribution system plan --

MS. LEA:  That is probably where I saw it, because that was my area of review that was --

MS. BAILEY:  -- at page 105 of the --

MS. LEA:  Page 105, thank you.

MS. BAILEY:  -- distribution system plan.

MR. WILSON:  Right.  So this one is in response --

MS. LEA:  Can we have that up on the screen, please, for a moment before you answer.

Yes, so if we look under "reliability", that second bar chart, the second bar chart.  Thank you very much.  So can you explain to me what this shows?  Because it looks to me as if residential customers had very little interest in ensuring reliability and a great deal of interest in stabilizing cost and to a certain extent in green energy and conservation.  Am I understanding that correctly?

MR. WILSON:  Yes, cost is more important to them than reliability on the residential rate class.

MS. LEA:  Right.  And the rate class that you spoke of earlier in which customers were emphasizing reliability and you have responded by -- with your grid modernization program, that would have been the large user customers or some small commercial?

MR. WILSON:  It would have been large commercial and some industrial.

MS. LEA:  Large commercial and industrial, okay.   Now --

MR. WILSON:  If I can qualify that as well, there are -- when Ms. Bailey talks about the system being -- having size and space to it, there would be some customers in the small commercial that could benefit from this as well within that -- within those targeted areas.

MS. LEA:  Yes.  What I am wondering about was, given the expression of great concern with cost and small concern with reliability of the residential customers, according to this chart, what change did you make to the DSP to recognize that preference for these customers?  Or to your capital investment plan, I guess I should say.

MS. BAILEY:  So recognizing that customers' preference was to stabilize, reduce costs, we determined that we would not implement the total quantities as suggested in the asset condition assessment.  So reduce the total quantities, thereby reducing the total cost in our 2017 test year.

MS. LEA:  So it's what you have already spoken of then in your evidence today and in the DSP.

MS. BAILEY:  Yes, and including we altered the grid modernization plan to target specifically those large users and small commercial customers versus having it as a general customer initiative.

MS. LEA:  And Mr. Mace, given the results that we see on the screen here, do you believe some further reduction in capital expenditures is necessary to respond to this customer preference as expressed?

MR. MACE:  So the question was, do I believe, given that residential customers value cost over reliability.  As I said before, I think it's our responsibility to balance those two.  It's an interesting time that we are living in, in terms of electricity rates where cost is upfront.  I suspect, you know, anecdotally if you surveyed customers who had had some kind of extended outage, especially in cold months, the results of the survey would be somewhat different.

You would probably have residential customers who think that, yeah, it would be perfectly appropriate not to spend any money refurbing your system right now in order to reduce rates, but I think in balance we are proposing a prudent amount of spending in that regard in order to take care of our customers in the long-term.

MS. LEA:  Okay, thank you.  I wonder if we could look at the compendium, page 61, please, and this is interrogatory 2-Staff-26.  In Part (b) we asked you about annual operational savings from certain programs.  And so what page 61 of the compendium shows is page 171 of your response.  And you said that you will correlate OM&A spending in the forecast years -- no -- yeah, pardon me.  You will take away OM&A spending in the forecast years and correlate it to the anticipated cost savings.

Can you describe what you mean by that, how you will do that, what that answer is intended to tell us?

MS. BAILEY:  Can you just refer me to the interrogatory question --

MS. LEA:  Yes, certainly.

MS. BAILEY:  -- not just the compendium?

MS. LEA:  Perhaps it's best that we pull up the entire interrogatory, if you wouldn't mind.  It's page 171 of that PDF that holds the original interrogatories.  Rather, I think it starts earlier than that, but...

Okay.  So if we scroll down to (b), the question was, as we see before us now on the screen:

"Are the trends in capital and O&M spending related to achieving these cost savings being tracked?  If 'yes', please provide, if 'no', please describe the steps being taken by Thunder Bay Hydro going forward."

So now if we scroll down to your answer to (b) -- no, keep -- yeah, keep going, please.  There we go.  It's on page 171, at the bottom.  You say:

"No, trends in spending are not being tracked in relation to these potential cost savings.  Thunder Bay Hydro is planning to monitor the status of OM&A spending in the forecast years and correlate it to the proposed cost savings identified in part (a) above."

So what is it you are planning to do here?

MS. BAILEY:  I will speak to that.

So as we said, we don't currently track potential cost savings that occur as a result of some of these programs, but by example, how we are proposing to track those, you could look at station retirements in the response, section (f).

So you can see here that we're --

MS. LEA:  Can we scroll down to that section, section (f), below?  It would be below.

MS. BAILEY:  Right there.

MS. LEA:  Okay, thank you.

MS. BAILEY:  So we have in here what we consider our annual O&M costs avoided based on contract, site liability, average land tax, water cost, hydro cost, and so we anticipate we will see the O&M costs avoided based on this and projected savings throughout 2017 to 2021.  And so we would, again, track that those costs have indeed resulted in cost savings to the utility from our O&M side.

MR. MACE:  If I may, I think that's a good response.  Part of the challenge is you know you are going to achieve these savings.  Depending on what the savings are it's not worth the effort in tracking and reporting and, you know, it would be difficult to track and report, you know, small parts associated with stations.  But it is easier to track, and I expect to see down the line, well, what were our station's costs previously, which included all of these savings -- or all of these costs, what are they now that we have eliminated half of our stations?  That should be reportable and identifiable.

MS. LEA:  Yes, because it may be that some costs will be necessary for other stations.  So you have to look at it as a group?  Is that what you are saying?

MR. MACE:  Yes, yes.  So, I mean, down the road if something as significant as station savings is something you can kind of wrap a box around, you can say, okay, what have I eliminated -- if Grenville station has now been decommissioned, what have I eliminated?  Well, I used to pay tax and utilities and, you know, maybe down the road I have one less station electrician and those kind of costs.  Those I think are perfectly trackable, and we can look at that in the future.

MS. LEA:  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions on the capital and -- capital expenditure and DSP issues.  I am listed at the end for the OM&A cross-examination, so we will see if I have any questions by that time, but I anticipate having a few, so that completes my examination with respect to the first issues listed in the hearing plan, thank you.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Ms. Lea.  Ms. Grice, you are next on the list.  How do you prefer -- do you like to keep it all together, or would you want to start with like half an hour of cross-examination?

MS. GRICE:  I am happy to get started.

MS. DUFF:  That's great, thank you very much.

MR. VELLONE:  Are the witnesses okay without a break right now?  Thanks. 
Cross-Examination by Ms. Grice:


MS. GRICE:  Thank you.  It's afternoon; I was going to say good morning, but it's afternoon.  I am Shelly Grice representing the Association of Major Power Consumers in Ontario and I had some questions in the same areas as Ms. Lea, so I will try to make sure I don't replicate my questions.

I do have a compendium. 

MS. LEA:  Are you asking that the compendium become an exhibit for identification, Ms. Grice?

MS. GRICE:  Yes, I am, thank you.

MS. LEA:  K2.2, please. 
EXHIBIT NO. K2.2:  CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM of AMPCO


MS. GRICE:  If we can start off with page 1 of my compendium, please.  This is a copy of a slide presentation that I believe was given by Thunder Bay Hydro at a community day, and I am looking at the second slide, which is need for rate increases. 

The very first bullet says that we need this increase to pay for past and future investments and end of life infrastructure in the amount of 2.8 million or 68 percent of total increase.

I am sure you were probably asked this by participants in that community event, but can you just summarize what you mean by past and future investments and what the key drivers are for that 2.8 million? 

MR. MACE:  Thank you.  So the key drivers -- so for the purpose of presenting to customers, we advised them that we are continuing to invest in infrastructure and at a high level, you know, because it's hard to -- it's hard to engage customers at the level of detail that you see in this application certainly.

But at a high level, we pay for our infrastructure through cash flow that's developed through depreciation, through profit, through cash flow through borrowing, and all of those cash flows have associated cost which is flow into our rate application.  And at a high level, the culmination, the total of those costs represents approximately $2.8 million or, roughly speaking, forms 68 percent of the increase we are proposing.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.  If we can turn now to page 4 of my compendium, please.  Pages 4 and 5 provide a summary of the capital projects that are being undertaken in the test year, 2017, as compared to historical years.  And we have talked about some of these projects, but I just have a few follow-up questions.

In terms of the voltage conversion projects, and they begin halfway down the first page starting with the Brock Fort rebuild, and you had a discussion with Ms. Lea that if you were to defer any of those voltage conversion projects, it could result in failures on specific assets.

I just wanted to ask you does Thunder Bay track the actual failure performance of these particular projects?  Do you track it historically, and are you looking at it now?

MS. BAILEY:  What we track for failure statistics is right now just distribution transformers, distribution transformer failures.  Our plan moving forward into this cost of service year -- perhaps we could go back to your question and just clarify.  Are you asking -- can you ask that again?

MS. GRICE:  I was asking specifically on say a particular line, if you're monitoring that, if you're monitoring the failure rates on that line.  But then I would also like to ask about the specific assets that you are tracking failure rates on.

So if we can go back to the first question, it's more or less monitoring the failure performance of these particular voltage conversion projects.

MR. MACE:  So we do track outages and we have already briefly touched on the outage statistics.  So we track outages by feeder, and all projects are usually a portion of feeder or multiple feeders.  So we have those statistics and we also apply -- when we record the outage statistics relative to a feeder is where we assign failure cause or,  you know, weather. 

So we do track and it's not perfect.  But we do track defective equipment on a feeder, but we have discussed already the issue of if a tree falls on a feeder and breaks an insulator, was it defective equipment, or was it a tree, or was it weather.  So at the feeder level, certainly we track outage information.

MS. BAILEY:  That's correct and part B of your question, which we I was responding to initially, is that currently we are only tracking failure statistics for distribution transformers.  So that's pad-mount and pole-mount transformers, as well as failures on our underground cables.

However, we plan to track failure statistics on other asset classes moving forward.

MS. GRICE:  Thank you.  We've had a lot of discussion already on poles, so I just want to clarify because there was mention made of if there is a severe weather event that a pole in poor condition could topple.

Do you -- so then am I to understand that you have not been tracking pole failures over time?  Is that something that you do not have data on? 

MR. MACE:  I think we have inconsistent data, I wouldn't call it complete data.  We have data on severe weather events and poles.  But, for instance, very often you will get a pole that's failed, rotted off at ground level and the conductor is actually keeping it from falling, so it gets replaced.  That hasn't necessarily been captured anywhere in an organized manner and that is something we need to continue to work on and improve that.

MS. GRICE:  So is that something you would anticipate that you will have this data before your next cost of service application?  Will you begin tracking it the next four years?

MR. MACE:  So we already do track some of it; it's Inconsistent.  I would anticipate that it will be much more complete by the next cost of service period.

MS. GRICE:  Thank you.  So I just wanted to understand fully where all of the spending is in your capital plan regarding poles, and we have already talked about 2-VECC-13 that that includes the voltage conversion projects and your 25 kV project that is shown -- I will just find it on the  -- it's partway down the page on the first page.  It's sort of five lines up; it shows the spending that's new for 2017 for the 25 kV pole replacements, 584,364. 

MS. BAILEY:  Is this part of your compendium?

MS. GRICE:  Yes, it's page 4 and it's on the capital projects table.  It's just a line item that just puts the dollars to the 25 kV pole replacements.  Do you see that there?

And then if we turn the page, you have got small pole replacements, and that's at the very top, the top line on page 5.  And you have got spending there in 2017 of 342,512 and to my understanding, the quantities of poles under both of those programs were captured under 2-VECC-13.

MS. BAILEY:  Yes.

MS. GRICE:  Along with the voltage conversion projects.  And then if you look down a little bit further there is line safety reports.  And the spending there has increased from 495,879 to 761,834 in 2017, and my understanding that, that line safety reports is also a pole replacement program, that the majority of the assets that are replaced under that spending is also poles?

MS. BAILEY:  That's correct.  So any of the line safety reports, A17, small pole replacements, A16, and 4 kV conversions are all captured under our 4 kV and 25 in 2-VECC-13.  Those quantities are captured, as well as those dollar values.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  And under the line safety reports, are those unplanned replacements primarily?

MS. BAILEY:  Those are replacements that occur within the year, so, yes.

MS. GRICE:  And so can you just explain why that amount is going up for 2017?

MS. BAILEY:  So the line safety reports -- and I could probably refer you in the DSP.  There is a capital project summary that talks about that specific projects, its drivers.

So it is -- the work that comes out of that is, as it's name implies, safety reports, so reports that come from our staff or our customers and are typically a result of our risk assessments that happen.

And so we have seen a trending upward of concerns that have occurred.  We would -- we anticipate that we will be doing more planned work and less unplanned work moving forward.

MS. GRICE:  And is there anywhere in the evidence that captures the number of poles that are being replaced under the line safety report project?

MS. BAILEY:  Well, in that 2-VECC-13 they are incorporated in there, as typically we incorporated them as 25 kV poles.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.

MS. BAILEY:  So those total numbers you see in 2-VECC-13, those capture all of the poles we plan to replace from -- in this cost-of-service application that includes both the small pole replacements and line safety reports.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  So if I added up just the dollar value of the three projects we just talked about, so that being the 25 kV pole replacements, the small pole replacements, A16, and the line safety reports, A17, and it adds up to approximately $1.7 million worth of pole replacements.

But what that does not include is the pole replacement dollars under the voltage conversion projects.  Do you have an estimate of how much of the 2017 total $5.3 million of voltage conversion projects is related to pole replacement?

MS. BAILEY:  So related, you mean just specifically to replacing the poles and does not --


MS. GRICE:  Replacing those assets.

MS. BAILEY:  So the costs we have in 2-VECC-13 includes the cost to replace the pole as well as the other distribution assets at the same time.  So if you see here under 2017, 4 kV poles planned for replacement, 5-million-367, so that's pole replacement, as well as the other assets included within those projects.  We don't break it out, not the stations.  But we don't break it out separately how much does it cost to replace the pole and how much does it cost to replace the substation transformer, because there is an inclusion of those costs in the project.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  We just know that it's more than 1.7 million being spent on poles in 2017.

MS. BAILEY:  Yes.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  That's great, thank you.

Can we please turn to page 8 of the AMPCO compendium.  So we just asked a question about how much of your capital program is being undertaken by external contractors from the period 2012 to 2021.  And starting in 2017, the amount of work increases, and I guess my first question is, is that primarily due to the increase in the system renewal work that is being proposed?

MR. MACE:  It is a combination of the increase in the system renewal work and current staffing issues that we have, including staff that are on LTD, vacancies.  I don't have a breakdown of the two components.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  That's fine, thank you.  And has Thunder Bay done any analysis of the costs for the contractor to undertake the same work as Thunder Bay Hydro's staff?

MS. BAILEY:  We have.

MS. GRICE:  And can you share that with me, please?

MS. BAILEY:  I can.  So the costs are relatively similar.  There are areas such as right-of-way work where Thunder Bay Hydro does not have the equipment, off-road machines and such that we have, where the contractor is at a lower price than if we would have to rent that equipment, rent an operator, or train our staff in order to do that work.

So there are types of work where it's beneficial to use a contractor for.  But generally the costs are relatively similar when you do it on an hourly per cost.

MS. GRICE:  Is the contractor more or less expensive than Thunder Bay Hydro's staff for like work?

MS. BAILEY:  So as I said, they are relatively similar.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  I just --


MR. MACE:  I would say in some cases they have been slightly more expensive, in some cases slightly under.  There is a variation.  They are very similar.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.  If we look at the answer to part (d), which is the ratio of unplanned work to planned work, and that varies year by year, 25 percent unplanned in 2015, and then it reduces to 18 percent in 2016, and I understand that you have set up some performance metrics for your distribution system plan, and one of them is around financial performance, and that being whether or not you've achieved a certain percentage of your actual expenditures, and there is another one around scope management, so I just wanted to break that down a little bit and isolate.

Do you have any metric, so if you were going to spend, say, you know, 10 million on poles, but then unplanned work came up and you still spent 10 million but you didn't spend it on poles, are you tracking your scope management against your actual project list?  Is that something that you are looking at?

MS. BAILEY:  So we track -- we track individual projects that are planned in the year, so each 4 kV -- each project that's listed in our test year, we would track it individually based on its financial performance, and when you talk about unplanned work, that's the line safety reports project, and so we would track not only the financial performance but also the quantities that were replaced under that project.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  I may have misread that.  So that does not refer to, say, new priorities that came in and other work was bumped out?  Would it also include that?

MR. MACE:  So if I understand what you are looking at, so if we had, say, a bad weather event and had 50 poles that we now needed to do, it's very likely that we would bump part of a project in order to accommodate that depending on the scope of the cost.  It has happened in the past.  It will happen again, I'm sure.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  So --


MS. BAILEY:  So just to add to Rob's, if it was a capital cost like replacing of poles due to a weather-related event, that would occur within the year and it would be considered a safety report.  We would track that under the line safety report, so we would have a financial metric and we would know where that sat.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, so within your portfolio of projects, if new work comes in and displaces other work, do you have any metric that you are using to manage cost and scope related to the original portfolio of projects?

MR. MACE:  Sorry, I am not sure I understand your question.  Perhaps the example would be if I have additional work come in and I still need to do the original planned projects, do I do it on overtime and overspend?  How do I control that --


MS. GRICE:  Or do you not --


MR. MACE:  -- process?

MS. GRICE:  -- do it?  That's -- I guess that is what I am getting at --


MR. MACE:  So I think the answer is I don't have a cut-and-dry answer.  It would really depend on the circumstance, on the amount of the extra work coming in and what it was and the amount of the deferral, there could be a number of factors.  Contractor availability could be a factor.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, that's fine, I will move on.  If we can turn, please, to page 32 of the compendium. 

Ms. Lea already, I believe, took you to the this chart which just shows that Thunder Bay's reliability trends are improving over the last five years.  Correct? 

MS. BAILEY:  Correct, we saw this previously. 

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  And then on page 33 of the compendium, I believe there was an update to the reliability information that was provided in the filing, and I believe it specifically referred to changes in the five-year historical average for SAIDI and SAIFI for including outages caused by loss of supply and excluding. 

So just based on that update, I just wondered if you could confirm what targets you are using for your SAIDI and SAIFI based on that update. 

MS. BAILEY:  The targets are set by the Ontario Energy Board and they are listed in our OEB scorecard. 

MS. GRICE:  But I had thought that there was a change to those.  Maybe I have -- 


MS. BAILEY:  So there was a change, there was a change in our scorecard.  The targets in 2014, I believe, were a range versus 2015, the OEB set a specific target.  So depending on -- I believe, this was referring -- originally when we were completing the cost of service application it was 2014, and then we updated what was listed in our 2015 scorecard.

MS. GRICE:  Could you just confirm your reliability targets for me? 

MS. BAILEY:  So in the DSP on page 14, if you could bring that up, the DSP shows the preliminary scorecard but the target didn't change.  Under this system reliability -- I will wait until you bring it up. 

If you scroll to the far right on system reliability,  so our target for SAIDI is 1.92 and SAIFI is 3.03. 

MS. GRICE:  Okay, great, thank you very much.  Is this a good time to break, or should I continue? 

MS. DUFF:  I think it's a perfect time to break.

MS. GRICE:  Okay. 

MS. DUFF:  We will break for an hour and return at 1:30 today, thank you. 
--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:28 p.m.
--- On resuming at 1:33 p.m.

MS. DUFF:  Please be seated.  Well, thank you for everyone being punctual and getting back in time.  I appreciate it.  Ms. Grice, are you ready to continue?

MS. GRICE:  Yes, I am, thank you.  There was an issue over lunch that we just wanted to seek further clarification on, and it has to do with that famous 2-VECC-13 that's on page 39 of the Board Staff compendium.  And in that interrogatory you provide the number of poles for 25 kV and 4 kV and buckets of money for each of those categories.  And we just wanted to clarify, from the projects that are listed on page, I believe it's 3 of -- 4 of the compendium of Board Staff -- I am sorry, it's page 5.  If you could just clarify where these projects are located on the table in 2-VECC-13?

MS. BAILEY:  I can.  So in 2-VECC-13 I had broken it out into the number of 25 kV poles planned for replacement and the number of 4 kV poles planned for replacement.  So in terms of the test year -- we will talk about the specifics -- 2017, inside the 193 poles, 1,688,730, are the totality of projects, A16, small pole replacements, A17, line safety reports, and B11140, 25 kV pole replacements.

So all those -- the poles inside those three projects, we consider that those will be typically all 25 kV poles.  Outside of that, the 4 kV poles planned for replacement will be the, what we typically call voltage conversion projects.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  That's great, thank you.  If we can please turn to page 37 of the AMPCO compendium.  And Ms. Lea already took you to these pie charts.  And on pages 37 to 41 it provides the specific breakdown by years for 2012 to 2016.  And then if we can turn to page 42 of the AMPCO compendium.  What I did here was just take the percentages in those pie graphs and put it into a chart.  And I had similar questions as Ms. Lea regarding, you know, major events showing up at zero percent, adverse weather showing up at zero and 1 percent in specific years, and you addressed that it's possible that outages are being put into different buckets.

So for instance, a weather event could be under tree contact or under defective equipment.  Have I characterized that correctly?

MR. MACE:  Yes, you have.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  So there's a couple places in the evidence where Thunder Bay Hydro is relying on these outage statistics in connection to its distribution system plan and what might be -- what you might expect to see with these outage statistics once you implement some of your investment renewal projects, so I just want to explore those a little bit.

This is not in my compendium, and I apologize, but I have given it to your legal team.  But if we can go to ER Staff 84 -- sorry, part (c), I'm sorry.  And the second sentence there it says:

"System renewal expenditures, particularly in wood poles, are expected to reduce weather-related outage frequency because poles in better condition can withstand stronger winds than poles in poor condition."

And so I guess what I am asking is how are you going to be able to do that when your weather statistics are showing up at zero percent?  Are you planning on changing the way that you record your outage data?

MR. MACE:  Yes.  I am planning on trying to get the weather -- the outage data in a more structured consistent method.  One of the outcomes of this cost of service was seeing the inconsistencies year to year in data.  And I see that as a gap.

I don't know that it will ever be perfect, because I still think you have this cause and effect type thing where weather creates something else, but we will have to determine if we -- you know, is it the cause.  If it's bad weather, are all outages bad weather, as opposed to tree and foreign interference, or are they something else.

So my hope is that by the time we get to the next cost-of-service hearing we will have a more consistent approach to it.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.  And then this is just another important one, which is 2-VECC-11, part (c).  And in this one, in part (c), in the response, you say:

"Thunder Bay Hydro plans to use the OEB reported outage statistics as a metric to determine the duration and number of outages caused by defective equipment."

So again, in order to be able to have that metric effective over the rate period, that's another area similar to what you were talking about, where you are going to have to make some adjustments; is that correct?

MR. MACE:  Yes, exactly.  We do have defective equipment data.  I would call it inconsistent and potentially incomplete, and we need to work on that.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.  If we can turn to page 58, please, of AMPCO's compendium.  And in this interrogatory VECC was asking about the specific roles on the Kinectrics team in terms of who did what.  And I am not interested in that per se, but I am interested in just what the inputs were to the asset condition assessment that was done.

And my understanding is that the asset data was provided by Thunder Bay Hydro as an input and then Kinectrics calculated the health index of each asset based on that input data, but Kinectrics did not verify or validate any of the asset condition information; is that correct?

MR. TSIMBERG:  That is correct.  We assumed the data as provided by Thunder Bay Hydro were correct.

MS. GRICE:  So just to confirm, you did not go out and do any asset inspections or anything of that nature.

MR. TSIMBERG:  No.

MS. GRICE:  So you're not able to verify if Thunder Bay's records reflect the conditions of the assets in service.  That's not part of what you did.

MR. TSIMBERG:  Well, the results of asset condition assessment were based on input data as provided by Thunder Bay Hydro.  So we did not verify the data and we assumed the data provided are correct.  So there is no data validation.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.  Can we now turn the page 43, please, of the compendium.  And what this shows is the Weibull probability of failure curves, and again, I don't want to get into a tonne of detail here, but my understanding is you took the available condition data that was given to you by Thunder Bay Hydro, and then the asset degradation curves that were created depended on engineering judgment, because you did not have the removal statistics for the assets and you did not have actual failure data of the assets.

Have I got that right?

MR. TSIMBERG:  Yeah, that's correct.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  And then throughout the evidence there reference is made to:

"Over time it may be possible for Thunder Bay Hydro to gather removal data of the assets and over time there is a plan to gather failure data of the assets."

And then the other thing that was identified is that for each asset category, if there were improvements that could be made to the actual collection of the condition information, if that was filled in as well, you would have a more robust asset condition assessment. 

So just for understanding, if you had all of those pieces, if you had had the removal data, the failure data, and a 100 percent gap for these assets in terms of the condition information that you have, how different would you expect the number of assets flagged for action to be?  Is there -- can you just --


MR. TSIMBERG:  Sure, I will be happy to. The data, input data, the quality of input data -- and there are two measures of input data.  One is called data variability indictor, which basically says some assets have this information, but not all assets.  And the second type of data is data gap; none of the assets have this information.

So once you increase the data availability score, and the goal is 100 percent ultimately, and once you close data gaps and in the report there suggestions are made of how to close and in prioritized manner, meaning that the more important input data is to credibility of health index score and then it will be high on the priority list to get this information.

It's impossible to tell which way the flagged for action plan will go.  What is quite certain, and if you improve your data availability indicator and if you close some of the high level data gaps, the credibility of results will be better. 

And the same goes for when you use removal statistics in generating degradation curves.  Instead of basically the educated opinion of experts, again your link between health index and probability of failure will be more reliable. But in absence of that, that's the best assumptions that could be made.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Is there a frequency of when you would recommend that this be done again, this type of analysis? 

MR. TSIMBERG:  You are referring to asset condition assessment? 

MS. GRICE:  Yes.

MR. TSIMBERG:  The general rule is across industry it has to be repeated on annual basis, because that's how frequently typically you update your annual budgets.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.   If we can now please turn to page 10 of the AMPCO compendium.  I just wanted to start off -- this is just the output of the asset condition assessment that shows the percentage of assets in each of the five categories, ranging from very poor to very good.

My understanding is it's based on the results of that that you developed your levelized flagged --


MR. TSIMBERG:  Flagged for action plan. 

MS. GRICE:  Thank you. 

MR. TSIMBERG:  Yes and no.  This is a first step in developing flagged for action plan.  So this represents only health index.  What it doesn't include for some assets like transformers, it doesn't include criticality, which is impact when they fail because not all transformers are equal.  For the rest of the assets and including transformers, it doesn't include the linkage between probability of failure and health index.  So this is only a health index representation. 

MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.  And then if we can please turn to page 60 of our compendium, in this question in part (a) we were trying to get a sense of, just generally speaking, when an asset's in very poor condition, what's the time frame where you need the take action.  And under part (a) in the last part of the sentence, you indicate that:
"Typically assets found in very poor condition would generally be flagged for action within five years."


And then I want to go back now to page 12 of the compendium.  And I just note that there are three asset groups where the number of assets in year 1 matches up or exceeds the percentage in very poor condition.  And so I will just go through those one by one.

So if we look at wood poles under 4 kV, it shows that 9 percent are being done in year 1.  And if we go back a page to the percentages for that for 4 kV poles, 4 percent are in very poor condition. 

And so I just wanted to understand if the rule of thumb is you are going to do it within five years, what made that asset amount that much greater than the percentage in very poor? 

MR. TSIMBERG:  I think that's going back to your actual previous question, which is valid.  It's not health index; it's not an equal number of assets you replace.  That is to say that if you have X number of assets in very poor condition, in year 1 you replace all very poor assets. That would be the case maybe ten year ago.  That was the methodology when actually health index was interpreted as a driver for flagged for action plan.

Now the advanced methodology includes probability of failure.  What it means is some of the very poor assets are expected to fail and would be replaced; the same goes for poor assets.  And in fact, it's quite possible that some of the assets in year 1 may be in actually fair or even the good category.  The probability of failure of those asset will be less.

But if you have huge population, for example, in the good category, there would be some contribution from that population even with small probability into the first year flagged for action plan. 

MS. GRICE:  Okay, I understand, thank you.  I just need a moment to think about that answer. 

Okay, the piece that I am trying to figure out is that we talked about if you have better data, actual failure rates and better condition assessment data, that the probability of failure curves may change.

MR. TSIMBERG:  That is correct.  And not only that; health index scores themselves may change as well.

MS. GRICE:  Right.  So I guess I am just thinking once you ran the health index analysis, did you consider at all that maybe pacing it over say five years in the absence of that absolute data, what the impact of that approach might have been instead of just absolutely responding to the health index scores?

MR. TSIMBERG:  I just want to go back.  We did not just use health index by itself to derive a flagged for action plan.  In each and every case, we included health index as well as probability of failure -- an in addition in some cases, criticality.

Secondly, yes, we actually like some of the things, so if you look results, you see results that ideally if money were no object and not a field of constraint, that is what would be a levellized action plan.  In some cases we saw peaks or backlogs, in which case we kind of levellized it.  For station transformers, it wasn't a big issue because they were in reasonably good shape.  But levellizing station transformer would also take into account criticality.   For other assets the issues was equally critical, so we did take into account some levellization.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.  If we can turn to page 19 now, please.  I am looking at parts (b) and (c) and I know it's hard the see, but in this question we asked for the number of assets that were going to be replaced by year under each of the asset categories, and I think we have already confirmed this morning that all of the asset quantities in here are captured in the capital projects table. 

There is nothing in the capital projects table that's not in this table; would that be correct?

MS. BAILEY:  That's correct.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  So I just wanted to ask, when you have maintenance replacements, so you have a storm and you have got to replace a bunch of pole, those quantities are not in here; is that correct? 

MS. BAILEY:  So if there was to be a storm, for example, and we needed to replace a pole, that pole does get capitalized because it's new asset in our system.  So that is not planned work; it doesn't fall under the 4 kV or the 25 kV, but it would fall into those two unplanned, so small pole replacements or line safety reports; it would fall under one of those categories.

So we have forecasted how many we expect, how many poles we expect again from historical plus the asset condition assessment, how many poles we expect will fall under those categories.

MS. GRICE:  What about other assets?  What if other assets fail due to an unplanned event?  Where are those -- where is that budget and quantities captured?

MS. BAILEY:  So there is a project in the 2017 test year called transformer switch switchgear, and that captures the other assets, so pad-mount transformers, pole-mount transformers, underground switches, and overhead switches.

MS. GRICE:  Thank you.  And then when you go out and do regular maintenance, you may come across an asset that's not -- that's, say, in very poor condition and you need to replace it.  Am I correct that that budget is captured under OM&A?

MS. BAILEY:  So if it was an asset that needs to be replaced like a pad-mount transformer that was discovered either leaking or detective, rusted, for whatever reason, then it would be captured under that transformer switch switchgear.  Because it's a new asset to our system it needs to be capitalized.  Therefore, it goes into our capital envelope --


MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Well, that's helpful, because that's what I am trying to get at is just the total number of assets that are being replaced every year.  There's nowhere else in your application where we can point to where there is additional budget and asset quantities that are being replaced; this is it?

MS. BAILEY:  This is it.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, that's great, thank you.

Okay.  If we can turn to page 56, please, of the compendium.  So in part (c) we asked if Mr. Tsimberg looked at the historical replacement rates that Thunder Bay Hydro has typically done for each asset category, and the response was that because they weren't necessarily based on condition that they were not considered.  So I -- correct?

MR. TSIMBERG:  Yes.

MS. GRICE:  So I just put a few pages in the compendium from -- and this is beginning at page 62 -- from your last application, and it's not -- I don't want to get into a lot of details, but I just want to understand.  On page 62, starting at line 19 -- and you have already mentioned this, that you inspect your assets on a three-year cycle.  And then it says on -- starting at line 25 that:

"In general the asset condition assessment findings have provided a critical input to Thunder Bay Hydro's asset replacement strategy and have been used to establish capital replacement rates necessary for the sustainment of overhead distribution assets, underground distribution assets, and distribution station assets."

And if we just turn the page, under your asset management initiatives your first bullet is an asset condition assessment.

So I just wanted to understand what you did last time and what asset condition data that you had.  And my understanding is that in that application you developed a 20-year asset renewal plan.  You indicated at that time that you had a backlog of assets that needed to be replaced.  So I am just trying to understand what condition information you had then and how you used it in this application.

MS. BAILEY:  So it was very similar.  Again, we performed risk assessments as per the Distribution System Code every three years.  We have improved upon that risk assessment to include more criteria for reviewing a pole, say, looking at the top, whether it's cracked or not, so we have included more criteria in those risk assessments, but when it spoke about in 2012 an asset condition assessment, it wasn't what we are referring to in this application, which was an asset condition assessment done by Kinectrics which incorporates a health index and a probabilistic failure.  We didn't have that sophisticated of an asset condition assessment in 2012.  It was essentially the risk assessments, what we call risk assessments, which are inspections of all the assets and then our own internal subject-matter expert's idea of what the risks were for failure.

So the evolution of what has happened in terms of an asset condition assessment was from just assessment portion to again incorporating now health index, criticality of assets, probabilistic failure into that creation of a health index for all of the assets.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Thank you, that's helpful.

And if we can just please go to page 67.  And this again -- this is from the last application, but it shows what you knew at that time regarding the health distribution for poles.  And red, I understand, is -- could be aligned with very poor in this application, would you agree?

MS. BAILEY:  I don't think they are exactly aligned with how Kinectrics creates their health index calculations.  Internally, we created these red, orange, yellow, purple, blue at the time in 2011, and the red was a "replace immediately".  So that was in the opinion of the inspector looking at that policy they believed red, that pole needed to be replaced immediately, and then further on, was it within a year, was it within five years, was it within ten years, over 20 years.  So it was their opinion of the state of the pole.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  And then if we just turn to page 69, please, of the compendium.  I just did up a quick table, and I am asking that you accept it subject to check, but I put together the percentages from the colours that you used back in the last application.  So for instance red, you had about 2 percent of your poles in the red category, and then on the right-hand side if you want to verify where I got the information on page 68 of the compendium, it's the wood poles health index distribution, and that's from the asset condition assessment.  But essentially very poor poles, there are 238, so now there's 1.2 percent, which seems to flow.  You would expect that over time as you are replacing very poor poles you will have less; correct?

MS. BAILEY:  You would expect that you have replaced those very poor poles, but then some of the poor has then flowed into very poor, the fair has flowed into poor, so it's a continuing model.  You can't -- I think there's a very difficult time to never have any very poor or poor poles in your system unless you have just built it all.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Okay, and so we have this information that I could find on poles with respect to some information on condition from the last application.

Did you do up similar pie charts for other asset groups?  Did you have that data last time?

MS. BAILEY:  I am not sure off the top of my head.  I'd have to look back at the application from 2012, 2013.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  No, that's fine.  I just want to come full circle on this.  So I understand Kinectrics did not look at the historical condition data or replacement rates.  But when you took the current Kinectrics report and then you developed your investment plan and you set your asset units by year, did you look back at the condition data that you had last time and what your historical trends were when you set the future investment plan?  Was that something that Thunder Bay Hydro looked at?  Or was this a fresh start?

MR. MACE:  So I am not -- we are a little unsure what you are asking.  I would characterize the way we previously assessed condition then and now as different, to the point where they are probably loosely comparable, but I wouldn't draw any operating conclusions from them.

In terms of trends, we have continued to replace because we know regardless of the relative measure of condition we have a backlog of infrastructure in poor condition.  So I am not sure what else --


MS. GRICE:  Well, I guess in your last application you set out a 20-year investment plan that went from 2013 to 2033, so you had asset quantities set for '16, '17, '18, '19, and you did some condition assessment work at that time to set those quantities.  I guess what I am asking is when you then received the new Kinectrics report and you looked forward and you wanted to set your asset quantities, did you look back at that work that was done then and compare the quantities to assure yourselves that you had, say, an insufficient asset renewal rate that was developed back in 2012; did you do that type of comparison? 

MS. BAILEY:  I would say internally we did that type of thing, like validated our assumptions and our quantities that we were proposing for the 2717 plan. 

You know, when you are operating a system and you see what's happening day-to-day, you start to get an idea of where the defects are, where the lack of attention is happening towards the system.  And can see that in the application where the increase in line safety reports and small pole replacements and transformers occurred in 2015, I believe, in our 25 kV system as a result of focussing primarily on the 4 kV.

So we were already starting to see that we needed to place more attention, more investment focus in those areas. So it was not a total surprise when the asset condition assessment came back to say, you know, here is your split between assets, here's your number of assets, it looks like you have been not investing properly in those 25 kV areas. 

And so it validated perhaps some intuition we had on what was happening within the system and looking at those historical years.  So in that way, we did think about what was happening in our system and look at -- there was no formal, if that's what you are asking about.

MS. GRICE:  No, that's fine.  That's fine, thank you.  If we can just turn to page 44 of the compendium, please, on this page, Kinectrics looked at some benchmarking considerations and Figure 4 shows Thunder Bay Hydro's 2015 reliability. 

And if we turn to page 46, please, in this third paragraph -- and I will just quickly read it.  It says:
"Since most of the equipment caused outages are due to line component failures and Thunder Bay Hydro spent the least amount per line kilometre and close to the lowest cost per customer among the peer LDCs, while experiencing by far the highest number of outage frequency rate and second highest outage duration rate, it could be included based on this benchmarking that Thunder Bay Hydro is under spending on its line assets."

 So I just want to pause there, because we had a discussion this morning about how reliability can change one year from the next based on the number of storms, the number of scheduled outages, the number of major event days, it can change your reliability statistics a lot.

 So just on page 45 -- I just grabbed a year and I went to 2013, and it shows there that actually Thunder Bay Hydro is performing better than its peers. 

 So I just wanted to ask, in terms of benchmarking, if it might be better to lock at reliability over a longer time frame to be able to draw a conclusion that Thunder Bay Hydro is under spending on its line assets.  Would you agree?

MR. TSIMBERG:  Well, I would generally speaking agree that if you have a rolling average, it's probably a better indicator of your reliability.  Within the scope of the report, I only looked at 2015 which was on the OEB website and I only compared with a peer group recommended by OEB as well.

So the basis of my conclusion as qualified here is based on 2015 results, not on a rolling average, and whether it would be better or not.  Perhaps if you have a rolling average, it's more accurate.  But that was the basis of my conclusion here.

MS. GRICE:  So if were to look at another year where Thunder Bay Hydro is performing better, it may be that the same conclusion couldn't be drawn that they're under spending on their assets? 

MR. TSIMBERG:  I can't guess what will happen next year.  If I could, well -- 


MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.  I am getting to the end. Page 49, please.  This was just the end of the Kinectrics report, and in the second last bullet it says that existing capital -- sorry, I need to just clarify that. 

What the assessment was was to do a high level overview of how the DSP is compatible with the chapter five requirements.

So the second last bullet says:  "The existing capital planning process includes prioritization."

Do you have any recommendations for Thunder Bay Hydro in terms of how they are doing their prioritization?  Is that something you can comment on?

MR. TSIMBERG:  Yeah, I think they do have prioritization; I think we talked about it earlier today and the methodology they have.  I think it could be improved and I think what I have heard is they have made a commitment to kind of re-evaluate the way they prioritize the investments and, going forward, perhaps refine what they have.

That would be my statement.  I think they do have prioritization.  I have not seen an ideal one yet; every different utility has a different prioritization methodology.  Some are some more subjective, some less subjective, and I am assuming that the next version of Thunder Bay's prioritization will be less subjective. 

MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.  I just have a question, please, on page 51 of the compendium.  And this lays out the other factors that Thunder Bay would have considered beyond the asset condition assessment in terms of setting the system renewal investment level budget for the test period.  And I just want to go down and look at financial constrains. And it says there that under example of incorporation, strategic reduction of the budget to meet the required envelope.

Can you explain how that was done, please?

MS. BAILEY:  Certainly.  So what that means is that there was a budget envelope which was discussed with our president and our vice president of power systems, and we took our projects and we prioritized not just the projects within 2017, but also projects that flowed into 2018.

And so when the budget envelope was decided upon, it was -- the prioritized projects were then created within that envelope.  So we determined which ones needed to meet that budget envelope.  Does that -- your face is --


MS. GRICE:  No, no, that's fine; I think I understand.  So it was a top-down exercise? 

MR. MACE:  It was a bit of an iterative exercise, but the ultimate size of the system renewal budget was top down, driven by me. You could justify more, but I wasn't willing to incorporate more into rates at this time. 

MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.  I have one last question and it's in a completely different area.  It's under general plant and it's 2-AMPCO-18 and it's not in my compendium.  But if we can just bring it up.  This is an AMPCO interrogatory where we asked for a list of each vehicle and there were a bunch of factors that we asked to be included and one was utilization rate.

I note in the response around utilization rate it says not applicable, and then there is an asterisk under part (c) on the last page.  It says that utilization rate is not a metric -- utilization rate is a metric that is not tracked or recorded by Thunder Bay Hydro.

So I just wanted to understand how you look at your fleet.  Do you recall record kilometres?  Like is there some way you evaluate how often that vehicle is being used, and how many hours are on it in terms of your renewal strategy?

MS. BAILEY:  I can speak to the number of hours.  So our workers, when they use a truck, they do put that truck on their time sheet so time that they use it is charged to whatever work order they are on and that is charged to that applicable truck.  Outside of that I think we don't calculate a specific utilization rate.  We know how many hours, how many kilometres there are on each vehicle.  We know the maintenance on those vehicles, but we don't have a specific utilization rate that we are tracking.

We do, outside of something we call a fleet availability rate, so that tracks the down time of a vehicle, so how often you could use that vehicle versus when it's in the shop or when it's having maintenance done.

MS. GRICE:  And do you know if any of your peer group utilities utilize a utilization rate?

MS. BAILEY:  I am not sure.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  I am finished, thank you.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  You are well ahead of your estimated time.  Thank you very much, Ms. Grice.

Ms. Lau, ready to proceed?

MS. LAU:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Good afternoon.

VECC did file a compendium which I will be referring to and which I don't believe includes any new evidence that was not already on the record.  Does that meet to be entered as an exhibit?

MS. LEA:  Yeah, we mark it for identification even though there is no new evidence in it, so just for identification purposes, K2.3, please, the VECC compendium.
EXHIBIT NO. K2.3:  CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM OF VECC.
Cross-Examination by Ms. Lau:


MS. LAU:  Okay.  I'm actually going to switch so I can face the Panel.

All right.  So first just a request for some updated data.  In Thunder Bay Hydro's response to interrog 2-AMPCO-6, TBH provided annual charts of outage causes based on outage duration, and a sample of that is provided on page 7 of our compendium.

Do you have similar charts for outage frequency that you might be able to provide us?

MS. BAILEY:  For the 2012 through to 2015 years?

MS. LAU:  Yeah, the annual charts.

MS. BAILEY:  We don't have the charts created, but we have the data behind it, so...

MS. LAU:  If that could be provided without it being too onerous, I think that would be helpful.

MS. DUFF:  I think the charts are sufficient.  You've got the raw data now.

MS. LEA:  I think that might be -- I understand we have an undertaking.

MR. VELLONE:  I am not clear what's being undertaken.  Is the table of the raw data sufficient?  Is that what I am hearing?

MS. DUFF:  Yes, I think that's fine.  I don't need colour-coded circles.

MS. LAU:  Yes, that would be fine by us too.

MS. LEA:  All right.  That will be J2.3, raw data on frequency of outages 2012 to 2015, I believe.  Is it 2012 to '15 or '16?  Oh, I have already asked for '16, so we are looking at '15.

MS. BAILEY:  Just one moment.  I think it might actually be in --


MS. LEA:  Yeah.

MS. BAILEY:  -- an interrogatory, so I am just going to...

MS. LEA:  Oh, great.

MS. BAILEY:  If you look to 2-VECC-5 in the interrogatory, page 145, on section B.  If you zoom in there, you will see customer interruptions, as well as customer hours of interruptions.  So the customer interruptions are the frequency.  So SAIFI versus the customer hours are duration.

MS. LAU:  Okay.  So that was the same data that was used for the outage duration charts?

MS. BAILEY:  That's correct.

MS. LAU:  Okay, thank you very much.

MS. LEA:  So we won't have an undertaking then in that case, thank you.

MS. LAU:  Turning to page 3 of our compendium, these are -- this has been brought up during previous lines of questioning already, and I will try to minimize the overlap.  These are Thunder Bay Hydro's SAIFI and SAIDI results for the last few years, and it appears as though this data, although increasing slightly recently historically lower than previous years.  This indicates that your proposed capital expenditures are not necessarily based on higher outages, therefore; am I correct?  That your proposed capital expenditures are not based on there being higher outages necessarily?

MS. BAILEY:  Our distribution system plan and the asset replacement quantities are based on our asset condition assessment and not on the reliability.

MS. LAU:  Okay, yes, thank you, just looking for confirmation there.

Turning to page 9 of our compendium now.  In response to interrog ER Staff 80, Mr. Tsimberg, you speak to the relationship between capital investment and improved reliability in the form of lower number or duration of outages due to equipment failure rather than SAIDI or SAIFI data.

Would that therefore be a good metric to measure the effectiveness of the DSP?

MR. TSIMBERG:  Can you please repeat that one?  I want to make sure I understand your question.  You are talking about in terms of number of outages as just a number, as opposed to --


MS. LAU:  Number of outages due --


[Multiple Speakers]


MR. TSIMBERG:  -- SAIDI?

MS. LAU:  -- to equipment failure.

MR. TSIMBERG:  Well, I think it's important to remember when it comes to outages due to equipment failure there are two types of outages due to equipment failure.  The outages due to equipment failure where equipment is at the end of life and can't perform as designed, that's one type of outages caused by equipment failure.  The second type is what happened through the life of equipment.  You will have some outages.  That doesn't mean that equipment is at end of life.  Equipment can continue to function, but nevertheless would cause an outage.

So it depends how it's tracked.  Generally speaking total of the two is really equipment-produced outages.

MS. LAU:  My question is whether that would be a good metric for measuring kind of the impact of the DSP --


MR. TSIMBERG:  Yes, it would.  Yes --


MS. LAU:  -- as opposed to merely relying on SAIDI and SAIFI.

MR. TSIMBERG:  Yes, it would.

MS. LAU:  Are there any other metrics you can think of that would also be helpful in assessing the impact of the DSP?

MR. TSIMBERG:  Sure, there are many metrics that could be; for example, amounts of corrective maintenance over time.  And ideally if investments are made correctly the amount should not go up each year.

MS. LAU:  And would Thunder Bay Hydro then commit to reporting on these types of metrics to be able to measure the impact of the DSP in the future?

MS. BAILEY:  Yes, I think we would like to develop a way to track that metric.  It is something we have to think about, how to track corrective maintenance versus just regular maintenance that happens on your system.  So trying to figure out how to separate those two out and how they relate to the distribution system plan implementation.

MS. LAU:  Okay, thank you.  So I am looking at tables that are on pages 20 and 23 of our compendium, but it appears from your evidence that you are proposing to ramp up your capital spending compared to the past five years, so this is an averaging of the spend by about $1 million per year; is that right?  So I am looking at 2012 to 2016, the average we calculated was 11.8 million, versus the 2017 to 2021 average of about 12.8 million.

MS. BAILEY:  Are you looking at specifically system -- just system renewal then, or? 

MS. LAU:  I am, yes, sorry, this is a specific line. 

MS. BAILEY:  So the increase from '16 to the '17 is just over one million in system renewal. 

MS. LAU:  Actually, I think it's total expenditure, but --


MS. BAILEY:  So can you just clarify the question? 

MS. LAU:  Just the proposed increase is about $1 million per year, just to confirm that. 

MS. BAILEY:  Overall from '16 to the '17, total capital expenditures? 

MS. LAU:  Yes, compared to the last five years, so 2012 to 2016 and then 2017 to 2021.

MR. MACE:  I am sorry.  For clarity, you are asking to compare the average capital expenditure for '17 to '21 to the average capital expenditure from '13 to '16? 

MS. LAU:  Yes, that's right.  I think it's 2012 to 2016.

MR. MACE:  I don't know, that's not my question. 

MS. LAU:  Okay.  That is just what we calculated, but I think it's about a million dollars per year.  But to my knowledge, this is not necessarily driven by a larger customer base but by kind of this new philosophy which you have put forward in your DSP; is that correct? 

MS. BAILEY:  So the system renewal is driven by our -- one of the inputs was our asset condition assessment and the condition assessment of our assets.  And of course included in there is some costs under the system service category, which was the grid modernization plan.  So that was the targeted improvements for large users and small commercial customers. 

System access remains relatively stable, and general plant decreases over the next five-year period. 

MS. LAU:  Okay, thank you.  So just turning to page 27 of our compendium, this is taken from TBH's DSP chapter 5, which provides an asset management strategy flowchart.  One of those inputs into that flowchart is reliability data.  Can you just briefly explain what that means or what that is based on? 

MS. BAILEY:  Yes, I can. So reliability data is not only what we track for the OEB IRR reporting requirements, but also we track it on a per feeder basis, so where the outages are occurring.

Internally, we track our worst performing feeders and we do an analysis on those to determine whether there are any changes we need to make to our system, whether that be reclosers, replacements, what have you. 

MS. LAU:  Sorry, you said you track that.  How do you track that, or what kind of inspection is done?

MS. BAILEY:  That's just based on outage statistics.

MS. LAU:  Okay.

MS. BAILEY:  So when an outage occurs on a specific feeder, we would attribute that frequency and that duration to a specific feeder.

MS. LAU:  Okay, thank you.  So according to evidence you provided and which is set out in pages 31 to 32 of our compendium, you say poles represent about 70 percent of your system renewal budget. 

May I just ask how much of your total asset rate base is made up of poles? 

MS. BAILEY:  So this excerpt that you are pulling from page 60 of the distribution system plan was our historical process.  So if I can read it out loud just so that -- so traditionally, Thunder Bay Hydro utilized the average age of its assets and through detailed analysis determined 700 poles.  This 700 pole replacement target accounted for approximately 70 percent.

So this was our historical 700 pole target where we have updated our pole replacement quantities again to be aligned with the asset condition assessment. 

MS. LAU:  Okay.  Sorry, so this 70 percent number is no longer kind of current?

MS. BAILEY:  No.

MS. LAU:  Okay.  I am also pulling this from that same section, so I am not sure whether the information is still accurate.  But there is a table on page 31 of our compendium where TBH states that the inspection method of its poles is visual.  Can you just run through how that works, what your visual inspection includes?  I believe you briefly explained it earlier, but -- 


MS. BAILEY:  Sure.  So it is a visual inspection, that's correct, with our pole mount transformers.  As an example, a subject matter expert or a lineman would go out with a tablet.  They have a form that has different criteria that they need to either check box or fill in comments regarding the condition of a pole.  We used to do hammer testing, and that is an option where they can list out whether it is an end of life pole and they have done a hammer test.  So what that is is you take a hammer and take hit the pole and listen to the sound it makes.  It is again subjective rather than objective.

So that is, that is what our visual inspection includes, and then that data is put into that form, it's put into our GIS system, and is then available to the engineers at the office to review.

MS. LAU:  So are all poles hammer tested, or just a portion of them?

MS. BAILEY:  They are not all hammer tested.  It's not a reliable way to determine the condition of the pole.  A more reliable method would be actual pole testing with a --maybe Yury can speak to that.

MR. TSIMBERG:  Yeah, I think there are different stages of getting condition data.  One is inspection and pretty well across all utilities, it's the accepted norm in accordance with the Distribution System Code in Ontario. There is frequency of foot patrols depending on whether it's a urban or rural location; I think it's once every six years in rural and once every three years in urban.

It's visual inspection.  It is less intrusive and the least accurate in the result.

The next step is hammer tests.  So suspected poles, and usually there's a threshold of age for being hammer tested.  And depending on an experienced lineman, they may decide to do further testing which may be using a resistograph or other methodologies for determining accurately what the condition of the pole is.

MS. LAU:  Any of your poles, do they undergo this further testing? 

MS. BAILEY:  No, we don't have any equipment that would do testing outside of what we have currently.

MS. LAU:  Is any of your asset -- any of the asset conditions based on age assessment? 

MS. BAILEY:  The age is certainly listed when they go out and do their inspection, so they will check and see if there is a date stamp on the record on submit that, so we can update our records if we don't have that already.

MS. LAU:  So it's on the form they are filling out?

MS. BAILEY:  Um-hmm.

MS. LAU:  And does Thunder Bay Hydro have a database indicating the general condition of specific poles, or just poles generally?

MS. BAILEY:  We do.  So the data that comes back from the risk assessments in tablet form gets input into our GIS system.  It's a geographic information system, so that information is a data set held geographically in there that we can use when we are determining areas to replace.

MS. LAU:  And that's related to the specific pole?

MS. BAILEY:  To that specific pole.

MS. LAU:  Okay.  Sorry, Mr. Tsimberg, did you state that visual inspection data tends to be the least accurate? Is that what you said?

MR. TSIMBERG:  Yes.  

MS. LAU:  Just on the same table, on page 31, one of the inspection methods listed is detailed.  Can you just tell me briefly what a detailed inspection method might be?

MS. BAILEY:  I think we actually added that as an appendix to our DSP, but I can't find it right now, so I will just talk you through it instead.

So our pad-mount transformers, rather than just look at the outside of a transformer, the staff that is going out to assess them will actually open the lid, take pictures, you know, touch it, see what's going on in there, so it's -- the detailed inspection is, rather than just looking at it from far away, they are getting up close and taking more data points, more criteria that are available.

MS. LAU:  Okay, thank you.  I am just going to move on to your report now, Mr. Tsimberg.

MR. TSIMBERG:  Sure.

MS. LAU:  I am referring to page 43 of our compendium.  So Mr. Tsimberg, in your report you discuss what are called condition parameters, which are used by the health index formula.

Are these condition parameters reliant on the condition of asset data provided to you by Thunder Bay Hydro?

MR. TSIMBERG:  Yes.

MS. LAU:  And if that data is less accurate or perhaps poor, how does that affect the HI modelling?

MR. TSIMBERG:  It doesn't affect HI modelling.  What happens is if data availability indicator is less, if you have fewer data points, the credibility of your score would be less than if you have more data points.

MS. LAU:  Okay, thank you.  And how do you ensure the reliability of your model?

MR. TSIMBERG:  Well, we have done probably three dozen assessments across different utilities in North America and we customize in each case the formula based on input from utility stuff, and one more thing we do is we calibrate our results, so when we have initial set of results we run it by utility, which is part of our project, just to see it makes sense.

If it's totally not aligned up with what they expect, some small changes are expected, but if it's totally outside, for example, if they think all the transformer then are fantastic shape and we find that most of the transformers are not, there's either problem with input data, problem with the formulas, but if you find generally speaking health index distribution across certain asset categories similar to what they expect based on the experience and in some cases past history, then it means that our formula makes sense.

MS. LAU:  Okay.  Thank you.  But that does depend largely on the input data.

MR. TSIMBERG:  Yes, the better data quality of input data, the better its credibility of results.

MS. LAU:  Okay.  Thank you.  Turning to page 47 of our compendium, it provides Table III-4, which was also in your report, I believe, Mr. Tsimberg.  Is this the table you were referring to in your response to interrog 2-SEC-63, which is about data gaps, and which is provided on page 46?

MR. TSIMBERG:  Well, this table actually is a combination of two measures of quality of data.  It combines data availability, which is average data availability, and that I said, you know, ideally it have 100 percent, and the second one actually data gaps.  So when I talk about data gaps I am talking about the right-most column.

MS. LAU:  Okay, yes, I see, thank you.  Would you be able to tell me, Mr. Tsimberg, what a medium to high data gap means?

MR. TSIMBERG:  I think we define it at one of the responses.  I can't remember which one, but...  Generally speaking, the prioritization of data gaps is based on weighting of the parameters associated with those data gaps.

So when with you have general formula and you are missing certain programs -- when I say missing, all assets don't have this input information -- the higher the weighting, this general formula, the higher it is in a priority as a data gap.

MS. LAU:  Okay.  I think -- I believe I understand that.  Thank you.  So the majority of the assets listed in this --


MR. TSIMBERG:  Oh, I am sorry, I think Ms. Bailey just found out the response to your previous question.

MS. LAU:  Okay, thanks.

MR. TSIMBERG:  Assets was medium-high typically have age and some simplified inspection records, so generally speaking --


MS. LAU:  Simplified --


MR. TSIMBERG:  -- as a rule of thumb station assets have more data than line cleaner assets.

MS. LAU:  Thank you.  So the majority of assets listed in this table are identified as either medium to high or high when it comes to the data gaps, so this is the far right column.

MR. TSIMBERG:  Yes.

MS. LAU:  How does this impact the reliability of your final results?

MR. TSIMBERG:  Well the reliability of final results, I am not going to say reliability.  I am not sure it's the right technical terms when it comes to --


MS. LAU:  Whichever you prefer, yeah.

MR. TSIMBERG:  I would say credibility of results --


MS. LAU:  Okay.

MR. TSIMBERG:  -- the lower the data gaps the higher the credibility of results, so I would say in this particular example for station transformers credibility is pretty high, you know, so was data availability.  As you go down the list, if you look at underground cables, underground switches, overhead switches, there are some data gaps.  In some cases overhead was age, so we married age with degradation curves based on probability of failure and that was the only thing we had.

MS. LAU:  Okay, I see.

MS. DUFF:  Can I ask you a question?  At what point do you not provide an estimate or not provide -- like, at what -- like, I am missing -- you only have 26 percent of the data.

MR. TSIMBERG:  Yes.

MS. DUFF:  Where do you draw the line?

MR. TSIMBERG:  When it says here -- it's a fair question.  When it says 26 percent of the data, it means -- in some utilities we actually had the line.  We decided not to have the line here in this case.  So I would say 26 percent, it's not terribly credible.

MS. DUFF:  Well, it's also -- must be -- I mean, given your sample size too, I mean, there is two factors here.  You could have 26 percent of a million poles, but...

MR. TSIMBERG:  Yeah, I think -- yeah.  Well, the way we define sample size is if you have population of, say, 20,000 poles and we only have any information on subset of the population, let's say 15,000 poles, then we will say sample size is 15,000 out of 20,000 poles, so basically we don't know anything at all, including age, about some of the units in this population.

Here what it means is if it is included it means we knew something about some of those units.

MS. DUFF:  And you are confident in then providing an assessment as a result of that data --


MR. TSIMBERG:  Well, the low data availability indicator the less confidence --


[Reporter appeals.]


MR. TSIMBERG:  The lower the data availability indicator and higher the data gaps the less confidence we have in the results.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, sorry for interrupting.

MS. LAU:  Yeah, no worries.

So on pages 48 to 49 of VECC's compendium in response to interrog ER-VECC-7 Thunder Bay Hydro sets out some ways it intends to address these data gaps through its DSP, so Mr. Tsimberg, would these solutions or proposals adequately address your concerns about data gaps?

MR. TSIMBERG:  Well, I am never totally satisfied.  I like to have all the gaps closed and data availability indicator be 100 percent.  It's fairly continuous process, because closing data gaps and increasing data availability indicator, it's not free, so it does entail some O&M costs, and so it's really utility's prerogative how you want to do it.

To me what's important is anytime we do assessment, asset condition assessment, which is a snapshot in time, that there improvements, improvements in data availability scores.  Some of the data gaps are closed and more information is collected, so -- and also sample size increased, so basically from year to year it's impossible to jump from where you are today to immediately have a perfect asset condition assessment, but the intent is every year you improve it, so it's important to have continuous improvement of the process.

MS. LAU:  And just upon reviewing this response, are there any critical factors that you think are missing or should be included?

MR. TSIMBERG:  Well, for any specific asset categories?

MS. LAU:  I am just looking at response (a) to ER-VECC-7.

MR. TSIMBERG:  Well, I would say what you see in the response (a) is pretty good start, because there's two asset categories that represent a significant percentage of asset base, number one.  Number two, they identify a fairly significant backlog and action plan.

So by addressing this data gaps here, and thus increasing the credibility of the health index score, I think that's definitely a step in the right direction.

MS. LAU:  Okay, thank you.  I am going to skip ahead now to page 56 of VECC's compendium.  So in response to ER-VECC-6, Thunder Bay Hydro noted, I believe, that some of its FFAP tables were erroneous and then filed some new ones, and there are multiple ones here. 

How material are these new changes and how do they impact on your DSP? 

MS. BAILEY:  So the changes that were discovered were part of a copy and paste error and it was for the total quantity for ten years.  And what was missed was year 10 and year 9.  And so as this -- as our DSP was only looking at the first five years, there was nothing material that changed within our DSP related to the error found in the flagged for action table. 

MS. LAU:  Okay, thank you, that's helpful. Turning now to page 61 of VECC's compendium -- sorry, there is a slight misnumbering here, but the page that says page 61 in the bottom right corner. 

So in Table 2-11, which is in size 6 font here, there appears to be a pattern where other than in year 2012, Thunder Bay Hydro always tended to under spend its budget. I am looking at the total expenditures line in the actual years.  Can you explain that or why it appears that it seems to be quite a fair amount of flexibility in your budget? 

MS. SPEZIALE:  There's a number of circumstances in each year that would address the budget to actual.  The events centre -- sorry in 2013, there was 453,000 that was budgeted for renewable enabling improvements and that was related to a horizon wind farm that never actually came through, so no funds were spent for that.  And there were a few general plant HAS modem upgrade project that was deferred, and a document management system that was deferred in 2013 as well. 

In 2014, likewise we had additional budgeting for the Horizon Wind Farm and that never, once again, did not happen, 763,000.  An IP phone system of 39,000 was budgeted and deferred.  A stringing machine in general plant; 177,000 was budgeted and deferred. 

And in 2015, there was 1,184,000 that was budgeted for an events centre that did not happen.

So most of the larger gross variances are related to the system access.

MR. MACE:  And it would be important to recognize also that in some of those circumstances, such as the event centre, that's an expenditure that to some degree, or maybe the entire degree would have been offset by capital contributions.  So when you are looking at this table you are looking at gross capital. 

MS. LAU:  Do you mind explaining that to me again?

MR. MACE:  Sure.

MS. LAU:  Thank you. 

MR. MACE:  So to an extent, some of our capital is driven by customer needs.  So you build a large factory.  As a customer, you pay for portions of the service; it's a capital contribution.

So on a gross basis we may have spent two or three hundred thousand dollars on this connection.  But we receive a capital contribution, and so maybe the net amount is only $50,000.  So in the case of the events centre, which was a proposed arena that the city wanted to build, the city never got the provincial and federal funding.  That would have required actually the relocation of a distribution station and some significant underground work and that, to a large extent -- I don't know if it was the entire amount or most of it -- would have been paid for by the city.  So we would have expended it, it would have shown as a capital expenditure and then elsewhere there would have been a capital contribution back from the customer.  So the net effect on our net capital would have been we didn't spend it, but we didn't collect the capital contribution.  So we didn't save money. 

That's a large example, but that happens year to year on a regular basis for --

MS. LAU:  I just going to ask it appears to be a fairly regular occurrence.

MR. MACE:  No, it's a different -- we predict the number of subdivisions that going to come on, we predict the number of large customers that are going to come on.  When we budget, we certainly budget for the contributed along with that, so we budget net amounts, but you are looking at the gross amount here.  So it's not exactly apples to apples.

So in the examples where is it's customer driven and there would be an offsetting capital contribution, it's probably not accurate to say we over budgeted and didn't spend it.  On a net basis, we are still in the same shape whether it went forward or not. 

MS. LAU:  Okay, thank you.  That was however collected through the rates that were charged to customers? 

MR. MACE:  No.

MS. SPEZIALE:  Capital contributions, no, our form of funding from the actual customer involved.  It's not distributed among all the customers.

MS. LAU:  Okay, thank you.  I'd just like to close by stating our concern here is not necessarily that there not be a budget for these expenditures, but it is really about the incremental increase that's required over the next five years, which, as we have calculated it, is about a million -- on average, a million dollars per year. 

So if Thunder Bay Hydro were to be given a smaller capex increase, just slightly -- or maybe half of that, say $500,000 a year, would customers be worse off reliability wise from a reliability standpoint? 

MR. TSIMBERG:  Well, this is going back to same kind of issue.  You can't qualitatively -- you can qualitatively relate a replacement pacing with reliability, but there is no deterministic process to exactly calculate what exact impact on reliability would be.

MS. LAU:  Okay, thank you, that concludes my line of questioning. 

MS. DUFF:  Just to feed off that, I mean your prioritization for the Thunder Bay witnesses, you have them listed from 1 to 21.  So let's go through that exercise.  Let's say that you had $500,000 less, what would that mean?  

MR. MACE:  I think the -- well, the simple answer is if you had, you know, half a million dollars less, you would drop the lowest priority into next year and so forth and so on.  That's the simple answer.

The question of the impact on customers is more complicated because eventually you have a reliability issue, or eventually your asset condition gets worse.  So it's -- you know, you can't draw the direct line in a given year and say if I didn't do it, my reliability would decrease by 2 per cent, but there is an impact eventually.

MS. DUFF:  But remember, like number 20 or 21 was the grid modernization, which is affecting your commercial and industrial customers.

MR. MACE:  Sure.

MS. DUFF:  So that would be an example perhaps of a customer impact from --

MR. MACE:  That would be one that would -- well, it would be a predicted example because just because you install a smart recloser by a commercial customer doesn't mean that next year that reclosure saves them an outage event because maybe there is no outage on that feeder.  But three or four years down the road, maybe it does.  So you can't point to the next year and say there will definitely be an impact the next year.  But in all probability, there will be a negative impact in future years.

MS. LAU:  May I add something? 

MS. DUFF:  Yes, please.

MS. LAU:  We are talking, however, though, at this point about rate-setting for the next five years, yes.

MR. MACE:  Well, we are --


MR. VELLONE:  Not really, no, we are doing a forward test year, so we are only talking really about setting rates for 2017.  Then there is a formula that applies for the balance, so we are talking about 2017 from my point of view.

MS. LAU:  Okay, thank you.

MR. TSIMBERG:  And if I may add?  Is that okay if I add to --


MS. DUFF:  Yes, please.

MR. TSIMBERG:  Okay.  I think the example of system service is actually an example where you try to improve reliability, so the major driver in this case would be improving system reliability and sectionalizers.

When it comes to system renewal, when you replace your assets, you might not necessarily improve --


[Reporter appeals.]


MR. TSIMBERG:  I'm going to slow down.  Sorry.  When it comes to system service, example being more sectionalizers, the driver for the investment would be to improve reliability, and whether it happens or not, but that's a driver.

One of the drivers for system renewal is not only reliability.  I mean, if you have aging assets that may start failing all over the place, you have to replace them, even though it might not have any impact to reliability, particularly when you look at assets replaced proactively  -- that is, before they fail -- they probably haven't failed before, but nevertheless you have to replace them, because if they do fail they have significant impact of failures.

And, yeah, and I guess I want to add one more point.  When it comes to also degradation of assets, you funnel the approach is a good suggestion.  Let's defer some of the replacement into future year.  Unfortunately the degradation is not linear process, it's exponential process, so when assets get worse, when health index goes down, it doesn't mean the probability of failure goes up by the same amount.  It increases exponentially, starting at certain point.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  Mr. Shepherd, would this be an appropriate time to break?  15 minutes?  Why don't we meet at quarter after 3:00.  We are ahead of schedule.  That's wonderful.  And the Board was prepared to sit until 5:00 today.  Was there any constraints for any of the parties?  Okay.  All right, great.  We will meet at quarter after 3:00, thank you.
--- Recess taken at 2:55 p.m.

--- On resuming at 3:18 p.m.

MS. DUFF:  Please be seated.  Mr. Shepherd, are you willing to proceed? 
Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, Madam Chair.  I had prepared 30 minutes of cross today and I see have an hour and 40 minutes, so I will speak slowly.  I am sure I have lots that I can cover. 

These first few questions, Mr. Mace, are for you.  You told your background when you were introduced. 

Oh, by the way, we have a compendium, Madam Chair; perhaps we should mark it.

MS. DUFF:  Yes, the Panel has it.

MS. LEA:  K2.4, please.  
EXHIBIT NO. K2.4:  CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM OF SEC.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Page 2 of our compendium is a short form -- it's actually from the OEB website -- of your bio.  It's fair to say you are very active in the industry; isn't that right?

MR. MACE:  I would say.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And in addition to being CEO of the LDC, you also are CEO of three subsidiaries.

MR. MACE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You have been on the EDA board for many, many years, including at one point you were the chair of the EDA, right?

MR. MACE:  I was.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you are currently the chair of MEARIE.

MR. MACE:  I am.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The MEARIE board sits, what, nine times a year; is that right?

MR. MACE:  No, I don't believe -- I am going to think closer to four, perhaps five. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  But then you are on all the committees, right?

MR. MACE:  No, no.  The MEARIE board has significantly fewer committees.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You are currently on the ESA board?

MR. MACE:  Yes, I am.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And on the IESO stakeholder advisory.

MR. MACE:  I am no longer on the IESO, no.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And on the OEB Chair's advisory committee.  You had a meeting last week in fact, right?

MR. MACE:  I was on vacation at my daughter's wedding, so I didn't attend.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am wondering, do these take up a lot of time, these activities?

MR. MACE:  Some of them take up more time than others.  They take up some time, sure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is there a point at which your board of directors says that this is too much time in the industry and you should be spending more time on the utility?

MR. MACE:  They to date have not.  My perception is to date that they see the time spent in the industry on organizations that deal with industry issues to be valuable.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Have you thought at any time about having other people in your organization take over these involvements, so that you can focus more on the utility?

MR. MACE:  We have several people in the organization involved in other capacities on other organizations.  The IESO stakeholder advisory, frankly one of the reasons I put my name up for renewal and then not applying is that it wasn't worth the time any more.  I only commit to something if I see a value, if I can bring information or if I can help shape industry policy.  If the there is a benefit ultimately to the utility, that's my goal. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. MACE:  So if it becomes too onerous...  

MR. SHEPHERD:  You are also involved in some local Thunder Bay activities, organizations?

MR. MACE:  Loosely, but more I have been approached in the past to be on the chamber board and that kind of thing.  I do find that I am fairly active with industry-type issues and not as much locally. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then you're also in the process of exploring mergers and acquisitions, right?  And we have included a newspaper story on your discussions with Kenora on page 3.

MR. MACE:  We have discussions going on.  I'm not sure that it's relevant to our cost of service rate application, but...


MR. SHEPHERD:  You have discussions going on and you are leading those discussions.

MR. MACE:  Yes. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So how much of your compensation is charged to the utility, what percentage of it? 

MR. MACE:  I stand to be corrected, but I believe 100 percent of my salary is to the utility.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it's assumed that the ratepayers benefit directly from all of these other activities which take up a lot of your time, right?

MR. MACE:  They take up some of my time, yes.  A lot of the time I devote to this, including travel and preposition, is my own time; so after hours and weekends.

MR. SHEPHERD:  How do CEOs have their own time?  I thought that was a misnomer.

MR. MACE:  I think everyone has their own time to the some extent, so I make other sacrifices which include, in the summer my golf game and time spent with family and friends.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the bottom line is ratepayers are paying for all of this stuff.

MR. MACE:  My salary, sure. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I want to then turn to -- and perhaps you can look at page 5 of our materials.  This is an answer to interrogatory, and it flows from a comment you made in your application, page 36 of your application, where you said:
"In practice, the IRM adjustment does not keep up with various costs, such as rising salaries and wages, new initiatives and regulatory compliance requirements."


And I take it it's fair to say that you have been very vocal in the industry in saying that the IRM formula doesn't provide enough funding for LDCs; is that right? 

MR. MACE:  I -- have been personally publicly vocal on that?  I am not sure I'd say that.  I'd say that I've contributed to policy positions of the EDA that relate to that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So for example at the EDA, you would not be seen as one of the voices saying this formula is too lean?

MR. MACE:  Is too? 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Lean, not enough money.

MR. MACE:  At the EDA, I would contribute to those policy discussions.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And it's your view that the formula is not enough, right?

MR. MACE:  It's my view that the IRM formula does not compensate for additional added cost pressures, for example monthly billing, customer engagement, ESA surveys. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, in fact, you said to your board of directors that it doesn't really fund capital spending increases at all, right? 

MR. MACE:  I am not sure. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Look at page 6 of our materials.  Do you recognize this? 

MR. MACE:  I recognize it. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  So this is a page from your November 22nd, 2016, presentation to your own board of directors, right? 

MR. MACE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And what you said is:
"Capital spending increases largely unfunded between cost of service decisions."


Is that right?

MR. MACE:  Largely unfunded between cost of service decisions, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so your conclusion from that, if I understand what you said to your board of directors, is that -- and the way you said it is:
"High increase amount function of cost of service four year cycle."


Which I take it to mean every four years you come in for a whack of money, and then you have very little for the intervening period and then you come in for another whack of money.  And that's in fact what you have said here, right?   2013, 18.53 percent; 2017, right on schedule, 20.9 percent.  Isn't that your view? 

MR. MACE:  My view is if we are increasing capital spending, which we have, then the only time that we are able to come in for capital spending, short of an incremental capital module which in the past we have determined is not appropriate for what we are trying to do. 

So if you are going to increase your capital spending as we are requesting here, it's going to result in a rate increase, probably significantly larger than your IRM rate increase. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, in fact your pattern has been to fund cost of service, you ask for a lot and then you limp  along and then you ask for a lot again, right? 

MR. MACE:  Yes. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's not just for capital, is it? It's also for operating costs, right?  

MR. MACE:  I suppose in some instances the purpose of the cost-of-service application is to scrutinize your operating costs, so if you had cost pressures between cost-of-service applications, as I believe the industry has had and as we have had, then the cost-of-service application is the time to evaluate those and build them into your  rates --


MR. SHEPHERD:  But that's not the --


MR. MACE:  -- I think that's --


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's not the --


MR. MACE:  -- I think that's the purpose of the cost-of-service --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, go ahead.

MR. MACE:  No, I believe that's the purpose of the cost-of-service process.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, so that's not what the Ontario Energy Board says, though, is it?  Doesn't the Ontario Energy Board say you should be able to manage your costs within the envelope?

MR. MACE:  Well, who says that --


MR. VELLONE:  Could you take us to a reference or help --


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I am asking --


MR. MACE:  I'm not sure what --


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- I'm asking the witness's opinion.  If he doesn't think that's what the Board is telling him, say so.

MR. MACE:  I don't think the Board specifically tells me anything.  They set guidelines.  They set IRM guidelines, they set cost-of-service guidelines, they set other mechanisms for adjusting your rates.  So I am not sure what the question is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Didn't the Board do a whole study on what the appropriate annual increase in rates for an LDC is, a whole empirical study?

MR. MACE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Which the EDA was actively involved in, I think maybe when you were chair.  And as a result, the Board concluded with a formula; right?

MR. MACE:  The Board has concluded with a formula, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you don't agree with that formula; do you?

MR. MACE:  I think the formula does not necessarily take into account all costs that are faced by utilities.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And as a result, when you do your budgeting every year, you make no effort to live within the Board envelope; do you?  None.

MR. MACE:  I don't think that's accurate.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, so when was the last time that your budget presented to your board of directors was within the OEB's formula?  The answer is "never", but I would like you to say it.

MR. MACE:  I don't recall.  I can say "never."

MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't recall any time?

MR. MACE:  I do not recall any time, no.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And have you ever said to your board of directors, well, we have to live within this envelope that the Ontario Energy Board has given us, and so we can't spend more money than that?  Have you ever said that?

MR. MACE:  I take every step I can reasonably to reduce our costs.  The issue that I find is that the IRM formula in particular does address a lot of inflationary costs but does not address new cost pressures that get put on to the industry.  And, you know, as an example, your IRM adjustment mechanism does not contemplate costs associated in a test year with this process and customer engagement.  It just doesn't.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So --


MR. MACE:  It doesn't -- it doesn't -- it doesn't contemplate a utility that needs to move from billing every two months to billing every month and has an added cost.  It doesn't anticipate --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I just stop you --


MR. MACE:  -- dealing with the OEB fee assessment increase.

So while it reflects some base inflationary pressures -- and I do not purport to be an expert on how that number is put together -- my feeling is it does not account for all the cost pressures utilities face.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So your view is that the appropriate pattern of rate increases is every cost of service you ask for a large rate increase or you get a large rate increase because you are entitled to it because of your cost pressures, and then you work your way through with low cost increases until the next one, where you again ask for a big whack of money; is that fair?

MR. MACE:  Well, I think you have to remember that historically since we have been incorporated the utility has not filed for its full rate of return until now in equity and has never filed for its full allowed return on debt.  So over the course of the years, as we have continued to invest in our capital and as we have had to go out and get financing, we've, as an example, have added to our debt servicing costs.

So if you go back to 2000, we have effectively had zero long-term debt.  We had a note payable to the city that charged us no interest.  So as we go out, we borrowed money for smart meters, we borrowed money to invest in our capital.

So during cost-of-service years we now have this money that we have gone out and borrowed, which, the IRM increase does not contemplate that kind of debt service increase, that drives up a larger increase in cost-of-service years.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you are telling this Board that your rate increases are based on the fact that you have increased your ROE over the years.

MR. MACE:  I am sorry, I missed that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is that what you are saying, that your rate increases are the result of having chosen to increase your ROE over the years?

MR. MACE:  I am saying that an impact of our rate increase is due to our investment in capital, which has required -- in capital infrastructure which has required us to add both debt and to increase our return on equity in order to service debt and invest in our system.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So spending 363 percent of deprecation on capital had no factor.  Having OM&A increase at 4.4 percent per year was not a factor; is that right?

MR. MACE:  I do not believe we have increased OM&A at 4.4 percent from the Board-approved.  I think the number is closer to 2.41.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And how much from -- how much from actual?

MR. MACE:  I just said from Board-approved.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And I asked for an actual.

MR. MACE:  I don't have the number in front of me.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you know it's 4.4, right?  You answered a question.  You said it was 4.4.

All right.  I want to turn to another aspect of your rates, and that is your ratepayers.  Over the last four years, what has been the average increase in weekly earnings in Sudbury?

MR. MACE:  I am sorry, in...

MR. SHEPHERD:  In the last four years, what has been the average increase in weekly earnings in Sudbury?

MR. MACE:  Weekly --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Or, sorry, not in Sudbury, in Thunder Bay.  How did I put Sudbury there?

MR. MACE:  I am sorry, weekly earnings of...

MR. SHEPHERD:  Of residents of Thunder Bay.

MR. MACE:  I don't know.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Shouldn't you know that?  Those are your customers.  Does 1.5 percent sound about right?

MR. MACE:  I don't know.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  In the same period what has been the average annual increase in old age security and other government transfer payments for your customers over those four years?

MR. MACE:  I don't know.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Does 1.7 percent sound right?

MR. MACE:  I don't know.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  What's the -- well, actually, I was going to ask this question, but you have already said you don't know the answer.  Your OM&A's increased by 4.4 percent per year over that period of time.  Do you want me to take you to the IR that says that?

MR. MACE:  No, that's fine.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You have answered saying you agree that that number is correct.

MR. MACE:  I agree that -- well, subject to check, sure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So why would your OM&A increase by 4.4 percent per year and your customers, their incomes only increase by one and a half or 1.7 or whatever per year?

MR. MACE:  Well, I think the Panel is aware that utilities face significant cost pressures.  Some utilities are better able to absorb those through growth than others.  There are utilities, in my opinion, with very little growth that have more difficulty achieving economies of scale.  That is not to say that we don't achieve economies of scale where we can.

We also have more difficulty absorbing new costs, which are forced on to the utility, which are more than inflationary.  It's -- a good example of it is the cost of this application, the cost of this process, the cost of customer engagement.  We have those costs.  We have additional regulatory costs, we have taxes, we have a lot of costs that, frankly, when you look at it from a utility perspective, those costs are more than you get from the IR increase.

We absolutely, absolutely do try to achieve efficiencies, and Mr. Wilson went through a number of those efficiencies.  We have negotiated --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, I didn't ask you about efficiencies.

MS. DUFF:  Are we talking about O&M or capital?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, we are talking about rates, actually.  We are talking about the overall impact on rates, of which the applicant's position is that that's primarily driven by capital.  We are going to get into that in a minute, but they --


MS. DUFF:  Okay, well --


MR. SHEPHERD:  So it's a rate issue.  This is about the rate impact.  And my question is: Why should you get 4.4 percent per year and your customers get 1.7 percent?  Or maybe should your customers be able to come in every four years and ask for a 17 percent increase in their old age pension?  Is that okay? 

MR. MACE:  I am not really sure I can provide an answer to that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I am trying to understand why that's okay for you and not for your customers that have to pay your bills. 

MR. MACE:  I understand that there are significant rate pressures throughout in the hydro industry, and they far outpace normal inflation.  Your average hydro bill has gone up significantly more than inflation, and it's certainly not just because of distribution increases, although distribution increases are a component.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you're aware that your customers have limited ability to pay more each year, right? 

MR. MACE:  Yes. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  How does that factor in to your capital budget and your OM&A budget? 

MR. MACE:  Well, as I believe we are dealing with capital, I mentioned --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Does it factor in?

MR. MACE:  I mentioned in my earlier comments that if we aligned our overall capital program with the flagged for action items as identified by Kinectrics, we would probably be at a $3 million higher level of spending.  I inherently think that's too much.  I think we need to continue to invest in responsible amounts of capital in order to refurbish our system and keep it operating.

I think to under invest creates an issue for later, creates a crisis potentially later, and it would be after I retire and it would be after, I don't know, a lot of us retire.  But if you don't responsibly invest in your capital -- in your system on a regular basis, you're punting the problem down the road. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  So your answer then is the fact that your customers only have 1.7 percent more this year than last year doesn't affect your capital budget? 

MR. MACE:  No.  I believe what I said was it did impact my decision on capital, and in fact I lowered it from what I think is a justified amount to a more conservative amount.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So instead of spending $15 million a year which would be more, based on your size, than any other LDC in the province, you are only going to spend $12 million a year?  How does that respond to your customers' limits on their ability to pay? 

MR. MACE:  So I think we have proposed a capital budget that is relatively conservative and balances our long-term responsibilities to maintain the system, and balance that with customer rate impacts.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What role does your board of directors play in keeping rate increases within the means of your customers? 

MR. MACE:  Ultimately, our board approves our operating budget annually.  The board of directors does not approve IRM increases.  The board of directors reviews our strategy related to the cost of service application.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And do you discuss with your board of directors how much your customers can afford to pay each year? 

MR. MACE:  I have discussed with my board of directors the rate increases that we're requesting and the drivers behind it. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the answer is no, you haven't discussed the ability to pay?

MR. MACE:  Yes.  Have I discussed -- we discuss as a  -- sorry, ask me the question again, please.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Have you discussed with your board of directors your customers' ability to pay your rate increases?

MR. MACE:  We have discussed in general terms the need for increased spending and why.  We have discussed that it's a significant rate increase to customers. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's still non-responsive to my question.  Either you discuss with your board of directors the fact that your customers have limits on their ability to pay, or you haven't.  Have you? 

MR. MACE:  We have discussed -- we have discussed our customers' ability to pay.  We have discussed it in terms of rate increases.  We have discussed it in terms of other hydro-related impacts on the total bill.  I am not sure quite what your question is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, the reason I ask that is because you don't seem to know how quickly wages are growing in Thunder Bay, your customers.  You don't seem to know how people on fixed income, how their income is growing and those are your customers. 

So how did you discuss this with your board?  Explain this discussion. 

MR. MACE:  I am not sure I can relate the discussion with any accuracy. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  You went to your board of directors and you said we are going to ask for a 21 percent rate increase.  At that point, you might have said, "And our customers are only getting less than 2 percent more income this year than last year.  What are we going to do to bridge that gap?"


You never had that discussion, did you? 

MR. MACE:  I have had discussions yearly when we do the budget about the efficiencies that we have undertaken and achieved in the organization. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, except this year though, right?

MR. MACE:  No including this year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then maybe you could turn to page 21 of our materials.  Do you recognize this document? 

MR. MACE:  Yes. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  And what is it? 

MR. MACE:  This is a report that is discussing the 2017 provisional capital and operations budget.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And what you say here, if you go to page 22, is, 
"Normally, the president leads the board through a discussion which outlines factors that have influenced the budget, discusses the link between previous Board decisions and strategy to the budget, and compares key components of the current budget to the previous year's budget.  This discussion will be undertaken at a future board meeting, once the cost of service decision has been received and the budget package has been adjusted."


Right? 

MR. MACE:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you didn't in fact discuss with your board -- and you still haven't discussed with your board -- the rationale behind this budget, the one that's in this application?

MR. MACE:  Well, I have in fact because I presented the overview of the cost drivers behind the cost of service application, which tie to the budget.  So we have discussed and we continue to discuss yearly the need to invest in capital infrastructure.  We have discussed cost drivers.  We have discussed staffing levels.  We have discussed items like going to monthly billing.

We have discussed all sorts of items.  They are not reflected in this report; this report is not a comprehensive review of things I have discussed with my board over the past years.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, this is your budget report, right?  This is your report on -- you normally do this every November.  You go to your board and you say here is our budget for next year, right?

MR. MACE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And this is the one for 2017 and you said and by the way, let's not discuss it; isn't that what you said?

MR. MACE:  No, that's not what I said.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I just read it to you.

MR. MACE:  You are paraphrasing my report.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I read it word for word.  Isn't that what it says?  Let's not discuss it right now.

MR. MACE:  Let's not discuss it right now.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Isn't that what it says? 

MR. MACE:  In terms of you paraphrasing it, yes, that's what it says.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And in fact, didn't you say to your board of directors I am not even going to ask you to formally approve this budget, the budget on which this application is based --


MR. MACE:  Um-hmm.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- I am not going to ask you to approve it because we don't know how much money we are actually going to have.

MR. MACE:  In fact, subsequently I did ask them to approve it and they did.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, yeah?  Okay.

MR. MACE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And when was that? 

MR. MACE:  March 30th, 2017. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  So why was that? 

MR. MACE:  Why was? 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Why was the budget that you have been asking this board for eight months to approve only approved by your board of directors at the end of March? 

MR. MACE:  Well, in fact, the budget was approved provisionally and there was a resolution stating that.  Upon subsequent review, the resolution was poorly worded, it did not reflect what we wanted it to reflect to the board. 

What it was meant to say was we recognize that in a cost of service application, there will be changes to your budget that come out of this in some way, shape or form, and that subsequently we will come back and strike a new budget to reflect that decision.


But what the original resolution failed to reflect was that in the meantime I have authority to spend to that budget that is underpinning this application, and that we are working towards delivering those programs and that investment that's described in this application.

So upon review -- I discussed it with the board -- we determined that the wording of the initial resolution was inappropriate, lacking.  We passed a new resolution.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So what you said here was -- and if you go to page 23, the resolution that was passed in November was that the board of directors approves a provisional level of capital and operating expenditures for 2017 that are consistent with inflation-adjusted Board-approved 2016 budget amounts.  That's what was approved; right?

MR. MACE:  Yes, and that was subsequently replaced with a more accurate, appropriate resolution --


MR. SHEPHERD:  So prior to the end of March you weren't allowed to spend more than 2016 plus inflation; right?

MR. MACE:  And in fact, I was on some issues, hence the new resolution.  As an example, I am required and we are moving to monthly billing for customers, so upon reflection of this resolution, technically I wasn't allowed to spend that money, but I obviously have to, so I went back to the board and said, okay, our first resolution was poorly worded, poorly crafted.  We need to pass another resolution.  They agreed, and they passed the resolution.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, it wasn't actually poorly crafted.  In your memo you say on page 22 we can either approve 2016 plus inflation or approve the amounts in the application subject to adjustment when we know what we are going to get. And you were recommending the former, and that's what they did.  It wasn't a mistake, it was intentional; wasn't it?

MR. MACE:  It was -- in hindsight it was poorly -- it sounded like the way to craft it at the beginning, but in hindsight when you looked at it I technically didn't have authority to do things like go to monthly billing.  I didn't have authority necessarily to spend money stakeholdering with customers, so I needed to revise that budget, because technically that's not the previous year's spending plus inflation.

So upon reflection in discussion with the board I told them I am technically offside with some of this, we need to pass a new resolution --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now --


MR. MACE:  -- or you need to revisit the budget.  They chose to pass the resolution.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, on page 19 you say that the board of directors has approved the 2017 provisional capital and operating budgets contained in the application.  So that's the 2016 plus inflation; right?

MR. MACE:  They have approved the entire budget in the application.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, I am sorry, this is an interrogatory response you filed March 19th in which you say the board of directors has approved the 2017 provisional budget.  So the only thing that can be is 2016 plus inflation; right?

MR. MACE:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you said March 30th they approved the application budget.

MR. MACE:  The 2017 provisional budget reflected everything that's in this rate application and it has not changed.  The resolution said we approve the budget but we only approve you spending at an inflationary rate until -- and I am paraphrasing -- until the decision is received.

Upon reflection that's not possible.  So the resolution was poorly crafted, and it had to be replaced, and it was replaced.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So as of right now then -- was there a 2016 plus inflation budget?

MR. MACE:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Then how did you know what your limits were?  You had a limit on what you could spend.

MR. MACE:  Yes, which turned out to be, as I said before, a poorly crafted resolution.  And in fact, when I looked at limits to spend I could not stay to those limits because I had things I had to do, monthly billing being a good example of them --


MR. SHEPHERD:  The president --


MR. MACE:  -- smart meter sampling being another good example.

MR. SHEPHERD:  "The president feels that approving a 

lower overall level of provisional expenditures and potentially adjusting the budget upward at a later date is the more prudent option."

That's what you recommended.  That's what they did in November; right?

MR. MACE:  They passed the provisional budget.  The budget that they reviewed and passed has not changed.  There are no numbers that have changed.  The resolution wording changed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Can you file the March 30th resolution?

MR. MACE:  Yes, I can.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And if there is a presentation or attachment that goes with it can you include that, please?

MR. MACE:  There is a resolution.

MR. SHEPHERD:  There is no -- you didn't make a presentation to explain why you needed it, or a memo or anything like that?

MR. MACE:  I did not make a presentation.  Umm, I am working on memory now.  There may have been a cover report.  I can check --


MR. SHEPHERD:  If there is --


MR. MACE:  -- it would not have been any level of detail, but --


MR. SHEPHERD:  This -- these -- whatever documents these are, they are readily available, so it's not going to take you long to do this, right?

MR. MACE:  Yes, that's fine.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Thank you.

MS. LEA:  J2.3...

[Reporter appeals.]


MS. LEA:  Pardon me.  J2.3.  
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.3:  TO FILE THE MARCH 30TH RESOLUTION.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Just before we leave page 22, you said here:

"In lieu of a full budget presentation at the upcoming board meeting the president will present the board with an overview of items in the budget which are likely to attract the interest of the regulator in the cost-of-service process."

Can you provide that presentation, please?

MR. MACE:  I am sorry, I believe we have previously provided it in an interrogatory.  Just allow me to check.

So just for clarity, this is the presentation -- sorry.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is this the November 20th -- 22nd PowerPoint?

MR. MACE:  I believe so.  I'm just --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, okay.

MR. MACE:  If you can point me to it I can tell you whether that's it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Attached to this same document I think was that PowerPoint.

MR. MACE:  Yes, what's the date?

MR. SHEPHERD:  And if it's that PowerPoint that's fine.

MR. MACE:  November 22nd, cost-of-service application impacts on 2017 budget.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So that's the same thing.

MR. MACE:  That's the same thing.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right, good.  So I want to turn to what you told the customers about your rate increase.  And I want to start at page 7, which is Thunder Bay Newswatch.  Is that a newspaper in Thunder Bay?

MR. MACE:  That's a website --


MR. SHEPHERD:  A web -- a web --


MR. MACE:  -- it collects news.

MR. SHEPHERD:  A web news.  All right.  And they were present at your community day; right?  They were present?

MR. MACE:  That's a good question.  I am not sure if they picked it up from the newspaper reporter or if they were present themselves --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, okay.

MR. MACE:  They do a combination of the two.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Anyway, I am just going to ask about a couple of things in here.  What you said to your customers is that your bills are only going to go up 1.57 percent; right?

MR. MACE:  That's the -- that was at the time and I believe still is the total bill impact of the proposed increase.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, it's interesting you say that, because their bills are not going up 1.57 percent, are they?  They are actually going up a lot more than that, because it's not just you that's increasing their bill.  There's a bunch of people that are increasing their bill; right?

MR. MACE:  But I believe the context of our community day was to talk about our distribution increase, so it seemed appropriate to talk about the total bill impact of our increase.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So your customers went away thinking, oh, it's only 1.57 percent, didn't they?  That's not true; is it?

MR. MACE:  Well, in fact it may be less now with the provincial government's reduction, so...

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, okay.  So the reason why it was okay to say that is because the government is reducing rates by 25 percent?

MR. MACE:  It was an accurate statement.  The impact of our distribution rate increase on the customers' bills was -- for the residential customer it was 1.57 percent.  It was --


MR. SHEPHERD:  You have --


MR. MACE:  -- accurate then.  It probably requires revision now due to other components of the bill beyond our control, but I believe it was accurate then.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So take a look at page 8.  This is part of your presentation; right?

MR. MACE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you, in fact -- and this is in fact on the OEB's website.  I just -- this was just a convenient place to put it to get it.  And so you say, well, Thunder Bay Hydro is going up $4.71 for the average residential consumer, right? 

MR. MACE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But it's also saying transmission charges are going down.  But of course, you knew that wasn't going to be true, didn't you?  Hydro One already had an application in.  Everybody knew there was going to be an increase.  But you say no, it's going down, right? 

MR. MACE:  At the point that we filed, our calculations of the transmission rate that we were passing on was showing it going down.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You didn't say to anybody but there's an extra $4 that Hydro One is going to get that I am not going to tell you about? 

MR. MACE:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And similarly, where you have electricity time of use, you are saying, oh, that's not going to change at all.  But you knew that wasn't true, didn't you?

MR. MACE:  So these are the bill impacts that are produced by the OEB's rate impact models, and it is accurate.  So we accurately told our customers the impact of our distribution rate increase request.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Whose responsible for what you say to the your customers, you or the OEB? 

MR. MACE:  I am. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I am not sure why you would blame the OEB for a misleading presentation of the bill impact to your customers.

MR. MACE:  I am not blaming the OEB, nor do I consider it misleading.

MR. SHEPHERD:  If a customer went away thinking, well, next year my bill is only going to go up 1.57 percent, they'd be wrong, wouldn't they?

MR. MACE:  That was not what I told them.  I told them the impact of our distribution rate increase had a total bill impact of 1.57 percent.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Actually, I was there, Mr. Mace, and what you told them -- and tell me whether this is true -- is that our bill increase is $4.71, but because other parts of bill is going to go down, your rate increase is only going to be 1.57 percent.  Isn't that what you told them?

MR. MACE:  I believe I told them it was going to be 1.57 percent.  Distribution rates were going to go up; the transmission charge we were passing on to our customers was going to go down equalling 1.57 percent.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So your ratepayers would go away thinking, well, he just covered all the things on the bill and told us 1.57 percent.  Isn't that what they would assume?

MR. MACE:  I don't believe so.  I think most of the ratepayers know there are other components to the bill that are beyond our control and we weren't there to discuss them that night.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  You only had seven customers at your community day, right?

MR. MACE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Why was that?  Do you know?

MR. MACE:  Partially due to weather, I predict.  Other than that, I can't say.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You advertised it as directed by the OEB, right? 

MR. MACE:  We did.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the advertising wasn't up to you? 

MR. MACE:  I am sorry, I didn't personally direct the advertising, so I am not -- I know at the minimum we would have advertised as directed by the OEB.  I am sure it was on our website additionally.  I can't give you any more details than that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What I am asking is did you, Thunder Bay Hydro, make any attempts, other than what the OEB told you to do, to maximize participation in your community day?

MR. MACE:  I can't answer; that I don't know right now.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Ms. Speziale? 

MS. SPEZIALE:  I am not aware.  I can't answer that either.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, who would be responsible for that?

MR. MACE:  We would have had our PR coordinator.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What about your VP of customer engagement?

MR. MACE:  No, it would have been our PR coordinator.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Your VP of customer engagement wouldn't know about the arrangements for your community day? 

MR. WILSON:  My recollection for the record is that we did as per directed by the Ontario Energy Board.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

MR. WILSON:  I am not aware of any extra effort, if that's what the question is. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So I want to ask you about a couple of things in this report on page 9.  The first is a reference to your 5.69 percent profitability.  What's that? 

MR. MACE:  I am sorry.  Did you say what is that? 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, what is that?

MR. MACE:  I have absolutely no idea.  That's some number that as far as I can determine TV Newswatch came up with, calculated, misunderstood; I don't know.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you didn't tell them that?

MR. MACE:  I don't know what 5.69 would refer to in any way, shape or form.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It was your ROE in 2016, isn't it?  Isn't it part of your own presentation?

MR. MACE:  No it's -- I am not positive where TV Newswatch got it from.  They may have got it from the application. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am recalling that there were boards out with all sorts of information and one of them was your 2016 results, wasn't it? 

MR. MACE:  We are just checking.  It may have been on the scorecard which was posted.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right. 

MR. MACE:  Okay.  So it appears that the reporter probably took that off the OEB scorecard, distributor scorecard.  It's not a quote; it's not something I quoted to him.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you are quoted as saying that -- you're talking about the fact that the municipality doesn't collect its return, which you referred to earlier as well.

MR. MACE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you say, "As a consequence of the shareholder foregoing their financial return, we have among the lowest distribution rates in Ontario for residential customers."  Do you? 

MR. MACE:  If you used last year, the OEB's rate calculator, and put in residential rates for 800-kilowatt-hours, which is what our -- which we did, you would have seen that we were the fourth lowest distribution rate for residential customers -- sorry, total bill for residential customers in Ontario.

That was also featured in, I believe, two of the large provincial media outlets.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Of course that's not going to be true in 2017, is it? 

MR. MACE:  I expect that it will change somewhat, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And in fact, your ranking will go down substantially if you get what you are asking for.

MR. MACE:  Or up, depending on which perspective you have.  Our rates will be higher.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Remember I prefaced this by talking about the ratepayer perspective, so I don't think the ratepayers' perspective is that goes up.

MR. MACE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right, I want to turn to your comment which is quoted on that same page, but you have said it also in this hearing, that 2.8 million of your 4.1 million increase, which is what it was at the time, is for infrastructure spending, right? 

MR. MACE:  Is related to funding our infrastructure capital investment, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so we asked you about that because we couldn't figure out where you got the number.  And on page 11, you have a response to SEC 52 that tells us where you got that from.  Do you see that? 

MR. MACE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so this assumes that nothing is funded by IRM, right? 

MR. MACE:  I am not sure.  I'd have to work that through. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, who did the calculations? 

MR. MACE:  Ms. Speziale would have provided me with the numbers for those calculations.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Ms. Speziale, this assumes that there was zero funding from IRM? 

MS. SPEZIALE:  This is the rate -- this is the increases for those components since the last cost of service. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it doesn't take into account additional funding from IRM, right? 

MS. SPEZIALE:  It's the rate increase from 2013 cost of service in those categories to the 2017 request.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand, except that you were saying 2.8 million of your 4.1 million deficiency is based on current numbers; right?  Current rates?  2.8 million of your 4.1 million deficiency is the result of these factors.  So I am asking you, did you take into account that IRM has already increased your rates for these things, or no?  I think the answer is no, and I just want you to say so clearly.

MS. SPEZIALE:  Probably, not, yeah --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MS. SPEZIALE:  -- it's just a simple -- one year over the next.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so what this means is that -- and by the way, you told your board of directors the same thing; right?  Roughly the same thing.  On page 12 you see -- this is your presentation to the Board, Mr. Mace?  It basically says the same thing; right?

MR. MACE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now, just before I talk about some of the details of what your real rate increase is, on page 11 you say PILs increased by 403.  Now, your PILs in 2013 were zero; right?

MS. SPEZIALE:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so I am not sure I understand how that 403 is fairly characterized as supporting capital investment.

MS. SPEZIALE:  What this -- the first statement there says "increases over the 2013 Board-approved amounts."  So in 2013 there were no PILs in the approved rates.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MS. SPEZIALE:  2017, at this time -- that's changed now, but at this time that was the PILs increase related to the ROE --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MS. SPEZIALE:  -- and included in that formula.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the reason for that is because back in 2013 you had loss carry-forwards, right, and basically you weren't paying any taxes.

MS. SPEZIALE:  I am not recalling with certainty.  I am answering from memory.  The main reason for it was the change from CGAAP to IFRS for the depreciation, and it resulted in timing differences that were not going to trigger PILs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It reduced your depreciation by $3.6 million per year; right?

MS. SPEZIALE:  I don't recall the number.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  All right.  So when you were talking to the customers during customer engagement -- and this is on page 13 of our materials.  This is from the -- is this from the mental models stuff, the decision partners stuff?

MR. WILSON:  No, this one is the third engagement that we did.  It's an online --


MR. SHEPHERD:  So that's the one you did.

MR. WILSON:  It's the one that we completed, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so what you said on page 13 is, you're explaining -- you are going to ask the question, is our rate increase okay, and you start by explaining, we are asking for $4.71 per month, which is 20.92 percent rate increase -- ah.  But other areas of your bill will be decreasing, and so your estimate was that the total bill increase is only going to be $1.92 percent month.  Now, you knew that was wrong; right?

MR. WILSON:  That what was wrong?

MR. SHEPHERD:  That saying that it's going to be $1.92 per month is just not correct.  That's misleading, isn't it?

MR. WILSON:  No, it's full disclosure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You said other areas of your hydro bill will be decreasing.  You knew at the time that OPG was asking for money, that Hydro One was asking for more money, and they would get something, right?

MR. WILSON:  Oh, I see what you're saying.  The intent of wording that way was not to say that they were decreasing but that there were -- when you look at the slide on the total bill impact, the other regulatory -- the other distribution charges...  Oh, yeah, the one that was in the slide.

There were two categories that showed -- there it is
-- other distribution charges and transmission charges.  So it's keeping in step with that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, we understand.  We went through that.  That's not the question.  The question is now we are not talking about what Mr. Mace said orally in a community day.  We are now talking about what you put out in writing to your customers to convince them to say that your rate increase was okay, and what you said was other areas of your hydro bill will be decreasing.  You knew that wasn't true.  Why did you say it?

MR. WILSON:  No, I think it was a poor wording choice, so I don't agree with your position right now.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Did you think at the time that other areas of the hydro bill would be decreasing?

MR. WILSON:  Sorry, can you repeat your question?

MR. SHEPHERD:  At the time that you said that to your customers, did you think that their increase would only be -- on total bill would only be a $1.92 because other areas of the hydro bill would be decreasing?  Did you think that was a true statement?

MR. WILSON:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you thought that customers would not be misled by that?

MR. WILSON:  We put the information to the customer.  The sentence leading up to that is the full amount.  So we put the information to the customer on a full disclosure basis using the model as provided and we present that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Just once I would like an LDC to say to their customers:  Our increase is $4.71 a month.  OPG has got an application in for 6.15 a month.  Hydro One Transmission is asking for another $1.50 a month.  And global adjustment will add another 3.15.  The total's going to be 14 percent increase.  That would be truthful; right?  What you said is not truthful.

MR. WILSON:  I am unaware in the preparation of this survey what the impacts of the other rate applications are before the Board.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, then why did you selectively pick and choose the impacts on other things in order to make it look like your rate increase was lower?

MR. WILSON:  Because these are our customers, and we put the information in front of them as per how we operate our system, and that's the information we put to them with respect to our system.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So on page -- where are we here.  14.  You say that the main reason for this is that you're increasing your capital spending, and to continue to do that -- and that, by the way, isn't true; right?  Most of the increase in rates is not because you are going to continue to fund capital but because you'd already spent the money; right?

MR. MACE:  It's as we saw somewhere else.  It's for past and future capital spending.  Future would include 2017.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I agree.  But most of it is money you have already spent; right?

MR. MACE:  Past capital spending.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so when you say to them, well, we need this increase to continue to finance this renewal plan, that's not actually true either, is it?

MR. MACE:  Yes, it is.  It was for past and future capital spending.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you need most of it to pay for what you have already spent.  And then you need a little bit to keep spending at that level; right?

MR. MACE:  Yes, so for past and future capital spending.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This doesn't say past and future.  It says "continue financing the capital -- this renewal plan."

MR. MACE:  Sorry, the other slide to which you referred in our community day said past and future capital spending.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And you also said here -- and I am trying -- I am looking for the -- you also said:  And if we don't get to spend this, there will be more or longer power outages; isn't that what you said?

MR. MACE:  I am sorry, where are you looking?

MR. SHEPHERD:  The last paragraph of that page 14 of our materials:

"Thunder Bay Hydro should lower its investment in renewing the system's aging infrastructure to lessen the impact of any bill increase, even if that means more or longer power outages."

MR. MACE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And your evidence today is that's not true; is it?  That you don't actually expect that if you lessen your investment there will be more or longer power outages.

MR. MACE:  I don't think that's our evidence at all.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I believe that what you said was your spending plan is not driven by reliability, it's driven by asset condition.

MR. MACE:  And reliability is one of the inputs into system condition, which requires us to replace assets at the end of useful life --


MR. SHEPHERD:  So then --


MR. MACE:  -- so ultimately if you do not spend on your capital you will have reliability issues.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And then you go on to say --


MR. TSIMBERG:  If I might add a statement, I think what we said was we can't quantify impact on reliability from increased capital spendings, and we also said that the reliability is not the only driver in making investments in the system renewal.  We never said that reliability is not a factor at all.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I wasn't quoting you, actually, Mr. Tsimberg.  I was quoting Ms. Bailey, who was asked the specific question how does reliability drive your capital budget and her answer was reliability does not drive our capital budget; asset condition does.  Isn't that what you said? 

MR. TSIMBERG:  Yes, and I also said --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, I didn't ask you, Mr. Tsimberg.  I asked Ms. Bailey.

MS. DUFF:  It will be in the transcript.

MS. BAILEY:  Subject to check, I did state that asset condition assessment is the primary driver of our replacement strategy and our distribution system plan that we have proposed for the 2017 test year and beyond.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then if you take a look at page 15, we are still in your description of why you need the rate increase, the $4.71 a month.  And you will agree with me, Mr. Mace, that $4.71 per month for a pensioner is material?

MR. MACE:  I am not sure how you define material.  But it's an increase, no doubt about it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It will make a difference to them?

MR. MACE:  Well, it makes a difference to everyone. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So on page 15 when you are describing the various reasons for this increase you say, well and then, of course, the OEB is forcing us to go to mandatory monthly billing and that's $0.40 of the OM&A increase.  But it's actually saving you money, isn't it? 

MR. MACE:  There is a net against a working capital --return on working capital, but I don't believe it's ultimately saving us money. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, your rates are going down because of monthly billing, aren't they? 

MS. SPEZIALE:  What you're referring to, I believe, is the working capital reduction in the OEB's funding formula from 13 percent to 7 and a half percent.  We weren't -- that's just a funding mechanism.  That's just one of the components.

And if you look in one of the responses, I believe we actually provided --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, my question was actually simpler than that.  Rates are going down because of monthly billing; isn't that correct? 

MS. SPEZIALE:  I don't believe that's correct.

MR. MACE:  I don't believe that is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, then maybe you would like to turn to page 18, which is your response to SEC 45, in which you say, oh, by the way, OM&A is going up 234, but yes it's correct that the working capital included in rates is going down 443.  So doesn't that mean that rates are going down $209,000 because of monthly billing?

MS. SPEZIALE:  No, that's where I was going to.  The working capital reduction, I am not -- that's one of the funding formulas.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Reduces rates, right?

MS. SPEZIALE:  It reduces rates; I understand that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you agree that it reduces rates by $443,000, right?

MS. SPEZIALE:  The corking capital adjustment, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you increase rates by 234, right?

MS. SPEZIALE:  The 234 has since been revised to, I believe, 221 --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, it's even worse.

MS. SPEZIALE:  -- if you look at 4-SEC-24.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the result then is that it's actually a $222,000 reduction in rates.  So when you said to your customers that one of the reasons for the increase in your rates is mandatory monthly billing, which is increasing your rates by 40 cents, that's not true; it's actually reducing rates by about that much.

MR. MACE:  So the working capital reduction, to the best of my knowledge, is not entirely attributable to monthly billing.  I understand the utilities that were on monthly billing are also reducing their working capital, so there is more behind the working capital reduction than the move to monthly billing.

The additional of monthly billing is a cost that we are facing.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you don't even admit that monthly billing is reducing your rates? 

MR. MACE:  Monthly billing is reducing -- without doing an analysis of the working capital reduction and what's driving it, and the percentage of that attributable to monthly billing, I can't answer that for you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You will agree that saying that the impact of monthly billing is only the OM&A side is not the  whole story, is it?

MR. MACE:  I would agree to say that it is a cost driver that's -- when you look at our OM&A costs as people are wont to do when they quote higher average yearly compound rates, they include that monthly billing cost.  It's a cost; it's an added expense to the utility.

MS. SPEZIALE:  When we were --


MS. DUFF:  What is the source of the 443?  If someone could get that for me at a later time, that would be great.  So on page 18, the source of the 443 calculation, 029.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, the calculation is actually in the question.

MS. DUFF:  Oh, you provided it?

MR. SHEPHERD:  We asked is this calculation correct, and they have agreed yes, it's correct.

MS. DUFF:  I apologize, sorry; please continue. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I want to talk about the 2.8 million which you say on page 8, that the 2.8 million is past and future investments in end of life infrastructure.  That's why you had to increase your rates by $2.8 million, right? In fact, you have brought me back to that several times, right?

MR. MACE:  That is one of the drivers for increasing our rates --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay. 

MR. MACE:  -- our capital investment. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  That also includes -- in that 2.8, you have included $1.1 million which was a shareholder decision to increase ROE from 7 percent to 8.78 percent; isn't that right?

MR. MACE:  That was not a shareholder decision. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, no? 

MR. MACE:  That was a board decision to increase our return to the full allowed rate of return on equity. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so you will agree that of that 2.8, 1.1 million is directly the result of that, right?

MR. MACE:  And the reason we are doing that is in order to adequately fund our --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, first you have to answer yes or no to the question.  Is 1.1 million the impact, the amount of that 2.8 that is directly the result of that?  It's yes or no question -- or will you accept it, subject to check?

MR. MACE:  Subject to check, yes 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, now please go on, sorry. 

MR. MACE:  So there is an increase in order to go to our fully-allowed return on equity. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  And how does that have to do with past and future investments in end of life infrastructure?

MR. MACE:  Because we invest, as we have talked about.  Our shareholder does forego dividends.  We don't flow dividends on our net income out to our shareholder.  We reinvest it in our capital.

MR. SHEPHERD:  How does not taking dividends help your customers? 

MR. MACE:  Ultimately, we reinvest internal funds in capital.  It allows us to borrow less and we defer -- we avoid borrowing costs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, yeah, except that the Board's formula for rates doesn't reflect the fact that your equity ratio is higher.  It deems it, right? 

So if you have more retained earnings it doesn't matter to the ratepayers, does it? 

MR. MACE:  If I have more retained earnings, it doesn't matter to the ratepayers?  I'm sorry? 

MR. SHEPHERD:  It doesn't change their rates. 

MR. MACE:  Part of the reason for going to our full return on equity is we are borrowing to fund our capital program and we require -- there are banking covenants we have to meet, and some of those are related to net income.  So in order to reduce the risk on our organization to earn sufficient net income to meet our bank covenants, we are applying for a fully-allowed return on equity.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So in fact when you were saying it's all about the dividends, it's nothing to do with the dividends actually.  It's actually about the net income level, right?

MR. MACE:  I didn't say it was all about the dividends.  I said it was about funding past and future investments in end of life infrastructure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the bank won't let you have any more money unless you take 8.78 percent.

MR. MACE:  We are applying for allowed return on equity.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It was a question.

MR. MACE:  Yes, we are --


MR. SHEPHERD:  You didn't answer the question.

MR. MACE:  -- we are applying for allowed return on equity to ensure the financial stability of our organization.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the bank won't provide you with more money unless you do that.  Is that what you are saying?

MR. MACE:  That's not what I'm saying.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, sorry, I thought you said that there were covenants that required a minimum level of net income and that's the reason why you had to ask for 8.78 percent.

MR. MACE:  We are applying for a full return on equity in order to make sure the utility is financially viable and to meet our bank -- partially to meet our banking requirements in the future as we borrow to invest in infrastructure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So the bank isn't asking now for you to do that.  You are just anticipating that as you need to borrow more in the future it will become an issue and you might as well start getting it now; right?  Is that fair?

MR. MACE:  That's partially fair.  I think the simple answer is we have never applied for rates which include our full allowed return on equity.  Our customers have saved that money since 2000, on the debt side alone have saved tens of millions of dollars.  We are now filing for our allowed return on equity.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And in fact this year you are still not asking for interest on that $26 million of Thunder Bay debt; right?

MR. MACE:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the value of that is somewhere just under a million dollars a year; does that sound about right?

MR. MACE:  26 million times 3-point-something percent, so in the neighbourhood of that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I got 985,000.  Does that sound in the ballpark?

MR. MACE:  Sure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I want to ask you a couple of questions about the rate minimization model.  And I want to preface it by saying I understand that you're allowed to ask for the full 8.78 percent, and we are not taking a position that you shouldn't.  But I am concerned about what you said to your customers, and that is why I am asking these questions.  So -- and as I think I have told you, my individual school boards have specifically asked me to raise these issues.

So I wonder if you could turn to page 24 of our materials.  This is the shareholder declaration.  Can you identify this?

MR. MACE:  It's missing the cover page, but it appears to be the most recent shareholder declaration.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's only four pages excerpted from a longer document.  And this is -- you will agree this is a binding and enforceable limit on what Thunder Bay Hydro is allowed to do; right?

MR. MACE:  Subject to requests for approvals, subject to -- it outlines what the board as a whole can and cannot do, what prior approvals are required by the shareholder before we do something.  So that's how I'd characterize it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Your board of directors cannot act contrary to this.  Neither can you; right?

MR. MACE:  Not without approval of the shareholder.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So the reason I ask that is because the shareholder has been very specific on page 25 of our material in saying what the rate minimization model is.

Now, in your responses to each of your letters of comment you have referred to the rate minimization model; correct?

MR. MACE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And --


MR. VELLONE:  Just before we go too far down this road, can you just help me understand the relevance of the line of questioning that you are undertaking here to the application that's before the Board?  I just want to make sure I understand the linkage of where you are going to the application before the Board.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What's the confusion?  The company's asking for more money.  I am allowed to ask questions about it.  Cost of capital is not settled.

MR. VELLONE:  So you are asking questions on the shareholder declaration because the company is asking for a cost-of-capital amount that is in compliance with the Board's cost-of-capital report?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I don't think I have to explain the direction of my cross as long as it's within the settled issues -- the unsettled issues, and it is within the unsettled issues.  So unless you have a challenge to the relevance, Mr. Vellone, I think --


MR. VELLONE:  Well, I do believe the panel did turn their mind to the relevance of this particular shareholder declaration as it related to the issues before the Board, because it came up as a dispute in respect of the issues list.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. VELLONE:  There was an attempt to add the shareholder declaration and this rate minimization model as a component of the Board's approved issues list, we objected, the Board Panel made a decision, and that decision resulted in an issues list that did not include discussions of the rate minimization model with respect to capital, with respect to OM&A.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so I take it the company's position is that we are not allowed to talk in this hearing about the rate minimization model?

MS. DUFF:  I am trying to find the procedural order in which we approved the issues list.  Unfortunately I don't have it with me.

I think if you are asking about their options for funding and capital and whether it's capital equity, I think that is fair topic for this discussion.  I think with -- I hate doing this from memory, but the determination the Board made in the issues list was whether or not Thunder Bay is offside in its covenants with respect to the shareholder declaration was something the Board did not want to get involved with.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And I am not going to ask about that.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  That was the difference.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  No, I am not going to allege that what they are doing is illegal or is contrary to their agreement.  I have my own opinion, but I am not going to allege it.

MS. DUFF:  But --


MR. SHEPHERD:  But I --


MS. DUFF:  -- funding options are definitely an unsettled issue.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  So what you -- what the agreement or the declaration says is that you're -- that you're obligated to ensure that your rates reflect the shareholder forgoing its allowable regulated return on shareholder equity.  And so in this application that's not the case; right?  For the very first time, your rates do not reflect that forgoing of return on equity; right?

MR. MACE:  So I would say to that I believe it's subject to how you interpret this.  And I will be the first to admit that this particular clause could be interpreted more than one way.

Discussions that I have had in the past over several years with various counsel, with multiple city managers, is that the city looks at this as we are not taking money out of the utility in terms of dividends.  They look at that as their return in terms of dividends or in terms of debt service.

They have, in the past, considered these issues and decided not to do it.  And they may in the future change the rate minimization philosophy.  They have been updated that we are applying for a full rate of return in order to fund capital, meet our financial obligations.  They understand that; the city manager understands that.  I am not offside, and I believe somewhere we have an attached letter from the city saying --


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's included in my compendium, page 31.

MR. MACE:  Yes.  Saying that.  So --


MR. SHEPHERD:  And I am accepting, Mr. Mace, that the city believes that what you are doing in asking for full return is compliant with this declaration.

MR. MACE:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's true that originally the declaration -- and you were there at the time, right?  Originally the declaration resulted in zero percent equity requested; right?

MR. MACE:  I was not involved at the time.  The first recollection of -- would have been like a 3 percent return on equity, for argument's sake --


MR. SHEPHERD:  3.75, and then you increased it in the last cost-of-service to 7 percent, right?

MR. MACE:  Yes, sir.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that increased your rates by about a million-two, but there was no tax because at that time you were still tax-free; right?

MR. MACE:  Tax-free?  Well, we were never tax-free, but we --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Your adjustments were enough to -- that you had no taxable income --


MS. SPEZIALE:  There was no regulatory component for PILs.

MR. MACE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So now you are finally getting -- you are sort of staged -- over time you have staged up to 8.78, the full rate, right?  And so I have two questions about this.  The first is, why did you do it at the time that you're asking for a whole whack of additional money for other things?  Like, why didn't you wait for this until a time when you weren't going to be asking for rate increases for a whole bunch of other things?

MR. MACE:  Sorry, for clarity, which other things do you refer --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, so for example, your capital budget is increasing, your OM&A has been increasing, et cetera.  Why didn't you choose a time when you had the room last time.  When you went from 3.75 to 7, you had the room because of the IFRS change.

MR. MACE:  I understand that, and I don't disagree with you.  I think it's a question of we could have gone for the rate increase at that time, and it would have resulted in a lesser increase this time is what you are saying.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. MACE:  And I agree with you --


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, sorry, I am asking -- you went last time for more equity, but it didn't really cost your ratepayers anything because you had other things driving your rates down.  Why didn't you wait for a similar time to go up to 8.78?

MR. MACE:  Well, I think if you -- so if I understand you, why didn't we go to 9 then or 8.78 then.  Well, we didn't need to and doing that would have raised rates higher than necessary.  So by not doing it then, we left money in the pockets of our customers.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I was asking the opposite question.  I was asking the question why didn't you follow this time the same pattern as you followed last time?  Is there some way we can reduce rates in other ways?  Then we will have room to get up to our full equity.  Why didn't you wait for that opportunity? 

MR. MACE:  Well, we set forward what we think is a prudent conservative budget that reflects the costs that we are facing, some of which are not optional.  If I had control of some of these costs, specific line items, I would eliminate them.  But I can't, and we have put forward a capital plan which we believe is conservative.  And the combination of this requires us to go to our full allowed rate of return.  We are filing for the rate of return that we are allowed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand that, but I guess -- maybe I will ask the question a different way.

Given that you were already going to ask your customers for an additional $1.1 million which is -- what? About a 5 percent rate increase just to get your equity up?  Why didn't you cut back on other things so that they didn't get such a whack all at once? 

MR. MACE:  So my response would be we could cut back on capital; I don't think that's responsible.  I think we need to increase capital in order to maintain our system reliability and our system condition in the long-term.  You can cut it back and the system won't fall down tomorrow, but there is an impact.

So we looked at -- we don't file for anything that we don't need.  We didn't file for, I don't -- you know, I haven't gold plated my office building.  We are investing in the system and we are meeting cost pressures that we are facing, and we are requesting our allowed return on equity.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then the other reason I am asking about the rate minimization model is I'd like to know where in any of your public statements you said, oh, by the way, $1.1 million of our rate increase is because the rate of return is going to go up to the full allowed amount.  Where does it say that anywhere? 

I looked around.  I looked a at your survey, I looked at your -- I listened to your presentation to your ratepayers.  You had all sorts of opportunity to tell them this $2.8 million, really only half of it is the other thing.  But you didn't, did you? 

MR. MACE:  I think you are right.  I think it's -- you know, when we talked about regulated return, our return -- our net income is going up in order to fund capital.  As our net income goes up, our PILs go up.  As our capital goes up, our depreciation goes up.  So we talked about the components of it. 

Could I have said we are moving from our less than allowed rate of return to our full allowed rate of return?  I could have.  I thought the way we presented it was probably more understandable, but I take your point.

MR. SHEPHERD:  When I talked to the local Thunder Bay school boards when I was up there for your community day, I said to them, no, they are going to full return on equity.  And they said no, they are not.  No, they have been very clear that they don't do that, and I had to show them. 

Would you agree that at least some of your residents, some of your ratepayers still believe that you're not including the full profit level, the full ROE in your rates?

MR. MACE:  I think there's -- you make a good point and I agree with you.

I think that there is a whole spectrum of understanding about what the rate minimization philosophy is and what the impact is.  I have people that believe we are a non-profit utility, and I have to correct them.  I have had individual councillors in the past say, well, you are non-profit, and I have had to correct them. 

So I have had to talk about -- and I have talked about it.  It's --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I just stop you there?

MR. MACE:  Sure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Wasn't that sort of part of the original idea, that you would be a quasi non-profit.  You were forced to be a business corporation, but you didn't have to really act completely like one.  Wasn't that part of the original idea?

MR. MACE:  It may have been part of the original conversations.  The intent of the original rate minimization model, frankly, was to keep rates low while operating the utility as well as you can, and the mechanism for keeping rates low was the shareholder was foregoing taking money out of the utility in terms of dividends and debt.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And for many years, Thunder Bay had the lowest rates in the province because of that, right?

MR. MACE:  They were close; Fort Frances was pretty close there, too.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I am going to ask you about one short area that arose because of your direct evidence. You made the point that Thunder Bay is a low density utility.

MR. MACE:  Well, we certainly have low density areas.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The reason I ask that is because density is normally measured by customers per kilometre of line, right?

MR. MACE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And I am right, am I not, that your customers per kilometre of line is 42.86, the most  recent --


MR. MACE:  Sorry, 30?

MR. SHEPHERD:  42.86.  That's from the 2015 yearbook.

MR. MACE:  Subject to check, I do believe -- I characterize our territory as we have a large service territory relative to the size of our customer base, and a lot of that service territory is low density. 

So there are lower, for sure.  But if you compare us to a -- you know, what's a like-sized utility?  Oshawa? Burlington used to be, but they've grown past that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Burlington?

MR. MACE:  Used to be. But they're not --


MR. SHEPHERD:  The reason I said Burlington is because your density is almost identical to Burlington.  In fact, your density is almost identical to the average of the industry, if you exclude Hydro One in Toronto.

I am wondering what, I guess -- you know, if you have a similar density to Burlington, to Integris, to Newmarket, these are utilities that are not considered low density utilities.  I am trying to understand how low density -- how your belief that you're low density factors into how you run your utility.  Can you expand on that? 

MR. MACE:  So I haven't personally reviewed the density numbers probably for a couple years.  The last time I did, my recollection was that we were relatively low density, not unlike Waterloo North, which has a large service territory and a large rural.

Again, this is my recollection.  My recollection of the last time I looked at Oshawa, for instance, they were similar to our size give or take, and were much higher density.

But your question is if we are a low density -- if I believe we are a lower density service territory or we have lower density service territory, how do we operate our system differently? 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. MACE:  I don't think we necessarily operate our system differently.  I think systems have their own characteristics and in some cases, it's a function of how old your system was and how it was originally constructed.  Our system is an amalgamation of the cities of Fort William and Port Arthur and old Ontario Hydro. 

So as a result, you know, we had a number of distribution stations at different voltages.  We had 12 kV rural distribution voltages that we inherited.  I am not even sure what the mechanism was in 1969 from Ontario Hydro.

So it's a significantly different system than say in Milton, which is relatively newer.  You wouldn't build a system this way any more.  So there are some -- and it's not all related to density, but part of it is.

So you wouldn't build a system that way any more.  You wouldn't have all that station cost.  I think having higher density, especially coupled with the forestry that we have, we have very heavily forested area.  There's parts of the city where you drive out and you are shocked that you are still in the city limits.

Reliability is an enormous issue when you have, you know, thousands of trees per customer instead of, you know, customers per.  So it impacts, I believe, some of our costs.  It impacts -- we have reliability issues around it. I have a --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, is it forestry now or density? 

MR. MACE:  Well, sorry, a little of both, I guess --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I am just trying to follow  you --


MR. MACE:  I have a -- because of density and the way the system was originally constructed, we have a feeder that's a feeder that's a challenge in performing that's over 100 kilometres long, the way it branches out into the rural areas, and I, you know, I would characterize large portions of that feeder as very low-density.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But most LDCs have that, right, in Ontario?

MR. MACE:  Umm...

MR. SHEPHERD:  Or lots of them --


MR. MACE:  Some to an extent, yeah.  I think we have, relatively speaking -- we used to have one of the larger service territories.  Now there has been consolidation and it's harder to evaluate any more.  We -- you know, Waterloo North has a large service territory.  We have a large service territory --


MR. SHEPHERD:  What I'm trying to understand --


MR. MACE:  -- and not a lot of customers.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- Mr. Mace, is what should the Board take from your comment on low density?  Should they take -- should they conclude from that that your costs should be higher than the average utility, or should they conclude that that's simply one of the various factors like forestry and everything else that goes into the mix?

MR. MACE:  Well, I think it's one of the factors for sure.  I think if you are low density there's probably, you know, a ratio of assets to serve area that's higher than a solidly urban utility.  I am not saying that we are unique in low density, but I am saying that it impacts.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And in fact some parts of particularly the old Port Arthur are actually relatively high density, right?

MR. MACE:  Some parts of both Fort William and Port Arthur certainly are high density.  We have two kind of high-density corridors with an area in between them surrounded by large rural.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Madam Chair, I was going to go to another area that's going to take a while.  Is this an appropriate time to break?

MS. DUFF:  I think so, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

MS. DUFF:  It is ten to 5:00.  Are there any other preliminary matters -- I  mean, any other matters that we should deal with before we close today, Mr. Vellone?

MR. VELLONE:  No.

MS. DUFF:  Ms. Lea?  Okay.  With that this hearing is adjourned until tomorrow at 9 a.m.  Thank you.
--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:51 p.m.
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